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Overview1

Seeking perfection, 
a commitment we 
chase, enhancing 
guest joy, in every 
embrace.
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Dear Shareholders,
I am delighted to share the highlights and accomplishments 
of the remarkable journey of Sun Limited (SUN) for the 
2023 financial year.
SUN experienced significant financial growth, 
with turnover increasing by more than 30% when 
compared to the pre-Covid era. The soaring inflation 
environment in which the Company operated was well 
managed through focussed cost management initiatives. 
The Company achieved an EBITDA of Rs 2.4 billion, 
representing a remarkable 68% surge compared to the 
pre-Covid financial year of 2019 and a record-breaking 
Profit After Tax (PAT) of Rs 1.5 billion.
The launch of the Sunlife Brand-led Transformation Project 
in late 2022 was a resounding success. It not only elevated 
our visibility in the market but the introduction of the 
“Come Alive Collection” brought innovative and dynamic 
offerings that were highly appreciated by our partners and 
guests. This initiative was led by a management team fully 
dedicated in providing exceptional guest experiences to 
ensure the highest levels of customer satisfaction.
In addition to delivering superior guest experiences,  
we embarked on several product enhancement 
initiatives. Renovations at Long Beach, the refresh of all 
our Kids Clubs, and the revitalisation of the Buddha Bar 
restaurant at Sugar Beach exemplify our dedication to 
excellence. Our commitment to property development 
remains steadfast. Sales at La Pirogue Residences 
continue to thrive, thanks to the valuable assistance of  
a new international marketing consultant.
In our pursuit of sustainable growth, we have made 
significant strides through the implementation of a range of 
digital tools. These tools have not only boosted efficiency 
but have also elevated the overall guest experience.
On the sustainability front, we’ve forged a partnership 
with a French-based sustainability company that 
shares our mission to chart a path toward meeting our 
climate objectives. 

Our ambitious goal is to reduce our 
carbon intensity by 50% by 2030. 
Environmental responsibility is at 
the core of our focus, and we are 
strategically positioning ourselves 
to offer our guests distinctive and 
sustainable experiences. 

As we gaze into the future, the demand for travel and 
the enduring appeal of the Mauritian destination remains 
robust. Our upcoming reservations and bookings look 
promising, and we anticipate a high season, provided air 
connectivity and pricing remain competitive. Additionally, 
we are gearing up to launch our employee experience 
enhancement program in the upcoming year to tackle 
the ongoing industry-wide challenge of a shortage of 
skilled staff.
I extend my heartfelt gratitude to our dedicated team 
at SUN under the leadership of Francois Eynaud.
I further thank our esteemed board members,  
our financial partners, and the Mauritian authorities  
for their invaluable support throughout this journey. 
We are confident that the SUN’s legacy will continue 
to shine brightly and set a prosperous path for all 
our stakeholders.
In conclusion, the past financial year has been a testament 
to our unwavering dedication and commitment to 
excellence. We have not only weathered the storm but 
have emerged stronger, more resilient, and ready to 
embrace the future with confidence.

Jean-Pierre Dalais
Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S  
LETTER

The Company achieved an EBITDA 
of Rs 2.4 billion, representing a 

remarkable 68% surge compared 
to the pre-Covid financial year of 

2019 and a record-breaking Profit 
After Tax (PAT) of Rs 1.5 billion
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Can you tell us about the key 
financial highlights for SUN for the  
2023 financial year?
The 2023 financial year has indeed been exceptional for 
SUN. Our turnover increased by more than 30% compared 
to the pre-Covid period in 2019. Our Group occupancy 
stood at 74%, up from 72% in 2019, and our Average Daily 
Rate (ADR) grew by a remarkable 42% compared to the 
same pre-Covid period. 

Can you tell us more about the strategies 
and initiatives that played a significant 
role in achieving such remarkable financial 
results, especially in terms of EBITDA 
and PAT?
We attribute our remarkable EBITDA of Rs 2.4 billion, 
a substantial 68% surge compared to the pre-Covid 
financial year of 2019, and an unprecedented PAT of 
Rs 1.5 billion to the solid execution of our strategic and 
operational initiatives. These accomplishments are a 
direct result of Sunlife’s expanding market presence and 
our focused cost management strategies, effectively 
mitigating the challenges posed by soaring inflation in 
operational expenses.
Moreover, our ambitious rebranding and transformation 
endeavour has yielded exceptional visibility across all 
markets, and we are delighted with the enthusiastic 
response to the revitalised Sunlife brand. As customer 
satisfaction remains paramount for Sunlife, we’ve 
introduced 25 new immersive customer experiences 
under the “Come Alive Collection”. These innovations 
have garnered considerable praise from both our valued 
partners and discerning guests. These ventures have not 
only elevated our brand’s reputation as innovative and 
dynamic but have also significantly contributed to the 
exceptional levels of customer satisfaction we consistently 
achieve.

SUN has been active in enhancing 
its properties. Could you elaborate 
on some of the recent product 
enhancement initiatives?
We’ve embarked on numerous product improvement 
endeavours, encompassing room transformations at 
Long Beach and the rejuvenation of all our Children’s 
Activity Centres. The expansion of the Buddha Bar 
Beach Restaurant at Sugar Beach has notably elevated 
the overall guest experience, and our commitment 
to enhancing our offerings remains steadfast. At the 
Shangri-La Le Touessrok, Sega Bar and Saffron Restaurant 
have been renovated for the high season of 2023. 
These improvements have been pivotal in preserving 
our competitive advantage and ensuring that our 
properties consistently surpass the expectations of our  
discerning clientele.

Could you share some insights into Sunlife’s 
commitment to sustainability, particularly 
the progress made on the digitalisation 
and sustainability roadmaps?
Our ESG initiatives are guided by our vision of  
“For a World where Kindness Shines”. This reflects 
our dedication to making a positive impact on the world 
and leaving a legacy of sustainability and benevolence. 
To actualise this vision, we’ve implemented an 
all-encompassing ESG framework aimed at gauging 
and mitigating our carbon footprint. Furthermore,  
we’ve successfully implemented our complete phasing out 
of all single-use plastics across our hotels, underscoring 
our resolute dedication to fostering a more sustainable 
and responsible future. 
On the digital transformation front, we’ve made substantial 
headway along our digitisation journey. We have 
implemented several digital tools enhancing the customer 
experience and our internal efficiencies such as Mobile 
Applications, digital booking systems for restaurants, Spa 
and Golf. 
By integrating cutting-edge digital tools such as 
OPERA Cloud, a cloud-based hotel software renowned for 
its efficiency, security, automation, seamless integration 
and data accessibility, we are fortifying our foundation 
for innovation, heightened efficiency and enriched 
customer interactions.

Looking ahead, what are the key 
priorities and outlook for Sunlife in the 
upcoming year?
Our roadmap for 2023/24 is carefully crafted to ensure 
our sustained success and growth. We intend to fast track 
our property on a “low risk basis’’. We will achieve this by 
completing the La Pirogue Residences property project, 
executing the Ile aux Cerfs Regeneration Master Plan, and 
further addressing the industry’s widespread challenge of 
a skilled labour shortage through our employee experience 
enhancement program. These initiatives are integral to our 
ongoing prosperity.
Additionally, we remain committed to expanding our 
market presence and advancing our ADR growth strategy. 
These complementary pursuits will fortify our position in 
the market and contribute to our overarching objectives.

Francois Eynaud
CEO

CEO’S 
INTERVIEW

Our ambitious rebranding and 
transformation endeavour has 

yielded exceptional visibility 
across all markets 



Sunlife, a life  
led in the Sun,  
a life enjoyed  
with style.

#ComeAlive

Sunlife2
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Project Brilliant

In 2022, we undertook a momentous 
rebranding endeavor, transitioning 
from Sun Resorts to Sunlife on 
October 20th. This transformation 
was accompanied by the release 
of the enchanting “Dance until the 
Rise” song, an anthem for Sunlife  
by Mauritian popstar Annega. 
Starting on October 21st, we  
launched an extensive series of 
international and local brand 
activations, PR campaigns, 

and advertising initiatives to 
effectively convey our new 
identity to the global audience. 
In November of the same year, 
we hosted a three-day discovery 
event, welcoming 110 esteemed 
partners and influential media 
representatives to experience our 
reimagined offerings.

On December 1st, the "Come Alive" 
event brought together 500 
distinguished guests, both local and 
international, marking a significant 
milestone in our transformative 
journey toward a vibrant future 
as Sunlife.
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Sunlife reveals a series of 
captivating updates that 
promise to elevate the 
guest experience in  
the Resorts.

Together, the Vision, Purpose and Values define the unique 
way in which we do things. 

Sunlife unveils a new era of elegance at Long Beach with freshly 
redesigned rooms that embrace a modern design, radiating a distinctly 
contemporary aesthetic.

Long Beach New room

Long Beach harmoniously fuses 
luxury and nature in its newly 
curated rooms with private 
outdoor spaces. Tides Restaurant 
offers an immersive ocean-
inspired dining experience with 
contemporary coastal design, 
including comfortable lounge 
areas and beachfront seating. 
Mauritian art decorates the walls, 
adding cultural significance. 
Guests can escape and embrace 
opulence and nature in this 
exceptional setting.

Tides Restaurant at Long Beach 
has undergone a stunning 
makeover, embracing a natural 
colour palette mirroring the 
ocean and lush surroundings. 
Contemporary design elements, 
including rope and rattan 
materials, elevate the space.  
The sunken lounge offers 
comfort for intimate gatherings, 
and beachfront seating provides 
a luxurious, sand-in-your-toes 
experience.

Long Beach Mauritius

Long Beach Tides



14  |  Sun Limited Annual Report  |  15

Unveiling Exciting 
Enhancements at Sugar Beach 
and La Pirogue, Mauritius

To achieve its goal of creating meaningful and authentic experiences for 
children and families visiting our resorts, the Sunlife Kids Club at Sugar 
Beach and La Pirogue have been renovated with a new childcare concept. 
The design incorporates themes and features inspired by Izzy the Bee, 
the new mascot of Sunlife. Essential to the cycle of life, our yellow friend 
will guide the youngest guests on a journey of learning that encourages 
their critical understanding and connection with nature. With a variety of 
honeycomb shapes, bee-inspired colourways and natural and sustainable 
materials, these design concepts open the childcare operations to create 
a stimulating and biophilic atmosphere offering a variety of activities 
based on sustainability, our planet, life cycles, and STEM.

Sugar Beach Kids Club

Sugar Beach has recently 
undergone a series of exciting 
enhancements to elevate the 
guest experience. The iconic 
Buddha-Bar Beach has been 
reimagined, offering an 
enriched sunset encounter. 
The restaurant's capacity has 
been doubled, complemented 
by a stylish beachside lounge 
and entertainment hub, 
creating an unparalleled, 
effortlessly chic ambiance. 
In response to the growing 
demand for healthier options, 
Sugar Beach has introduced 
"Easy Sips," an alcohol-free 
cocktail collection inspired by 
the beach atmosphere. 

Le Patio, the hotel's main 
restaurant, has undergone 
a modern transformation, 
offering buffet-style breakfast 
and dinner as well as à-la-
carte lunch with signature 
quality cuisine. Furthermore, 
the newly added family 
rooms in the Manor House 
feature interconnecting spaces 
with separate bathrooms, 
ideal for families with up to 
three children or teenagers, 
enhancing the overall guest 
experience at Sugar Beach.

Sugar Beach Le Patio

Buddha Bar Beach

Sugar Beach Family room
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SUSTAINABILITY
OUR Strategy 
ESG Strategy
At Sunlife, we recognize our obligation to steward this island paradise we call home. As a Small Island Developing State, 
Mauritius is on the frontlines of climate change, facing threats like rising seas, erosion, storms, and coral bleaching that 
jeopardize our communities, ecosystems, and economy.
To build resilience, Sunlife is working to mitigate and prepare for escalating climate impacts through our sustainability 
strategy centered on People, Nature, and Community. This allows us to address our biggest challenges and opportunities.
In 2022, a major ESG initiative was partnering with a French-based sustainability consulting firm, to implement an 
integrated ESG management and reporting system. This structured approach will strengthen measurement, monitoring 
and reduction of Sunlife's carbon impact and sustainability performance. Building on existing commitments, our enhanced 
strategic framework sets ambitious sustainability goals aligned with UN SDGs. This maintains alignment with Ciel Group's 
key pillars of inclusive growth, climate response, and workforce development.
We are taking action across renewable energy, nature restoration, and climate-smart development. Though challenges 
remain, Sunlife is rising to meet this existential threat to preserve our island for future generations. Our sustainability 
journey continues.

Climate Action
Emissions reduction is a cornerstone of our sustainability strategy.  
In partnership with Utopies, we are working assiduously to identify and 
diminish our carbon footprint across all avenues, not limited to operations, 
transportation, buildings, materials, supply chain and addressing  
embodied carbon.

People
At the core of our identity as hoteliers lies a profound commitment  
to people. Across all our priority domains, a central tenet is nurturing 
the well-being of those who reside and contribute to the local in which 
we operate. This commitment encompasses robust measures for 
equality, diversity, and inclusion. We also strive to empower individuals 
through education, employment opportunities, skills development,  
and comprehensive health and well-being initiatives, all reinforced by 
a dynamic leadership programme By placing people at the forefront,  
we translate our sustainability aspirations into tangible, positive 
transformations for our community.

Nature 
Nature is a key part of our plan, connecting guest enjoyment with 
taking care of the environment. This year, we're making our eco-friendly 
activities even better, like beekeeping tours, gardening workshops, nature 
trails, and coral farming. Our commitment to nature is at the heart of  
Sunlife's changes.

Community 
Sunlife's community commitment thrives through collaborations with schools, 
NGOs, and authorities. Prioritizing local procurement enhances ties and 
economic prosperity. Our enduring projects - Coral Farming, Climate Smart 
Agriculture, Sunlife Children Cancer Trust, and Ile aux Cerfs Biodiversity 
Regeneration - showcase our dedicated community involvement and 
stewardship.
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SUSTAINABILITY
Award and recognitions

La Pirogue 
Sugar Beach 
Long Beach 

La Pirogue Winner of  
The Best Sustainable 
Hotel Mauritius 2023

Highlights

Zero food waste  
to landfill

Zero single use 
 of plastic

65% of waste being 
diverted

72% of our F&B are locally procured

SUN GROUP Women at Senior  
Management Level

         27%

Total Employees 

3,084

Gender

           
66%         34%

Women at 
Management Level

         38%

40yrs         10yrs
Ave age           Ave YOS

Training hours
Operational         18 
Leadership          26

Experiencing Mauritian Culture
At Sunlife Resorts, we invite our guests to immerse themselves in the vibrant cultural heritage of Mauritius. From our 
architecture and cuisine to music, art and traditions, Mauritian influences infuse every element of the guest experience.
Guests can take Creole cooking classes, learning to prepare flavorful dishes like rougaille, min frire, and gateau piment 
from our expert chefs. Our restaurants also incorporate locally grown ingredients and traditional techniques.
Guests can also attend crash courses in Sega dancing, with lessons on traditional moves and rhythms.
We partner with local musicians and dance troupes to provide nightly live entertainment reflecting Mauritius' varied 
cultural influences. Guests can enjoy everything from live jazz and reggae to traditional Sega and Indian music.
Through activities rooted in authenticity, our guests form meaningful connections to the people, places and traditions 
that make Mauritius such a vibrant melting pot. They become part of our island's living heritage.

Materiality
In response to the post-COVID landscape, Sunlife recognises the importance of understanding evolving customer and 
market expectations. In 2022, we undertook a materiality assessment to gain deeper insights into our stakeholders' priorities.
This assessment engaged Sunlife's leadership, Sustainability Committee, Team Members, international partners, NGOs, 
community groups, guests, investors, suppliers. Together, we evaluated the most critical ESG aspects to prioritize over 
the next 3-5 years.
The assessment outcomes are guiding the alignment of Sunlife's ESG initiatives with long-term business strategies. 
Our aim is twofold - ensure alignment with our responsible tourism ethos while creating positive impacts to shape our 
future sustainability strategy, for a world where kindness shines. 
Some of the key material issues identified include climate change risks, sustainable supply chains, employee training 
and retention, waste management, food waste, water conservation, Circular Economy, biodiversity and community 
partnerships. We are using these insights to inform our strategic planning across sustainability pillars of People, Nature, 
and Community.

Izzy The Guardian Of Sunlife Sustainability
Izzy the Bee is our new mascot of the Sunlife Kid’s Club. Essential to the cycle of life, this very important and friendly 
yellow friend is here to guide our youngest guests on a journey or learning that encourages their critical understanding 
and connection with nature. Our guest can check out the bee hotel by peeping inside an observatory hive and enjoy a 
story reading session to hear more about the fascinating life of bees. Our main focus to inspire the next generation of 
growing minds.
Izzy is also here to inspire our employees and guests and to be the guardian of our overall sustainability strategy.



Surpassing the 
ordinary, aiming 
high, enhancing 
guest wonder,  
as days drift by.

Financial  Review3
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Chief Finance Officer’s Report
Highlights
I am pleased to share my CFO’s report for the financial year ended 30 June 2023.
The hospitality industry continued to experience positive progression in tourist arrivals in this financial year, with recovery 
reaching 88% of the pre-covid period (FY23: 1.2 million versus FY19: 1.4 million). The Group has successfully managed to 
increase its market share and posted good results for this financial year 2023. 
Group’s revenues amounted to Rs 8.1 billion for FY23, a growth of 57.4% vs FY22 and 30.9% vs FY19. All resorts were 
operational and generating satisfactory results during the year with the increase in occupancy (+53.8% vs FY22;  
+2.2% vs FY19) coupled by higher RevPAR (+72.4% vs FY22; +45.4% vs FY19). 
Inflation negatively impacted our results as compared to last year, principally from Food (+13.4%), Beverages (+7.9%), 
Logistics (+8.0%), Diesel (+27.2%) and Electricity (+17.1%).
The Group posted a profit after tax of Rs 1.5 billion, more than seven times increase when compared to the pre-covid period.
The net worth per share for the Group increased by 21% to Rs 62.19 at 30 June 2023 compared to last year, representing 
twice the share price at that date. Return on equity has exponentially increased to 14.05% at 30 June 2023 (FY22: 2.39%) 
due to our excellent performance this year. 
Cash balance remains healthy at Rs 1.8 billion at 30 June 2023. Net debt at 30 June 2023 was Rs 3.4 billion, a decrease 
of 34.5% vs last year due to bond/loans repayment (Rs 2.7 billion) and offsetting of new loans (Rs 0.9 billion). Free cash 
flow stood at Rs 2.2 billion and included maintenance and project capital expenditure of Rs 372 million. On this basis, 
the Group has been able to distribute a dividend of Rs 2.00 per share during this financial year. The gearing ratio has gone 
down to a historical 22.7% at 30 June 2023 (FY22: 34.8%). 
Our objective is now to keep the momentum going by driving sustainable growth and increase shareholder value through 
upgrading and developing our properties for improved yields. We will further continue to elevate our guest experiences 
and satisfaction through continuous improvements in service quality as well as customer retention.

Our Performance
Financial Highlights

REVENUE  EBITDA² PAT2

Rs 8,133m Rs 2,448m Rs 1,519m

Rs 2,967m vs FY221 Rs 1,236m vs FY221 Rs 1,319m vs FY221

Rs 1,917m vs FY19 Rs 993m vs FY19 Rs 1,347m vs FY19

Key KPIs

OCCUPANCY ADR TREVPAR

74.0% Rs 13,359 Rs 15,206

53.8% vs FY221 12.0% vs FY221 69.5% vs FY221

2.2% vs FY19 42.3% vs FY19 36.6% vs FY19

1 Operations were closed in the first quarter of FY22
2 Results from continuing operations and exclude operations of Kanuhura in FY19

Evolution of foreign exchange rates
AVG EUR-MUR

AVG GBP-MUR

2.46

2.75

2.50

2.34 2.39

FY22/23 FY21/22

AVG ZAR-MUR

2.10

2.20

2.30

2.40

2.50

2.60

2.70

2.80

FY20/21 FY19/20 FY18/19

45.87
48.03

46.76

40.50

38.92

FY22/23 FY21/22
30.00

35.00

40.00

45.00

50.00

FY20/21 FY19/20 FY18/19

+18% vs FY19; Annual Growth Rate: +3.3%

52.29

56.58

52.58

46.13

44.11

FY22/23 FY21/22
40.00

45.00

50.00

55.00

60.00

FY20/21 FY19/20 FY18/19

+18% vs FY19; Annual Growth Rate: +3.5%

+3% vs FY19; Annual Growth Rate: +0.6%

Despite the unfavourable movement in the EUR and GBP rates versus FY22, the Group had an improvement in ADR 
by 12%.
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Chief Finance Officer’s Report
Revenue and PAT per Business Units

REVENUE

6,216

478

335

298

406
262

145 79 (86)

FY19 Four 
Seasons
Anahita

6,000

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000

8,500

Shangri-La 
Le Touessrok

Long 
Beach

Sugar
Beach

La Pirogue Ambre Islands Others FY23

PROFIT AFTER TAX

172

1,519

8,133

105

185

123

143

143
85 5

558

FY19 Four 
Seasons
Anahita

-

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

Shangri-La 
Le Touessrok

Long 
Beach

Sugar
Beach

La Pirogue Ambre Islands Others FY23

The above chart explains the movement of revenue and profit after tax per significant business unit. In the PAT chart, 
“others” include foreign exchange gains of Rs 241 million in FY23 and lower interest on loans and bonds by Rs 176 million 
vs FY 19. 
Note: FY23 results have been compared to FY19 (pre-covid period). Comparison to FY22 would not have been appropriate as the resorts 
were closed during the first quarter of FY22.

Assets and Liabilities

TOTAL ASSETS (Rs’m) TOTAL LIABILITIES (Rs’m)

Currency Profile

2,713 2,279

618
684

18,308
17,421

1,596

1,626

Jun-23

Rights of
use assets

Property, plant
and equipment
and Intangible
assets

Other 
non-current
assets

Jun-22

Average Interest Rate
Net Debt
Gearing 

Current asset 4,435
3,495

5,317

11,770

6,892

1,713 1,782

9,841

Jun-23

Lease liabilities

Equity

Borrowings
excluding lease
liabilities

Jun-22

Non-interest
bearing liabilities

MUR EUR GBP

19%
Rs 1.00bn

78%
Rs 4.13bn

3%
Rs 0.14bn

4.0%

Rs 5.3bn

34.8%

22.7%
Rs 3.4bn

MUR: EUR Debt portion at 19% : 78%Gearing decreased from 34.8% to 22.7%

4.8%

Jun-22 Jun-23

Net debt
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Chief Finance Officer’s Report
SCHEDULED AMORTISATION AND MATURITIES
Weighted average term: 3.29 years

FY 2024

Rs 1.1Bn

FY 2025

Rs 1.1Bn

FY 2026

Rs 0.7Bn

FY 2027

Rs 1.1Bn

FY 2028

Rs 0.6Bn

FY 2029

Rs 0.4Bn

FY 2030

Rs 0.3Bn

• Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets were mainly explained by revaluation gains on 
freehold land and buildings by Rs 971 million, additions of Rs 372 million and offset by depreciation charges of  
Rs 527 million

• Financing:
 – Early repayment repaid in full the high interest-bearing debts in March and May 2023, respectively, and refinanced 
with lower interest-bearing debts

 – Successfully repaid our bonds ahead of repayment date - EURO denominated bonds (in October 2022 and  
January 2023) and MUR denominated bonds (in May 2023 instead of November 2023)

 – Increase in EUR bearing debt at lower interest rate
 – Renegotiate and fix interest rate on existing variable bearing debts
 – Rescheduling some existing debts to match with the updated 5 Year plan strategy

Cash flows

(351)

(2,025)1,581

2,567

1,82250

At 1 July 2022
1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

Operating
activities

Investing
activities

Financing
activities

Net foreign
exchange 
differences

At 30 June 2023

• Operating activities include non-cash items such as depreciation and amortisation of Rs 527 million, net finance costs 
of Rs 175 million and unrealized exchange differences of Rs 173 million

• Net cash used in investing activities includes mainly capital expenditure of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets of Rs 372 million

• Net cash used in financial activities includes net repayment of borrowings of Rs 1.8 billion, interest payment of 
Rs 310 million, lease payment of Rs 195 million and offset by net proceeds from MIC bonds of Rs 275 million

Renovation update
• Renovation of Kids Club at Sugar Beach
• Renovation and extension of Buddha Bar restaurant at Sugar Beach
• Conversion of standard Manor House rooms to family rooms at Sugar Beach
• Upgrade of Long Beach Tides Beach Restaurant and rooms renovation 
• Ambre rooms renovation 
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Chief Finance Officer’s Report
Five -Year Financial Highlights 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

THE GROUP

2023 2022* 2021* 2020* 2019

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Assets  

Non-current assets 20,522,288 19,730,693 17,920,117 19,714,281 18,803,762 

Current assets 2,712,949 2,278,667 2,088,235 1,489,195 1,526,081 

Total assets 23,235,237 22,009,360 20,008,352 21,203,476 20,329,843 

 

Equity  

Equity attributable to owners  
of the Company 10,843,998 8,995,576 6,242,028 5,341,637 7,729,466 

Non-controlling interests 926,097 844,748 677,011 765,561 812,512 

Total equity 11,770,095 9,840,324 6,919,039 6,107,198 8,541,978 

Loans and other borrowings 5,317,285 6,891,965 8,795,955 9,581,360 8,535,035 

Lease liabilities 1,713,033 1,782,408 1,790,478 2,221,697 180,430 

Interest bearing liabilities 7,030,318 8,674,373 10,586,433 11,803,057 8,715,465 

Trade and other payables 2,076,351 1,889,483 1,165,504 1,584,830 1,425,014 

Current tax liability 101,457 13,437 10,404 9,783 47,379 

Deferred tax liability 1,516,553 1,252,489 946,728 1,084,079 913,044 

Employee benefit liability 288,446 219,672 266,752 459,068 364,353 

Provision 20,940 33,738 22,989 60,298 91,968 

Contract liabilities 82,349 85,844 90,503 95,163 99,822 

Dividend payable 348,728 - - - 130,820 

Interest-free liabilities 4,434,824 3,494,663 2,502,880 3,293,221 3,072,400 

Total Equity and Liabilities 23,235,237 22,009,360 20,008,352 21,203,476 20,329,843 

Net debt 3,447,664 5,262,052 7,087,513 8,778,405 7,907,374 

Consolidated Capital Employed

2023 2022* 2021* 2020* 2019

 

Shareholders’ equity 71.26% 59.56% 44.57% 35.88% 46.99%

Non-controlling interests 6.09% 5.59% 4.83% 5.14% 4.94%

Net debt 22.66% 34.84% 50.60% 58.97% 48.07%
Total capital employed 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

*Covid-19 impact

 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

THE GROUP

2023 2022* 2021* 2020* 2019

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Continuing operations:  

Total revenue 8,132,580 5,164,895 1,195,415 4,985,564 6,215,527

 

Earnings/(losses) before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation and 
exceptional items 2,447,703 1,212,269 (589,343) 889,736 1,454,534

Exceptional items 9,708 10,816 (22,942) (193,195) (278,288)

Earnings/(losses) before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation 2,457,411 1,223,085 (612,285) 696,541 1,176,246

Depreciation and amortisation (527,167) (561,719) (560,809) (629,337) (515,786)

Operating profit/(loss) 1,930,244 661,366 (1,173,094) 67,204 660,460

Net Finance costs (174,956) (429,435) (875,486) (972,624) (387,612)

Share of results of associates 24,700 19,515 (7,844) (275) 300 

Impairment of investment in associate - - - (107,044) - 

Profit/(loss) before tax 1,779,988 251,446 (2,056,424) (1,012,739) 273,148

Income tax (charge)/credit (261,452) (51,366) 224,637 (27,511) (101,035)

Profit/(loss) after tax from  
continuing operations 1,518,536 200,080 (1,831,787) (1,040,250) 172,113

Loss after tax from  
discontinued operation - - (244,927) (778,061) (2,057,678)

Non-controlling interests (51,045) (14,376) 87,682 13,473 821

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners  
of the Company 1,467,491 185,704 (1,989,032) (1,804,838) (1,884,744)

*Covid-19 impact
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Chief Finance Officer’s Report
Five -Year Financial Highlights (Cont’d) 
Ratios and Statistics

THE GROUP

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Share Performance  

Continuing Operations

Ordinary shares

- In issue 000's 194,545 194,545 194,545 194,545 194,545 

- Weighted average 000's 174,364 174,427 174,427 174,427 174,427 

Earnings/(loss) per share Rupees 8.42 1.06 (10.00) (5.89) (10.78)

Dividend declared per 
ordinary share Rupees 2.00 - - - 0.75

Dividend cover  
(in respect of year) times 4.21 - - - (14.41)

Net worth per ordinary share 62.19 51.57 35.79 30.62 44.31 

 

Profitability and Asset Management       

EBITDA margin % 30.10% 23.47% (49.32%) 17.84% 23.40%

Return on equity % 14.05% 2.39% (28.12%) (14.20%) 1.77%

Return on capital employed % 12.83% 4.60% (8.02%) 1.66% 5.71%

EBITDA yield % 10.53% 5.51% (2.95%) 4.20% 7.15%

Net debt to EBITDA times 1.41 4.34 (12.03) 10.06 5.44

Gearing ratio % 22.70% 34.80% 50.60% 59.00% 48.10%

  

Employees 3,056 3,034 2,817 3,856 4,028 

Stock-Exchange 
Performance  

Stock price      

- At 30 June Rupees 30.00 25.75 18.50 14.80 35.00 

- Highest Rupees 34.20 32.25 18.50 35.95 52.00 

- Lowest Rupees 19.50 15.30 11.20 14.10 34.00 

     

Other  

Resorts Keys at year end 1,363 1,373 1,382 1,453 1,473 

Rooms night sold 000’s 370 241 87 271 382 

Definitions
Earnings/(loss) per Share 
Earnings/(loss) per share is profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company divided by the weighted average number 
of shares in issue during the period.

Dividend Cover
Dividend cover is profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company divided by ordinary dividends. 

Gearing
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest expressed as a percentage 
of capital employed including all capital, reserves and the net debt of the Group.

Net Worth per Ordinary Share
Net worth per ordinary share is equity attributable to owners of the Company divided by the total number of shares in 
issue at reporting date.

EBITDA Margin
EBITDA margin is earnings/loss) before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation expressed as a percentage of 
total revenue. 

Exceptional items
Exceptional items include impairment charges, loss on disposal of subsidiary and write off of project costs (if any)

Capital Employed
Capital employed includes all capital, reserves and net debt.

Net Debt
Net debt is defined as total borrowings, excluding lease liabilities and accrued interest, net of cash and short-term deposits.

Return on Capital Employed
This is the ratio of normalised earnings before interest and tax to average capital employed.

Return on Equity
Profit for the year from continuing operations expressed as a percentage of average equity.



Corporate Governance4

Sparking smiles,  
like the sun’s first ray,  
enhancing guest  
contentment, each 
and every day.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
(SECTION 75 (3) OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTING ACT 2004)

Name of Public Interest Entity (“PIE”): Sun Limited (“SUN”/“the Company”)
Reporting Period: 30 June 2023
Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2023, and to the best of the Board of Directors’ knowledge, SUN has 
complied with the National Code of Corporate Governance Mauritius (2016) (“the Code”). SUN has applied the principles 
set out in the Code and explained how these principles have been applied.

    

Jean-Pierre Dalais  Mushtaq N. Oosman
Chairman   Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee/ 
     Member of the Corporate Governance,  
     Ethics, Nomination and Remuneration Committee

15 September 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF SUN LIMITED 
(“SUN” or “the Company”)
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

GOVERNANCE AT SUN – BOARD EFFECTIVENESS
SUN’s Organisational Chart and Statement of Accountabilities 

Shareholders of SUN elect the Board

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of SUN provides effective leadership and direction to enhance the long-term 
value of the Group (Sun Limited and its subsidiaries), for its shareholders and other stakeholders. It assumes its 
responsibility in (i) leading, controlling, and overseeing the business affairs of the Group; and (ii) reviewing its strategic 
plans, performance objectives, financial plans, annual budget, key operational initiatives, major funding, investment 
proposals, financial performance reviews and corporate governance practices. It ensures that all legal and regulatory 
requirements are met. The Group operates within a defined governance framework through delegation of authorities 
and clear lines of responsibility while enabling the Board to retain effective control. As such, the Board is ultimately 
accountable and responsible for the performance and affairs of the Group.

Board committees facilitate the discharge of the Board’s responsibilities and provide in-depth focus on specific areas, 
in line with approved terms of reference for each committee. In fulfilling their role of providing oversight and guidance, 
Chairmen of Board committees escalate significant matters impacting the Group to the Board. Reports to the Board 
from committees’ chairmen are recurring items on the agendas of Board meetings.

Corporate Governance, Ethics, 
Nomination & Remuneration 

Committee

Audit & Risk Committee Investment Committee

Delegates Management

Chief Executive Officer – Francois Eynaud

Accounting &  
Finance/Asset Management

Supply Chain Human Resources

Chief Finance Officer  
Tommy Wong Yun Shing
Group Risk, Compliance & Quality 
Assurance Manager and Data 
Protection Officer  
Saleem Khadaroo1

Group Supply Chain Manager  
Cindy Leung

Chief Human Resources Officer  
Varuna Ramlagun

Information & Technology Commercial

Chief Information Officer  
Abdool Kadell

Chief Sales & Marketing Officer Joelle Edwards - Tonks

Operations

SUN Managed Resorts 
GM Sugar Beach Jean-Marc Ma-Poon
GM Long Beach Christian Jaquier
Resort Manager Ambre Teeshan Gutty 
GM La Pirogue Clency Romeo 
GM Ile aux Cerfs Marc Amelot 
GM Washright Patrick Sin (until May 
2023) / Viren Govinda Chetty  
as from 01 September 2023

International Hotel Operators2

(Indirect Reporting Line to the CEO)
GM Four Seasons Resort Mauritius at Anahita Sebastien Carre 
GM Shangri-La Le Touessrok, Mauritius Gregory Coquet 

Note 1: Saleem Khadaroo reports to the Audit & Risk Committee for risk and compliance matters.
Note 2: Management contracts were entered into by SUN with international hotel operators.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF SUN LIMITED 
(“SUN” or “the Company”)
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 (CONT’D)

Division of Responsibilities
The roles and responsibilities of the Board chairman, executive and non-executive directors as well as the company 
secretary are clearly defined in its board charter and position statements, the extracts of which are found hereunder. 
The role of the Board chairman is distinct and separate from that of executives of SUN. There is a clear division of 
responsibilities with the chairman leading the Board and the executives managing the Group’s business on a  
day-to-day basis. The board charter and position statements are available for consultation on SUN’s website. The charter 
was last updated in September 2021 - changes or updates are reflected as and when necessary and the updated version 
is uploaded on the website.

Role Main Responsibilities

Chairman of the Board
Jean-Pierre Dalais

• Chairs the Board and shareholders’ meetings
• Ensures that there is appropriate delegation of authority from the Board to 

executive management and Board committees
• Facilitates the effective contribution of non-executive directors and 

encourages active engagement by all members of the Board
• Ensures constructive relations between the executive and  

non-executive directors
• Sets the ethical tone for the Board and the Group and upholds the highest 

standards of integrity and probity
• Promotes effective relationships and open communication between 

directors, both inside and outside the boardroom, ensures an appropriate 
balance of skills and personalities

• Ensures effective communication with the shareholders

Chief Executive Officer
Francois Eynaud

• Provides strategic leadership for SUN and its subsidiaries (“Group”) by 
working with the Board and the Group’s executives and management 
team to define long-term strategies, plans and policies

• Leads and directs the implementation of business strategy, performance 
delivery and safe and compliant execution of the Group

• Delivers sustainable long-term value for shareholders through consistent 
performance delivery and execution of the Group’s business in a 
manner that, at the same time, maintains the confidence of all other key 
stakeholders in the business including investors, customers, regulators 
and employees

Group Finance Officer 
Tommy Wong Yun Shing

• Provides a hands-on and quality-focused financial advice, underpinned 
by sound financial leadership and proven business effectiveness

• Drives the financial management of the Group to include budget analysis, 
management and control, financial modelling and reporting, cost benefit 
analysis, forecasting needs, accounting and treasury operations,  
mergers and acquisitions and investment strategies

• Offers quality, meaningful analysis, and financial perspectives necessary 
for corporate decisions and strategic planning at Board level

Company Secretary
Employed by CIEL Corporate 
Services Ltd (“CCS”), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of CIEL, which provides 
the services of company secretary to 
SUN. Clothilde de Comarmond, ACG, 
joined CCS in 2000 and oversees the 
company secretarial department at 
CIEL Head Office

• Guides the directors on their duties, responsibilities and powers and 
assists in their induction 

• Informs the directors of any change in company law and legislation
• Co-ordinates the Board evaluation exercise
• Ensures compliance with Board procedures and provides support to  

the chairman
• Ensures that the Company complies with its constitution and all relevant 

statutory and regulatory requirements
• Maintains an interests register which is available for consultation  

by the shareholders upon written request
• Responsible for the communication with the shareholders and  

the organisation of shareholders’ meetings

Board Size and Structure as at 30 June 2023
Directorship Tenure Gender Diversity

0
0- -4

Years

4- 6

5 3 4
6

1

10

Men
Women

7%

93%

Category of Directors Nationality of Directors

Executive
Non-Executive
Independent

22%

64%

14%

Mauritian
French

21%

79%

The Board is composed of directors coming from 
different industries and backgrounds with strong 
business, international and management experience 
which are important considering the nature and scope  
of the Group’s business and the number of  
Board committees
Areas of expertise: Accounting, finance, hospitality and 
property management, asset & risk Management, textile, 
private equity, strategic business development, legal, 
sales & marketing, financing and real estate

• Type of mandate: Unitary Board of 14 directors
• Board meetings held during the financial year: 4
• Decisions adopted by way of written resolution in 

lieu of holding Board meetings: 3
• Meeting of shareholders: 1
• Quorum for the Board: Majority of directors and in 

case of equality of votes, the chairman has a  
casting vote

2 2 6 >
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF SUN LIMITED 
(“SUN” or “the Company”)
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 (CONT’D)

Board Size and Structure as at 30 June 2023(Cont’d)

Directors as at 30 June 2023 Gender Age Attendance Residency

Jean-Pierre Dalais (Chairman) M 59 4/4 Mauritius

P. Arnaud Dalais M 68 4/4 Mauritius

Guillaume Dalais M 41 3/4 Mauritius

R. Thierry Dalais M 64 3/4 Mauritius

L. J. Jérôme De Chasteauneuf M 56 4/4 Mauritius

Hélène Echevin F 45 4/4 Mauritius

Francois Eynaud M 62 4/4 Mauritius

J. Harold Mayer M 58 3/4 Mauritius

Vincent Ménez, as from 26 May 2023 M 59 1/1 France

Mushtaq N. Oosman M 68 4/4 Mauritius

Olivier Riché, up to 26 May 2023 M 67 3/3 France

Jean-Louis Savoye M 49 4/4 France

Pierre Vaquier M 66 4/4 France

Naderasen Pillay Veerasamy M 65 4/4 Mauritius

Tommy Wong Yun Shing M 56 4/4 Mauritius

The Board is satisfied that its composition is adequately balanced and that the directors have the range of skills,  
expertise and experience to carry out their duties properly. 
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Guillaume Dalais 
Non-Executive Director
Appointed Director on 20 September 2021

Guillaume Dalais is the Deputy Group Chief Executive 
of CIEL since 01 January 2023 and the CEO of CIEL 
Properties since 01 July 2020. He joined the CIEL Textile 
Group in 2010 and was appointed Executive Director of 
the Knits Cluster of the CIEL Textile Group in 2012.  
He was the Chief Executive Officer of the Knitwear 
cluster of the CIEL Textile Group between July 2016 
and June 2020. He holds experience in the investment 
banking sector by working at Metier Investments & 
Advisory Services in South Africa and CIEL Capital 
Limited in Mauritius. He is holder of a Master 2 from Ecole 
Supèrieure de Gestion (now Paris School of Business)  
in Finance and Accounting, Paris, France; also completed 
HEC Paris Executive Education. He is also a member of 
the board of directors of other companies in Mauritius, 
including those of the CIEL Group.

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
CIEL Limited, C-Care (Mauritius) Ltd (Chairman),  
MIWA Sugar Limited. 

Core competencies: Private equity, textile, manufacturing, 
entrepreneurship, strategic business development and 
corporate finance, deal structuring, financial, accounting, 
and analytical, risk management.

R. Thierry Dalais 
Non-Executive Director
Appointed Director on 13 February 2017

R. Thierry Dalais has more than 35 years’ experience in the 
financial services and private equity investment industry. 
He was the co-founder of two private equity investment 
firms and acted as a key person in numerous private 
investment programs over the last 30 years.  
R. Thierry Dalais is a current and former director and 
trustee on numerous boards, industry bodies, not for 
profit foundations, including listed companies in Mauritius 
and abroad. He completed degrees in Commerce and 
Accounting at the University of the Witwatersrand and 
qualified as a Chartered Accountant in South Africa.

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
CIEL Limited.

Core competencies: Investment management and 
corporate finance, entrepreneurship and business 
development, private equity investment activities  
across numerous industry sectors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF SUN LIMITED 
(“SUN” or “the Company”)
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 (CONT’D)

Directors’ Profiles

Jean-Pierre Dalais 
Non-Executive Chairman
Appointed Director on 7 April 2010  
Appointed Chairman on 13 February 2017
Member of the Corporate Governance, Ethics, 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee  
Member of the Investment Committee

With an MBA from The International University of 
America, San Francisco, Jean-Pierre Dalais acquired 
working experience from Arthur Andersen (Mauritius 
and France) before joining the CIEL Group in January 
1992. He played an active role in the management and 
development of the different group’s clusters in Mauritius 
and internationally before being nominated Group Chief 
Executive of CIEL Limited on 1 January 2017, overseeing 
all its operations.

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
Alteo Limited, MIWA Sugar Limited, CIEL Limited. 

Core competencies: Strategy and corporate finance, 
building business partnership, international development, 
new business opportunities.

P. Arnaud Dalais 
Non-Executive Director
Appointed Director on 3 December 1991
Member of the Corporate Governance, Ethics, 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee

P. Arnaud Dalais joined the CIEL Group in August 1977. 
He was appointed Group Chief Executive and Director 
in November 1991. Under his leadership, the CIEL Group 
has gone through an important growth, both locally and 
internationally. Over the years, he has played an active 
role at the level of the Mauritian private sector and has 
assumed the Chairmanship of several organisations 
including the Joint Economic Council from 2000 
to 2002 and Business Mauritius from 2015 to 2017. 
He was appointed Group Chairman of CIEL  
in 2010 and Chairman of CIEL Limited following the 
recent reorganisation of the group in 2014. He chaired the 
Board of SUN between February 2011 and 2017. 

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
CIEL Limited (Chairman).

Core competencies: Leadership, entrepreneurship, 
deal structuring, business management, strategic 
development, hotel & property development.
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L. J. Jérôme De Chasteauneuf 
Non-Executive Director
Appointed Director on 12 November 2014 
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee 

L. J. Jérôme De Chasteauneuf holds a BSc Econ 
(Accounting & Finance) from the London School of 
Economics. He gained a strong foundation in financial 
expertise during former working experience at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers in the UK, where he qualified 
as a Chartered Accountant. He has transitioned into a 
key leadership role within the CIEL Group, becoming 
its Head of Finance in 2000. Over decades, he has 
steered CIEL Group towards optimal financial health, 
streamlined operational efficiencies, and paved pathways 
for sustained growth. He has pioneered and executed 
intricate financial re-engineering strategies that 
intricately accompanied the CIEL Group’s growth journey. 
Jérôme De Chasteauneuf has been instrumental in 
shaping the financial trajectory during pivotal moments, 
including strategic Initial Public Offerings (IPOs), 
international expansions, M&A transactions,  
and holistic corporate restructuring efforts. He has strong 
advocate for risk management, compliance, transparency, 
and accountability. He is currently representing  
CIEL Group on numerous boards of subsidiaries and 
serves as independent non-executive director on the 
Board of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd.

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
Alteo Limited (Chairman since 25 March 2022), CIEL 
Limited, Harel Mallac & Co. Ltd and MIWA Sugar Limited.

Core competencies: Business development and finance, 
accounting & audit, strategic development,  
deal structuring. 

Francois Eynaud 
Executive Director 
Appointed Director on 19 September 2019
Member of the Investment Committee

Francois Eynaud is the Chief Executive Officer of SUN 
since 1 September 2019. Prior to joining SUN, Francois 
Eynaud was the CEO of Veranda Leisure & Hospitality 
(“VLH”), managing the Hotels Division of Rogers Group, 
where he spent 11 years. Before joining VLH, Francois 
Eynaud had spent 14 years with CIEL Textile where he 
was Executive Director at Tropic Knits. Francois Eynaud 
was President of AHRIM (the National Hotel Association) 
in 2013 and 2014. Prior to returning to Mauritius in 1991, 
François Eynaud has worked 7 years at SAGEM, France 
as Export Director, Country Manager in the Caribbean 
and the UK. He holds a French Business School Diploma 
(Institut Commercial de Nancy – ICN).

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
None.

Core competencies: Hospitality & leisure, strategic 
business development, leadership, sales and marketing.

Hélène Echevin
Non-Executive Director 
Appointed Director on 22 June 2017

Hélène Echevin is the Chief Executive Officer of C-Care 
Group since July 1, 2019, which regroups all healthcare 
activities of the CIEL Group, including C-Care (Mauritius) 
Ltd and C-Care Health (Uganda) Limited.  She has been 
the Executive Chairperson of C-Care (Mauritius) Ltd 
from 2017-2022. She joined CIEL Group in March 2017 as 
Chief Officer-Operational Excellence and since then has 
played a key role in developing the healthcare portfolio 
and leading CIEL’s operational excellence journey. She 
formerly worked for Eclosia Group and Harel Mallac 
Group and counts 22 years of experience in operations 
and project management at both company and  
corporate levels. She was the first lady President of MCCI, 
Mauritius Chamber of Commerce, in 2015-2016 and 
holds a degree in Engineering from Polytech Engineering 
School, Montpellier, France and followed a Management 
Executive Program at INSEAD.

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
C-Care (Mauritius) Limited. 

Core competencies: Operational excellence, business & 
management, food production, project management. 

J. Harold Mayer 
Non-Executive Director
Appointed Director on 24 July 2014

J. Harold Mayer holds a honour’s degree in commerce 
and is qualified as Chartered Accountant - South Africa. 
He joined CIEL Textile in 1990 and has been holding key 
positions within the Group since then. He started his 
career as Head of Finance of New Island Clothing and 
was promoted General Manager of Aquarelle Clothing 
Ltd in 1995. He was also Chief Operating Officer of the 
clothing operations. On 30 June 2020, J. Harold Mayer 
retired as CEO of the CIEL Textile Group. He offers 
property advisory and transaction services (Horizon 
Property Partners) and is chairman of the Horizon Group 
(property cluster). He acts as corporate consultant on 
strategy, finance and operational excellence. He is a 
director of Air Mauritius Limited and is chairman of its 
Audit and Risk Committee.

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius:  
CIEL Limited, Omnicane Limited.

Core competencies: Corporate finance, accounting, 
operational excellence, textile, entrepreneurship.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF SUN LIMITED 
(“SUN” or “the Company”)
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 (CONT’D)

Directors’ Profiles(Cont’d))
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Vincent Ménez 
Non-Executive Director 
Appointed Director on 26 May 2023
Member of the Corporate Governance, Ethics, 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee  
Member of the Investment Committee

Vincent Ménez is the Managing Director of 
Dentressangle, the investment holding company of the 
Dentressangle family since 1999. He is responsible for the 
development and investment strategy of Dentressangle. 
Vincent Ménez was formerly in charge of the treasury and 
funding strategies of the Norbert Dentressangle Group, 
including the FX and interest rate covers. Prior to joining 
Dentressangle, he was responsible for the business 
management of Credit National. Vincent Ménez is a 
graduate from Audencia Nantes and holds an MBA with 
specialisation in Finance, from Laval University,  
Quebec-Canada.

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
None.

Core competencies: Finance, treasury, international 
business and management, strategic development.

Mushtaq N. Oosman 
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed Director on 01 October 2021
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee 
Member of the Corporate Governance, Ethics, 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Mushtaq N. Oosman trained and qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant with Sinclairs in the UK, before returning to 
Mauritius in 1983, when he joined the audit department 
of De Chazal Du Mée (at the time representative of 
Arthur Andersen in Mauritius). He then joined Roger 
de Chazal & Partners (founders of Price Waterhouse in 
1988 in Mauritius) and has been with PwC since then. 
He is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales. Mushtaq N. Oosman was 
appointed a Partner of PwC Mauritius on 01 July 1991. 
He was primarily an Assurance Partner, also responsible 
for Business Recovery Services as well as the Chief 
Operating Partner for Mauritius. He served on the Africa 
Central Governance Board and is versed with the working 
and responsibilities of a Governance Board. He has over 
25 years professional experience in audit and financial 
advice, with a diversified portfolio of clients in sectors 
such as banking, insurance, manufacturing,  
sugar companies, the hospitality industry, betting 
operator, textiles, and trading. He retired from PwC in 
November 2015 and serves on the boards of  
several companies. 

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
MUA Ltd, Automatic Systems Ltd, United Docks Ltd,  
PIM Ltd.

Core competencies: Business development and finance, 
accounting, audit and financial advice, strategic 
development, deal structuring, business recovery, 
governance.

Jean-Louis Savoye 
Non-Executive Director 
Appointed Director on 22 June 2017
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee

Jean-Louis Savoye is Deputy General Manager of the 
Dentressangle, a French société par actions simplifiée 
which is the investment holding company of the 
Dentressangle family. He has been instrumental in 
helping Dentressangle to realise its investment strategy 
during the last 20 years. Prior to joining Dentressangle 
in 2003 as CFO, Jean-Louis Savoye, served with PwC 
and ran due-diligences acquisitions in M&A for various 
Private Equity firms and French leading industrial 
companies. Jean-Louis Savoye is a graduate of the 
Toulouse Business School with a major in Finance.

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
CIEL Limited.

Core competencies: Finance, accounting, mergers & 
acquisition, private equity, international business and 
management, property investment, financing.

Naderasen Pillay Veerasamy 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Appointed Director on 24 July 2014
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee (Committee he 
has chaired from 13 February 2015 until 30 June 2016) 
Chairman of the Corporate Governance, Ethics, 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Naderasen Pillay Veerasamy holds an LLB degree from 
the University of Buckingham in the United Kingdom.  
He was called to the Bar at Middle Temple in 1982. 
In 1989, he completed his Masters in Private Law at 
Université de Paris II (Assas) and thereafter sat for 
examinations for attestation as Barrister at La Cour 
d’Appel de Paris in 1990. He practiced as Barrister-at-Law  
in Mauritius from 1982 to 1987. He started practice 
in Paris, France, and joined SCP J. C. Goldsmith & 
Associates, and thereafter SCP Azéma Sells both firms 
of lawyers at the Paris Bar.In 1995, he created his own 
Chambers in Paris exercising mainly in Business Law.  
In 1997 he participated in the setting up of the Chambers 
Fourmentin Le Quintrec Veerasamy et Associés,  
now FLV & Associés (aarpi), comprising now of  
9 associates and dealing with litigation, arbitration 
and Business Law. He is also a member on the Comité 
Français d’Arbitrage and the Chambre de Commerce et 
d’Industrie France Maurice. Since 2014, he is based in 
Mauritius as residing partner of the local office of FLV & 
Associés in Mauritius and resuming his practice at the 
Mauritian Bar on a permanent basis. 

Directorships in listed companies: Ascencia Limited.

Core competencies: Arbitration, Corporate and business 
law, international law, business and management. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF SUN LIMITED 
(“SUN” or “the Company”)
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 (CONT’D)

Directors’ Profiles(Cont’d))
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Pierre Vaquier 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Appointed Director on 14 February 2018
Chairman of the Investment Committee

Pierre Vaquier has more than 42 years principal 
investment and asset management experience. Having 
worked since 1980 in financial institutions with global 
activities, all his career was in business positions held in 
Europe, the US and Asia. Until recently, he was the Chief 
Executive Officer of AXA Investment Managers-Real 
Assets (AXA IM-Real Assets), position he held for 10 
years. He chaired the Management Board and Executive 
Committee of AXA IM-Real Assets and was as well 
member of the AXA Investment Managers Management 
Board. His responsibilities included the definition of 
AXA IM-Real Assets strategy and its implementation. 
Prior to the launch of AXA IM-Real Assets, he was 
Director of Business Development at AXA Immobilier. 
His key assignments were the restructuring of real estate 
investment generated through the property crisis of 
the late 80’s early 90’s, the evaluation of Mergers and 
Acquisition transaction made by the AXA Group and the 
governance of Equitable Real Estate Investment. Prior to 
AXA, he spent 13 years at Paribas in different investment 
and merchant banking functions. 
After two years as an associate at Paribas International 
Private Banking, he moved to the US to manage real 
estate investment made for Paribas and its clients. 
He set- up a real estate investment and advisory 
platform based in New York, Paribas Properties Inc. 
At the different stage of the property cycle, he managed 
opportunistic investments, work out situation and 
investment banking assignments. He graduated from 
HEC in 1980. He is the CEO of Real Assets Investment 
Managers SAS, Global of Real Estate at Tikehau 
Investment Management SAS and senior advisor  
of Soposa, the property arm of Tethys.

Directorships in other listed companies in Mauritius: 
None.

Core competencies: Investment and asset management, 
real estate development, merchant and private banking. 

Tommy Wong Yun Shing 
Executive Director
Appointed Director on 12 November 2014

Tommy Wong holds a BSC degree from the London 
School of Economics and is a fellow member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. 
He acquired his working experience as a chartered 
accountant in UK with Deloitte before returning to 
Mauritius. Prior to joining SUN, he served as partner 
in Deloitte Mauritius, where he oversaw the corporate 
finance department together with the auditing of some 
publicly listed companies and large corporations.  
In July 1998, he joined the Executive team of SUN 
to take over the responsibilities of finance, project 
studies and the group accounts. As Chief Finance 
Officer of the Group, he supervises the finances, legal, 
asset management and treasury of the group as well 
as some operational responsibilities. Having held the 
position of President of the Association des Hoteliers et 
Restaurateurs de l’Ile Maurice (AHRIM) previously, he is 
still an active Board member and acts as the treasurer 
and chairman of the finance committee.

Directorships in listed companies in Mauritius: None.

Core competencies: Corporate finance, accounting, 
legal, treasury, business and management, strategic and 
project development. 

Senior Leadership Team/Executive Directors
Chief Executive Officer: Please refer to the profile of Francois Eynaud under the Directors’ profile section.
Chief Finance Officer: Please refer to the profile of Tommy Wong Yun Shing under the Directors’ profile section.

Time Commitment and Other Directorship Positions
The directors ensure that they devote sufficient time to the Company in the performance of their duties. SUN does 
not impose over-boarding restrictions to its directors but is satisfied, that its members meet their time commitment 
expectations in respect of board and committee meetings and that they discharge their responsibilities effectively.  
The directorships of SUN’s directors in other listed companies have been disclosed under the directors’ profiles section.

Board Processes and Attendance at Board/Committee Meetings

 

Dates of meetings are 
planned well in advance by 
the company secretary for 

the calendar year

The Board generally 
meets 4-5 times annually. 
Ad-hoc meetings may be 

convened to deliberate on 
urgent substantive matters. 
Decisions of the Board are 

also taken by way of signed 
written resolutions 

Documents are circulated 
in advance, through an 
online portal facilitating 

the viewing of such papers, 
in order for the directors 
to devote sufficient time 
towards the reading of 

these documents

Focus Areas of the Board 

Recurring Agenda Items Governance and Risk Strategy, Performance,  
Financial Monitoring

• Declaration of interests
• Minutes of proceedings of  

previous meetings
• Reports from chairmen of  

Board committees
• Quarterly reports/ 

review of operations 
• Review of operations
• Sales and marketing analysis, 

(industry analysis,  
forward bookings)

• Resorts’ renovations  
and developments

• SUN properties’ ongoing projects
• Rebranding

• SUN Board composition
• Annual report
• Policies update
• Directors’ fees, and hotel & golf 

allowance for the directors
• Reports from the chairman of the 

Audit & Risk Committee on  
internal audit

• Nomination, remuneration and 
governance matters through the 
report from the chairman of the 
Corporate Governance, Ethics, 
Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee

• Audited annual and unaudited 
quarterly financial statements

• Monitoring of bank accounts  
and signatories

• Financial forecasts
• Bank facilities
• Budget (including capital 

expenditures)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF SUN LIMITED 
(“SUN” or “the Company”)
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 (CONT’D)

Directors’ Profiles(Cont’d))
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Whistleblowing
Employees and suppliers can confidentially and anonymously raise concerns that relate to fraud, unethical conduct 
or business practices and other concerns through the whistleblowing mechanism as detailed in the Code of Conduct. 
Employees may first raise concerns verbally or in writing with their direct manager or the HR department.  
If for any reason, they feel that it is not appropriate to make such a report to any of the above-mentioned person or 
department, they may address their report to the CEO. Again, if they believe that in the circumstances, even the CEO 
is not the appropriate person to whom they can make a report, they may address their report to the chairman of the 
Corporate Governance, Ethics, Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“CGENRC”) through a dedicated email  
whistleblowing@yoursunlife.com. The CEO liaises with the chairmen of the CGENRC and Audit & Risk Committee to 
investigate on matters reported when deemed necessary.

Board Committees 
Whilst the Board retains the overall responsibility, committees probe subjects more deeply and report on the matters 
discussed, decisions taken, and where appropriate, make recommendations on items requiring Board approval.  
The committees play a key role in supporting the Board. The chairman of each of the committee systematically reports to 
the Board on their activities. The Board is satisfied that the committees are appropriately structured, skilled and competent 
to deal with both the Group’s existing and emerging issues, and that they have effectively discharged their responsibilities 
during the year under review according to their terms of reference. The terms of reference of the committees are updated 
as and when necessary. 

Corporate Governance, Ethics, Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Number of Meetings: 3 Members Attendance

Naderasen P. Veerasamy, Chairman 
Jean-Pierre Dalais
P. Arnaud Dalais
Olivier Riché, up to 26 May 2023
Mushtaq N. Oosman 
Vincent Ménez, as from 26 May 2023 (Note 1)

3/3
3/3
2/3
3/3
3/3
N/A

Note 1: Appointment as director effective after meeting date

Main Terms of Reference
• Ensure that the Company’s reporting requirements on corporate governance are in accordance with the principles 

enunciated in the Code and guide the Board on the adoption of other governance policies and best practices.
• Analyse, advise and make recommendation to the Board with respect to ethics, remuneration and  

nomination matters.
• Monitor the implementation of the code of conduct and set the tone for its implementation by management.

Focus Areas during the Year
Changes at the level of the management structure | Board evaluation survey results | Corporate governance report | 
Directors’ Fees | Remuneration of the managers | Hotel & golf allowances for the directors | Board and committee 
composition | Amendments to policies | Cases of conflict of interests | Succession plan update

Investment Committee

Number of Meetings: 4 Members
Pierre Vaquier, Chairman
Jean-Pierre Dalais
Francois Eynaud
Olivier Riché, up to 26 May 2023
Vincent Ménez, as from 26 May 2023
(Attended as guest)

Attendance
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
N/A

Main Terms of Reference
• Ensure that investment and development strategies meet the strategic objectives set.
• Ensure that effective and regular access exists for the debate of the Company’s/Group’s investment strategy 

options and changes thereto.
• Understand and assess potential investment and divestment opportunities available to the Company/Group.
• Understand and match the Company’s/Group’s investment strategy options with its financing and  

treasury strategies.
• Forum to debate deal flow opportunities

Focus Areas during the Year
SUN Resorts’ property projects | Renovation plans for resorts | Projects capital expenditure and returns 

Audit & Risk Committee 

Number of Meetings: 6 Members
Mushtaq N. Oosman, Chairman
L. J. Jérôme De Chasteauneuf 
Jean-Louis Savoye
Naderasen P. Veerasamy

Attendance
6/6
6/6
6/6
3/6

Main Terms of Reference
• Examine and review the quality and integrity of the Group financial statements and any formal announcements 

relating to its financial performance.
• Review and report to the Board on significant financial reporting issues and judgements which these financial 

statements contain having regard to matters communicated to the Committee by the auditors.
• Assess the robustness of the Company’s internal controls, including financial and management  

accounting controls.
• Monitor the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems, as well as the conclusions of any 

verification performed by internal and external auditors.
• Ensure that the Company develops and executes a comprehensive and robust system of risk management.
• Appointment, reconduction and termination of internal and external auditors.

Focus Areas during the Year
Key audit matters for SUN and its subsidiaries for the FY2022 | Internal audit reports (as further detailed under the 
section Internal Audit) | Internal audit plan for the calendar year 2023 | Risk management & compliance update | 
Summary of material legal cases | Treasury policy for SUN and its subsidiaries | Forecasts FY 2023, including cash 
flow | Audited accounts of SUN and its subsidiaries FY2022 and the abridged version of these accounts | Meeting 
with external auditors without management’s presence (in line with the Code) | Quarterly financial results with their 
respective abridged versions. 

Code of Conduct/Constitution
SUN operates a Code of Conduct for all its employees, officers, directors, and suppliers, which demonstrates, not only 
its unwavering commitment to provide outstanding service, but ensures that its business is done according to  
ethical standards. The constitution of SUN complies with the provisions of the Companies Act 2001 and the Listing Rules 
of the SEM. There are no clauses of the constitution deemed material enough for special disclosure.
The above documents are subject to review by the Board as and when necessary and may be consulted on SUN’s website.
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Governance within the Group
The guidance under the Code for groups provides that the ultimate holding company of group companies should apply 
all principles of the Code and provide appropriate explanations. Wholly owned subsidiaries are thus exempted from 
applying the principles of the Code. As a holding company, SUN’s governance structure contributes to the effective 
oversight of its subsidiaries considering the nature, scale and complexity of the different risks to which the Group  
is exposed. The governance structure of the Group is considered appropriate considering its growth, increased complexity 
and geographic expansion.

Director Appointment and Induction

Step 1 • The Board charter provides that the directors shall be a natural person of not less than 18 and 
not more than 75 years’ old.

• It also provides that the chairman of the Board shall not be older than 70 years old and shall 
hold office for a period of five years and may, at the term of his office, be re-elected by the 
Board for a further period of five years or such other term as may be determined by simple 
majority of the Board. Mr. Jean-Pierre Dalais is chairing the Board since 13 February 2017. 
His mandate has been reconvened for a further five in February 2022, expiring in  
February 2027.

• The Corporate Governance, Ethics, Nomination & Remuneration Committee recommends 
all new appointments on the Board and committees. Skills, knowledge, industry experience, 
diversity and independence are important factors that are being considered prior to 
recommending any appointment.

Step 2 • The Board assumes its responsibility for the appointment and the induction of new directors, 
which is facilitated by the Group Company Secretary.

• Board approval - The directors have power at any time, and from time to time, to appoint any 
person to-be a director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing directors 
but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed the number fixed in 
accordance with this constitution.

• The director appointed to fill up the vacancy or as an addition to the existing directors shall hold 
office only until the next annual meeting of shareholders and shall then be eligible  
for re-election.

• Mr. Vincent Ménez was appointed director by the Board on 26 May 2023 in replacement of  
Mr. Olivier Riché. Mr. Ménez is a non-executive director and representative of Di Cirne HLT Ltd 
on the Board. His nomination will be submitted for approval by the shareholders of the 
Company at the annual meeting.

Step 3 • Induction process which comprises of a work session with the Chairman of the Board and the 
Executive directors. Site visits are also organised for newly appointed directors.

• Directors have unrestricted access to the Company’s records.  
• Directors are made aware of their legal duties upon their appointment and are reminded of 

same annually when asked to update the register of interests. Several documents and policies 
have also been implemented to guide them, namely the code of conduct, conflict of interest/
related party transactions policy, share dealings policy and board charter.

Step 4 • Board nomination submitted for approval by the shareholders at Annual Meeting (“AM”). 
Directors are also re-elected annually at the AM by way of separate resolutions.

• Directors over the age of 70 are appointed at the AM in accordance with section 138(6) of the 
Companies Act 2001.

Professional Development
As part of their duties, it is critical for directors to have a thorough knowledge of the environment within which the Group 
operate. Directors continuously receive information on the industry, benchmarks to industry players, tourism statistics, 
Tripadvisor’s trends etc., as part of the Board packs. Apart from these, no training has been offered to the directors.

Conflict of Interests/Related Party Transactions Policy & Share Dealing Policy
Transactions with related parties are disclosed in the financial statements. SUN’s Conflict of Interest/Related Party 
Transactions Policy ensures that the deliberations and decisions made by SUN are transparent and in the best interests 
of the Company. It also aims to protect the interests of the Officers from any appearance of impropriety and to ensure 
compliance with statutory disclosures and law. Notwithstanding the above, directors of SUN are also invited by the 
company secretary, on an annual basis, to notify the Company of any direct and interest in any transactions or proposed 
transaction with the Company. Declarations made by the directors are entered in the interests’ register which is 
maintained by the company secretary, and which is available for inspection by the shareholders upon written request to 
the company secretary. 
The directors ensure that their dealings in the shares of the Company are conducted in accordance with the principles of 
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, as detailed in Appendix 6 of Listing Rules 
of the SEM. In that spirit, the Board has approved a Share Dealing Policy that reiterates the procedures to provide clear 
guidance to the directors and officers of SUN on the practice to be followed when dealing in shares of the Company to 
avoid the abuse of price-sensitive information (insider dealing). Directors are strictly prohibited to deal in shares of the 
Company during close periods.
Amendments to the above policies were approved by the Board during the financial year (Definitions’ section and 
reporting procedures being the main changes). These policies can be consulted on SUN’s website.

Succession Planning
The Board assumes its responsibility for succession planning which is a systematic effort and process of identifying and 
developing candidates for key leadership positions over time to ensure the continuity of management and leadership in 
an organisation. The objective of succession planning is to ensure that the organisation continues to operate successfully 
when individuals occupying critical positions and hard to replace competencies depart. As part of its terms of reference, 
the Corporate Governance, Ethics, Nomination & Remuneration Committee has reviewed the succession plan for  
key executives of the Group. Top 20 roles, the Senior Management team, were, in the first place identified to kick-start the 
succession planning process as part of a long-term initiative to prepare potential candidates. The job incumbents in the 
current Top 20 roles (except the new recruits) went through an evaluation exercise in view of assessing their potentials 
as well as understanding their ambitions to better address their personal/ career development plan. The outcome of this 
exercise has also been considered.
The following was also carried out:
• a Talent Management Review in collaboration with the General Managers in Business Units (for employees at Head of 

Department level); and
• a career chat with the Head of Departments, both to understand their ambitions and as career counselling. The output 

of this exercise was also considered in the identification of the successors.
The successors are identified in 4 categories, namely:

Emergency The individual is ready to step into the role/job/position in case of an emergency vacancy but 
may not be the most suitable successor long-term. Typically oversees role for 3-6 months pending 
permanent replacement.

Ready Now This indicates that this employee was in the highest level of readiness and could transition into the 
role with minimal development.

Ready C+1 The employee would be ready for the role within the next two to three years and may include one 
additional role or assignment for development purposes.

Ready C+2 The employee will be ready for the role in 3 to 5 years and may include one or two additional roles 
or assignments for development purposes.
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Remuneration Policy
The underlying philosophy is to set remuneration at the right level to attract, retain and motivate high caliber personnel 
and reward in alignment with their individual as well as joint contribution towards the achievement of SUN’s objective 
and performance, whilst taking into consideration the current market conditions and the Company’s financial position.  
The directors are remunerated for their knowledge, experience and insight given to the Board and Committee. The fees 
paid to the directors are submitted to the Board’s approval upon recommendation from the Corporate Governance, 
Ethics, and Nomination & Remuneration Committee. There are no established policies for remunerating executive 
directors approaching retirement. This will be determined by the Board as and when required.

Remuneration of the Directors 
The following table depicts the fees paid to Non-Executive Directors for their involvement during the year under review. 

Non-Executive Directors Board  
Fees (Rs)

Audit & Risk 
Committee 

Fees (Rs)

Corporate 
Governance, 

Ethics, 
Nomination & 
Remuneration 

Committee 
Fees (Rs)

Investment 
Committee 

Fees (Rs)

Total Fees 
(Gross – Rs)

Jean-Pierre Dalais 
(Chairman), Note 1

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

P. Arnaud Dalais 150,000 NIL 125,000 NIL 275,000

Guillaume Dalais, Note 1 75,000 NIL NIL NIL 75,000

R. Thierry Dalais 150,000 NIL NIL NIL 150,000

L. J. Jérôme  
De Chasteauneuf, Note 1

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

Hélène Echevin 150,000 NIL NIL NIL 150,000

J. Harold Mayer 150,000 NIL NIL NIL 150,000

Mushtaq N. Oosman 200,000 440,000 125,000 NIL 765,000

Olivier Riché/Vincent 
Ménez, Note 2

150,000 NIL 125,000 NIL 275,000

Jean-Louis Savoye, Note 2 150,000 175,000 NIL NIL 300,000

Pierre Vaquier 200,000 NIL NIL 350,000 550,000

Naderasen Pillay Veerasamy 200,000 175,000 275,000 NIL 650,000

Note 1: Messrs. Jean-Pierre Dalais and L. J. Jérôme De Chasteauneuf are remunerated by CIEL Corporate Services Ltd (“CCS”), which 
holds a service agreement with SUN for the provision of strategic support & Group strategy harmonisation, legal, company secretarial 
and payroll services. They therefore do not perceive Board and Committee fees from SUN. Mr. Guillaume Dalais has been nominated 
Deputy Group Chief Executive of CIEL effective on 01 January 2023, also remunerated by CCS; he has thus perceived directors’ fees 
only for the period 01 July 2022 to 31 December 2022.

Note 2: Payment to Di Cirne HLT Ltd.

The remuneration and benefits payable for the financial year ended 30 June 2023 to the Executive Directors – namely  
Mr. Francois Eynaud, CEO and Mr. Tommy Wong Yun Shing – Chief Finance Officer, are made up of the following 
components: a basic salary representing an average of 37% of the remuneration, a performance bonus representing 
54% of same and the difference of 9% comprised pension contributions and other benefits. The total amount payable of 
Rs. 71.5M, is split between the CEO and the CFO 49% and 51% respectively.

To retain and reward its executives while strengthening the mutuality of interests between the latter and the Company, 
executive directors are entitled to a long-term incentive plan, the details of which are included under note 21(b) of the 
financial statements.
Non-executive directors have not received remuneration in the form of share options or bonuses associated with the 
Company’s performance.
None of the Directors of SUN perceived remuneration from subsidiaries of the Company. In addition to directors’ fees, 
directors are encouraged to experience SUN’s resorts and quality standards to assess management’s performance 
and receive an annual hotel and golf allowance. Unused allocations during the year are not carried forward to the  
following year.

Board Evaluation
A board effectiveness survey was launched by BDO during the 2022 financial year (in association with Board 
Benchmarking) following a tender exercise for the selection of the consultant. The answers were benchmarked by their 
international database and SUN scored a 76% board effectiveness index. The consultant also tracked the progress 
achieved on past surveys and defined actions have been earmarked for implementation over the next financial year.  
The Board believes that the assignment can be carried out every 2-3 years.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
A liability insurance cover for directors and officers has been subscribed for by SUN and its subsidiaries, as part of the 
CIEL Group insurance cover.

AUDIT & RISK OVERSIGHT AND EFFECTIVENESS
Risk Governance and Risk Management Framework Overview
Risk landscapes have continued to evolve at a rapid pace, necessitating proactive and robust risk management 
frameworks and practices.
SUN’s pursuit of financial stability and performance depends on effective risk management structures, which incorporate 
best practices into the company’s strategy, decision-making and risk culture. SUN’s risk management strategy is 
distinguished by clear governance structures, stringent policy implementation and clearly articulated mandates through 
a Risk Management Framework.

Risk Governance
The Board bears ultimate responsibility for managing risks and is assisted in the discharge of duties by the Audit & Risk 
Committee (“ARC”) which has oversight responsibility for matters relating to risk. The Risk, Compliance and Quality 
Assurance function enforces the effective execution of risk management in line with the Risk Management Framework.
The SUN ARC has risk management on all of its meeting agendas which are held every quarter. The following are reviewed 
and discussed by the ARC with management:
• The latest versions of the risk heat maps and detailed risk registers at the resort and group levels
• Movements in inherent and residual risk rankings from one quarter to another
• New emerging risks and proposed responses 
• The implementation status of agreed upon remedial actions needed to contain risks within tolerable level
The ARC thereby satisfies itself that the Risk Management Framework of SUN is being operated effectively and  
that management responses to risks are appropriate.
The ARC requests the internal auditors to perform occasional reviews of the Risk Management practices of SUN to 
independently assess the effectiveness of these practices in managing risks.  The ARC monitors timely and effective 
implementation of any remedial actions resulting from these reviews. 
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Risk Management Framework
The risk management system of SUN consists of systems, policies and procedures structured to identify, monitor and 
mitigate the risks specific to the industry in which it operates. Periodic assessment and review of this system by the  
Risk Compliance and Quality Assurance Team ensures adequacy and adherence. 
In the current business environment, change has become the norm rather than the exception. By effectively managing 
threats to the business, particularly the major threats that may affect its business plans and strategic objectives, SUN is 
able to protect as well as enhance its key assets. 
This involves anticipating or detecting changes in its risk landscape as they happen and adapting responses where 
necessary. Actions required to manage these risks are determined, accountability and timelines for completion assigned 
and timely and effective completion monitored on a regular basis. These activities combined with SUN’s three lines of 
defence framework provide reasonable assurance in the effective management of risk.
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SUN’s three lines of defence framework

Risk Management Methodology
SUN identifies and ranks its risks by involving senior and middle management in an annual structured process facilitated 
by the Risk Compliance and Quality Assurance Team. This process identifies and ranks risks from both bottom up  
(at the level of individual resorts, individual departments) and top down (group level) perspectives. Risks are ranked in 
terms of priority using the following protocol:

1
Rare

2
Unlikely

3
Possible

4
Likely

5
Expected

Likelihood

Im
pa

ct

5 10 15 20 255
Catastrophic

4 8 12 16 204
Major

3 9 12 153
Moderate

6 8 102
Minor

1 2 3 4 51
Insignificant

6

42

The same approach is adopted for identifying and ranking the effectiveness of existing controls that mitigate the  
risks identified. The effectiveness of controls in mitigating risks is expressed using the following protocol:

Score Rating Occurrence in Future

1 Low
There is an urgent need to mitigate the risk exposure as the exsiting controls are weak and 
insufficient to prevent its occurrence

1.5 Low - 
Medium

There is a need to mitigate the risk exposure as the existing controls are not strong enough and 
recurrrence may occur

2 Medium
The existing controls in place address part of the risk identified and must be addressed in the 
short term in order to reduce the probability of the occurrence of the risk

2.5 Medium - 
High

The existing controls in place adress most of the risk to reduce the propability of the occurrence 
of the risk and there is a need to consider reinforcing the existing controls in medium term

3 High
The existing controls in place are sufficient to prevent the occurrence of the risk and there is no 
need to consider reinforcing the existing controls

The involvement of the entire management team in this risk assessment exercise assists in ensuring the broadest sets of 
perspectives is captured, thereby delivering a balanced view of risks and controls.
This approach allows SUN to understand both the inherent risks (being risks before controls operate) and the residual risks 
(being risks that are left after controls have operated) it is exposed to. This in turn allows it to determine any additional 
actions it needs to take to further mitigate risks to within tolerable levels.
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Risk Management Methodology (Cont’d)
The outcome of the above annual exercise is documented in risk heat maps and detailed risk registers at the resort 
and group levels. These serve as inputs not only for management decisions, but for budgeting purposes to ensure that 
resources are allocated to remedial actions needed to contain risks within tolerable levels.
The Risk Compliance and Quality Assurance Team reviews and updates these risk heat maps and detailed risk registers 
every quarter to ensure they factor in any changes to the risk universe of SUN, and any changes in the perceived 
effectiveness of mitigating controls.  

Main Risks
The table describes the main risks to which the Group believes it is exposed and the mitigating controls in place to 
manage these risks. There are other risks that could impact the Group that are not detailed below, either because they are 
not currently perceived as material or because they might not be presently known.

Risk Risk Description Mitigation Measures

IR1
Volatility in Source Markets due to 
External Shocks

Geographical tensions are becoming 
a larger source of disruptions and 
are expected to impact key  
source markets.

The risk of economic crisis in source 
market adversely affecting the 
propensity to travel.

The attractiveness of the Mauritian 
destination faces tough competition 
with other regional destinations,  
that could potentially have an 
adverse impact on the local 
hospitality sector. The Group’s 
business will continue to carry a 
level of uncertainty.

• SUN is constantly looking to 
diversify the geographical source 
of its markets to have a wider 
mix of nationalities and reduce 
dependency on any specific ones.

• SUN collaborates closely with 
Government, AHRIM and Tour 
Operators for timely and up to date 
information for decision  
making purposes.

• SUN’s efforts are coordinated with 
the relevant regulatory authorities 
to revitalise the national  
marketing strategy.

• SUN is constantly evolving its 
business model to be agile and 
lean to allow it to respond to 
shocks in a nimble manner.

IR2
Attraction and Retention of Skilled 
Employees

The risk of not being able to 
attract and retain sufficient skilled 
employees, adversely affecting 
service level and impacting  
guest experience. 

This is an ongoing challenge in the 
hospitality industry. The younger 
generations are less and less keen 
to join the hotel sector.

• A comprehensive onboarding 
program has been developed.

• A mentoring plan is applied for 
all new recruits.

• A complete review of recruitment 
and selection strategies has been 
undertaken, and lessons  
learnt applied.

• SUN is exploring alternative 
sources of labour (e.g., foreign 
labour).

IR3
Volatility of exchange rates

The risk that the continued 
fluctuation of the exchange rate 
resulting in revenue loss.

• Hedging of foreign exchange risk.
• Financial liability and revenue 

currency matching.

IR4
Cyber Security

The risk of cyber-attacks, resulting 
in disruption to activities, reputation 
damage and financial losses.

This risk has been compounded by 
the increased level of  
remote working.

• An independent third-party 
cyber security assessment was 
conducted and recommendations 
implemented.

• A well-defined cyber security 
incident response process is  
in place.

• Implementation of new firewalls 
with ZTNA function is in progress.

• MFA (Multi factor Authentication) 
has been configured on all key 
users accounts. 

• Group level initiatives are ongoing 
to train employees and create 
staff awareness on the importance 
of maintaining information 
security and handling of sensitive 
information. 

IR5
Guest Safety

The risk of significant food and 
health and safety incidents adversely 
impacting the Group’s reputation. 

• Implementation of international 
food and health and safety 
standards.

• Monitoring and ensuring that 
health and safety policies are 
adequate and duly implemented. 

• Independent periodic audits are 
conducted by internal teams and 
any gaps identified are addressed. 

IR6
Political and Social Unrest

The risk that political/social unrest 
and terrorism incidents in Mauritius 
or the surrounding region result in 
missed performance targets.

• Business contingency plans are 
in place and regularly tested.

• Adequate insurance cover is 
available for political unrest 
and terrorism.

IR7
Climate Change

The risk that adverse consequences 
of natural disasters and inclement 
weather affect the sustainability  
of SUN. 

• Regular fire, tsunami and cyclone 
drills are conducted at business 
units to enforce readiness.

• Business continuity plans are in 
place and regularly tested.

• Adequate insurance cover is 
available for operating losses 
resulting from property damage 
and business interruption.
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Main Risks (Cont’d)

IR8
Responding to Evolving  
needs of Guests

The risk that SUN does not 
capitalise on rapidly evolving needs 
of travellers, resulting in missed 
opportunities to improve market 
share and business performance. 

• Rebranding in October 2022 and 
creating unique experiences for 
guests for each resort. 

• Product and rate positioning are 
constantly refined to correspond 
with the value proposition of  
each resort.

IR9
Credit

The risk of customers defaulting on 
payments, resulting in losses.

• Stringent credit policy and 
procedures in place. 

• Boosting the B2C channel by 
constantly promoting e-commerce 
and improving the website.

• Credit insurance cover being 
reinforced.

• Close ongoing monitoring and 
chasing of amounts due for timely 
settlement by tour operators.

• Regular review of Credit limits 
allocated to tour operators.

IR10
Compliance

The risk of non-compliance to 
regulatory obligations and guidelines, 
resulting in an adverse impact on the 
reputation and sustainability of  
the Group.

• Policies, procedures and 
controls in place to reduce risk of 
non compliance.

• A yearly compliance assessment 
is performed. 

• Compliance training is conducted 
on a regular basis. 

Risk Heat Map
The above-mentioned risks are summarised in a risk heat map to indicate their respective ratings using the previously 
mentioned rating protocols, whereby both the inherent and the residual risks are captured below.
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External Audit 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd (“PwC”) is the external auditor of SUN and its subsidiaries and was first appointed in 
December 2017. Under Section 200 of the Companies Act 2001, their automatic reappointment is submitted for approval 
by the shareholders at the annual meeting.
The ARC monitors and approves the fees paid to the external auditor for all audit and non-audit services. The ARC 
gives the adequate comfort to the Board that PwC has the relevant policies in place with clear guidelines to ensure that 
its independence and objectivity as external auditor of the Company/Group is preserved. In that respect, the external 
auditor limits the scope of services it may provide to the Company and its subsidiaries, stipulating certain permissible 
types of audit-related and non-audit services, including tax services and other services that have been agreed by 
management and validated by the ARC. A separate team of PwC conducts the non-auditing services extended to SUN, 
for transparency and governance best practices.
The external auditor, whose audit report is included in the financial statements of SUN, is responsible for providing 
an independent opinion on these financial statements. The external audit function offers reasonable assurance on 
the fair presentation of the financial statements. Pursuant to the revised International Standards on Auditing, ISA 701, 
the auditor’s report also includes the key audit matters which are those matters that, in their professional judgement, 
are of the most significance in the audit of the financial statements.
These key audit matters, including any change in accounting principles, have been discussed and reviewed at a 
special ARC meeting of SUN in August 2023 with the members of the ARC in the presence of the management team, 
to ensure that there was a mutual understanding between SUN’s team and PwC’s team as to the relevant accounting  
treatments/principles, prior to finalising the audited accounts.
The external auditor is then invited to present its final report as well as to brief the members on the management 
letter points and the key audit matters at the ARC meeting convened for the review of the final draft of the audited 
accounts of SUN. The external auditor is also present at the annual meeting of shareholders of SUN for any queries from  
the shareholders.
The Company Secretary confirms that the ARC members meet with the external auditor, once a year, without management 
being present, to discuss the auditor’s remit and any issues arising from the audit.
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Internal Audit 
The Internal audit function provides independent assurance to the Board and other key stakeholders over the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls, the governance model, and the Enterprise-wide  
Risk Management Framework. The internal auditor of the Company is Ernst & Young Limited (“EY”) which was reconducted 
for a second mandate of 3 years, as approved by the Board of SUN on 15 June 2021.
EY conducts risk based internal audit reviews at both operational and corporate level as per an agreed audit plan and 
reports systematically to the ARC. Plans and tools for corrective actions and improvements are identified with the 
management team to address any shortfalls arising from the audit findings. 
To ensure that the internal auditor remains independent and sufficiently objective, and meets its responsibilities, 
the internal audit team reports functionally to the ARC and administratively to the management team of SUN. The internal 
auditors have unrestricted access to the Company’s records and information, its employees and the management team 
as required, to enable them to deliver effectively.
The internal auditor also conducts follow-up reviews on those audit exercises conducted to ensure that the necessary 
remedial action points have been duly implemented. In addition to areas covered by the annual internal audit plan,  
the ARC may request the internal auditors to review other areas it requires insights on. 
The internal audit function adds value to SUN by helping management answer the following key questions related to the 
areas reviewed by the internal auditors:
• What risks are we exposed to? 
• How effective are our controls in containing the key risks?
• What are the root causes of the control gaps observed?
• What do we need to do to better contain these risks?
• How can we make better use of what we have?
• How can we do things better?
• How can we build resilience?
• How do we compare to others?
• What are the leading practices we could adopt?

The framework adopted by the internal audit function is summarised as below:

Interviews with key stakeholders and 
management to discuss business areas, 

compliance and risk

Risk Assessment 
and IA Planning 

Conduct of 
Internal 

Audit Visit

Conduct of 
Follow Up 

Visit

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Detailed Planning 
and Scoping

Detailed Planning 
and Scoping

• Submit Internal Audit
Plan for approval

• Revisit and update
Internal Audit Plan

• Present status in
executing the plan

• Respond to ad-hoc
requests from the ARC

• Present outcomes
of internal audit 
recommendations 
and insights

Core Delivery Framework

Risk
Assessment Fieldwork Fieldwork

Review, Analyse, 
Benchmark

Review, Analyse, 
Benchmark

Reporting Reporting

Challenge 
and Review

Risk Register 
& Internal 
Audit Plan

Audit needs 
assessment

Risk 
Appetite/ 
Tolerance

Strategy / 
Stakeholders

Project Management

Preparation of the internal audit plan involves conducting a risk assessment exercise at Group and entity levels to identify 
and rank the main risks they are exposed to, and thereby identify what areas need to be audited and in what order 
of priority. Highly ranked risks that have corresponding auditable controls are typically prioritised for being audited.  
This exercise involves collaboration amongst the members of the ARC, the internal audit function and management to 
draw out consensus on what are material risks areas that warrant attention from the internal auditors. 
The internal audit function typically executes its internal audit assignments through the following 5 main phases 
consistent with its methodology, which is simultaneously aligned to the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) standards and 
leading internal audit practices.
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Internal Audit (Cont’d)

Meet with appointed 
contact person to 
agree on audit project 
scope, objective and 
communication 
protocols

Confirm appropriate 
resources required 
to execute the audit 
program

Agree audit timelines

Mobilise  the project 
team and assign roles

Confirmed scope 
and objectives

Project schedule, 
plan and timelines

Audit program 
including RACM

Audit Working Papers 
and supporting 
documents

Preliminary 
List of Issues

Draft Audit Report

Final Audit Report 
including management 
actions

Follow-up Report 
including the status 
for each action plan 
within the issued 
reports

Close comments and 
agree with 
management on 
content of draft report

Collect management 
comments and 
remediation actions, 
and include these 
in the internal 
audit report

Finalise the report and 
release

Conduct 
understanding 
interviews and 
review key business 
documentation

Formulate audit 
programs including 
risk and control 
matrices (RACM)

Assess the design 
of controls through 
interviews with 
relevant personnel, 
review of process 
documentation and 
‘walkthrough’ of 
the control

Assess the 
effectiveness of 
controls in operation 
via execution of the 
test work program

Agree with 
management timing 
for follow-up audits

Agree which 
remediation actions 
have been 
implemented 
to date and plan 
to independently 
confirm that these are 
operating effectively

Interview relevant 
management for 
status update inquiry 
and determine 
required test

Verify that action 
plans for each finding 
have been 
implemented

Verify reasons for 
failing to implement 
any action plans and 
recommend way 
forward to close out 
any remaining issues

Review and analyse 
findings from 
fieldwork conducted

For issues identified, 
perform root cause 
analysis and impact 
analysis to understand 
the materiality and 
‘why’ the issue has 
occurred

Identify any 
compensating controls 
associated with the 
preliminary findings

Draft the report in 
a pre-agreed format 
and structure
 
Submit draft report 
to management for 
preliminary comments 
and validation

Plan and 
Scope
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Remedial actions to address findings are identified with the relevant management teams, who assign responsibility and a 
deadline to each action in order to enforce accountability for remediating these gaps. The internal auditor also conducts 
desktop follow-up reviews on those audit exercises conducted to ensure that the necessary remedial actions have been 
duly and effectively implemented.
EY has a specialist team of internal auditors in Mauritius who are part of a larger multi-disciplinary consulting team,  
which it leverages to ensure that the internal audits conducted at SUN are resourced with the appropriate mix of 
experience, knowledge and skills. Members of this team are university graduates who hold recognised international 
qualifications in their respective fields (e.g., ACCA, Institute of Chartered Accountants of England & Wales, Certified 
Internal Auditors (CIA), Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA), Certified in Risk and Information Systems Control 
(CRISC)). This team is able to advise SUN on improvements needed, and share leading practices based on first-hand 
experience of working across many geographies for EY clients. Members of this specialist team are continuously trained 
in leading practices related to internal audit.
EY maintains the independence and objectivity of its staff who are part of the internal audit team through strict  
EY independence related policies that apply to all staff, regular training and awareness raising on these subjects,  
as well as regular verification of the compliance of partners and executives with EY independence related policies.

The internal auditor introduced surprise spot checks in its audit plan for the FY 30 June 2022 to assess the extent 
to which control owners were operating baseline controls effectively following a long period of relative inactivity due  
to closed borders and pandemic related lockdowns. 
The following audit reviews were carried out and analysed at the ARC meetings during the year under review:
• Inventory reviews at Sugar Beach Resort, Ambre Resort and La Pirogue Resort
• Maintenance reviews at Long Beach Resort and Sugar Beach Resort
• Food & Beverage (F&B) reviews at Sugar Beach Resort and Ambre Resort
• Payroll reviews at La Pirogue Resort, Long Beach Resort, Sugar Beach Resort and Ambre Resort
• Benchmarking review for procured items at Long Beach Resort and Sugar Beach Resort
• Cloud maturity assessment review

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS, STAKEHOLDERS, SUSTAINABILITY 
AND INCLUSIVENESS
Shareholding Structure as at 30 June 2023
Issued share capital as at 30 June 2023: 194,545,072 no par value ordinary shares, including 20,181,046 treasury shares.

Substantial Shareholders as at 30 June 2023

Shareholders holding more than 5% of the stated capital of SUN as at 30 June 2023 were:

Number of Shares Owned % Holding

Name of Shareholder (Excluding Treasury Shares)

CIEL Limited 87,387,690 50.12

Di Cirne HLT Ltd 30,558,768 17.53

Common Directors within the Holding Structure as at 30 June 2023

Name of Directors of SUN CIEL Limited Di Cirne HLT Ltd

P. Arnaud Dalais √*

Jean-Pierre Dalais √

Guillaume Dalais √

R. Thierry Dalais √

L. J. Jérôme De Chasteauneuf √

J. Harold Mayer √

Vincent Ménez Nominee

Jean-Louis Savoye √ √
*Chairman

Shares in Public Hands
In accordance with the Listing Rules of the SEM, more than 25% of the shareholding of SUN is in the hands of the public.

Shareholders’ Agreements
CIEL Limited, Dentressangle Initiatives SAS and Di Cirne HLT Ltd have entered into a shareholders’ agreement to regulate 
their respective rights and obligations in respect of their shareholdings in SUN (usual reserved matters, dividend policy, 
lock up period of 4 years, tag along and drag along rights).
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Related Party Agreements 
• SUN holds an agreement with CCS (a subsidiary of CIEL Limited) for the provision of strategic support & group strategy 

harmonisation, legal and company secretarial to the companies of the Group. An amount of Rs. 30.78m was paid to CCS 
for the financial year. This fee also covers the time allocation dedicated to SUN by executive directors of CIEL, who are 
currently employed by CCS. 

• SUN holds a treasury agreement with Azur Financial Services Ltd (a subsidiary of CIEL Limited) for the provision of 
cash management services, treasury advisory services and foreign exchange & money market brokerage services to 
the Group. SUN pays a fixed monthly fee for the cash management together with a variable fee, based on the volume 
of intercompany transactions processed by Azur Financial Services Ltd for SUN. An amount of Rs. 2.40m was paid to 
Azur Financial Services Ltd for the financial year.

Shareholders’ Information and Calendar of Events

Event Month

Publication of first quarter results to 30 September November

Annual Meeting of shareholders December

Publication of half-yearly results to 31 December February

Publication of third-quarter results to 31 March May

Publication of end-of-year results September
During the financial year, shareholders were convened at the annual meeting on 14 December 2022. The notices, including 
the agenda, were published in the press, in line with statutory requirements. The resolutions submitted to the approval of 
the shareholders were all approved by the requisite majority.

Group Structure as at 30 June 2023

100% GreenSun Management Ltd

100% Wolmar Sun Hotels Ltd

99.82% City & Beach Hotels (Mtius) Ltd

99.96% Loisirs des Iles Ltée

100% Sun Leisure Hotels Ltd

100% Long Beach IHS Ltd

100% SRL Property Ltd

99.89% Sun Leisure Investments Ltd

74% SRL Touessrok Hotel Ltd

100% SRL Touessrok Residences & Villas Ltd

100% Washright Services Ltd

100% Sun Styled Boutiques Ltd

100% CTL Retail Ltd

100% Sun Resorts International Ltd

50% Solea Vacances SA

100% World Leisure Holidays (Pty) Ltd

100% Sun Resorts France Sarl

100% SRL Maldives Ltd

50% Anahita Hotel Limited 12.23% Anahita Golf Ltd

30% EastCoast Hotel Investment Ltd 99.99% Armand Apavou & Co Ltd

100% SRL FS, Ltd 50% Anahita Hotel Limited

100% Sun Hotel Holdings Ltd 100% Ambre Resort Ltd

100% Long Beach Resort Ltd

100%  Hotel Management Ltd 100% Sun International Management Ltd 100% SRL Marketing Ltd

100% Sun Hotels & Resorts GmbH 100% Sun Support Ltd 100% Supply Chain Experts Ltd

100% Sun Training Institute Ltd

100% Sun Resorts CSR Fund Ltd

100% SRL Touessrok IHS Villas Ltd

Notes: 
SRL Touessrok IHS Villas Ltd was incorporated on 26 July 2022.
SRL Kanuhura Limited was liquidated on 14 June 2023. 
SRL Management Limited was liquidated on 19 January 2023.
Sun Logistics Ltd was amalgamated with and into Loisirs des Iles Ltée on 01 February 2023. 
Sun Resorts Hotel Management Ltd changed its name to Sunlife Hotel Management Ltd on 14 October 2022.
Post Balance Sheet:
SRL Maldives Ltd was struck off from the Registrar of Companies on 28 August 2023



66  |  Sun Limited Annual Report  |  67

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF SUN LIMITED 
(“SUN” or “the Company”)
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 (CONT’D)

Key Stakeholders
SUN is committed to engage actively with its stakeholders to meet their expectations and interests in an effective and 
efficient manner. SUN’s key stakeholders and the way it has responded to their expectations are described below:

Shareholders SUN communicates to its shareholders through its annual report, annual meeting of shareholders 
(“AMS”), press announcements, publication of unaudited quarterly, audited abridged financial 
statements and its website hosted at https://www.yoursunlife.com.
The Company’s AMS remains foremost the ideal platform for shareholders to interact with 
Board members and the management team on matters pertaining to SUN and its performance. 
Shareholders are strongly encouraged to attend the AMS to remain updated on SUN’s initiatives/
projects and goals.
Notices of shareholders’ meetings are posted/emailed to the shareholders within 21 days of 
holding the meetings and include the resolutions to be transacted at the said meetings. Notices 
are also posted on SUN’s website by virtue of Listing Rule 11.16 and Rule 14(a) of the Securities 
(Disclosure Obligations of Reporting Issuers) Rules 2007. The minutes of proceedings of the last 
AMS are available for inspection by the shareholders who may also opt for a copy by written 
request to the Company Secretary, CIEL Corporate Services Ltd, 5th Floor, Ebène Skies,  
Rue de l’Institut, Ebène.

Financial 
Partners

Communication with financial institutions and the financial community in general usually takes 
places through investor meetings on a semi-annual basis following the publication of the quarterly 
abridged results. The main recurring topic of discussion is financial performance.

Regulators SUN’s business activities are conditional on regulatory requirements meaning that regulators have 
a high level of influence and interest in the Company’s operations. The Company ensures that it 
complies with regulatory provisions and guidelines in the conduct of its activities.

Employees of 
the Group

SUN recognises that its workforce is key to its performance and development. During the year, 
an employee engagement survey has been launched within specific clusters of the Group which 
provides the basis for improvements in some areas.

Dividend
On 12 June 2023, SUN declared a dividend of Rs. 2.00 per ordinary share to all shareholders registered at close of 
business on 29 June 2023, in respect of the financial year.

Share Price Information
Development of SUN’s share price versus SEMDEX - indexed on share price of Rs. 25.75 on 1 July 2022.
Shares of SUN were traded ex-dividend as from 27 June 2023.
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Information, Information Technology and Information Security Governance 
Board Information: The Chairman, with the assistance of the company secretary, ensures that directors receive the 
necessary information for them to perform their duties and that the Board has sufficient time for consultation and 
decision-making. The use of an online board portal facilitates this process.
Information Technology Policy: There are formalised Information Technology and Information Security Policies in 
place currently at SUN. An IT Steering Committee (“ITSC”) composed of representatives of management ensures 
that companies within the Group are involved in critical information technology decision-making which are based on 
organisational goals. The ITSC meets at the digital and IT Forum on a yearly basis, at which, major information technology 
investments are considered for approval. A budget for information technology is allocated annually, based on business 
needs for the financial year. A clear process has been determined to drive information technology projects from 
start to end, while adopting a cost/time effective approach.
EU General Data Protections Regulations (“EU GDPR”): SUN is committed in protecting the privacy, confidentiality and 
security of personal information of individuals and it is critical for it to maintain the trust of its employees, customers, 
service providers, partners and all relevant stakeholders. SUN has therefore implemented a Data Privacy Policy  
(the ‘Policy’) to ensure that all personal information which it processes is protected in accordance with the Mauritius Data 
Protection Act and any other applicable laws and regulations. The Policy ensures that SUN manages data privacy risks, 
maintains and continuously improves its data privacy culture and promotes the safeguarding of personal information.  
It also aims to guarantee that SUN processes personal information in a lawful and reasonable manner, thus ensuring that 
SUN is protected from reputational damage, fines and penalties. SUN has published on its website a Privacy Notice which 
details how it collects and processes personal information.
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Directors’ Interests in the Shareholding of the Company as at 30 June 2023 

Direct Number of Ordinary Shares Indirect Number of Ordinary Shares

Jean-Pierre Dalais (Chairman) 192,301 222,966

P. Arnaud Dalais 139,273 23,656

Guillaume Dalais Nil 23,656

R. Thierry Dalais Nil Nil

L. J. Jérôme De Chasteauneuf Nil Nil

Hélène Echevin Nil 46,200

Francois Eynaud 1,000 Nil

J. Harold Mayer 349,829 Nil

Vincent Ménez Nil Nil

Mushtaq N. Oosman Nil Nil

Jean-Louis Savoye Nil Nil

Pierre Vaquier Nil Nil

Naderasen Pillay Veerasamy Nil Nil

Tommy Wong Yun Shing 237,5001 133,328

Transactions during the  
FY 30 June 2023

Number of Ordinary Shares 
Acquired/(Disposed of) Directly

Number of Ordinary Shares 
Acquired/(Disposed of) Indirectly

Hélène Echevin - 46,200

Tommy Wong Yun Shing (10,500) 39,100

Note: 1. 237,500 ordinary shares held under an Executive Share Scheme, pledged in favour of SUN

Sustainability 
SUN has maintained a steadfast commitment to its environmental and societal responsibilities within the locations 
where it operates in Mauritius. The Group has diligently assumed a pivotal role in safeguarding the island’s ecosystems.  
This dedication is concretely manifested through a comprehensive sustainability initiative, devised to preserve the 
island’s natural, cultural, and historical heritage, serving the interests of both present and forthcoming generations.
The distinct vulnerabilities of Mauritius as a small island nation have rendered it susceptible to the repercussions of 
climate change. Recent years have brought forth unmistakable evidence of this phenomenon, exemplified by heightened 
instances of shoreline erosion, coral bleaching, and intensified rainfall patterns. Against this backdrop, SUN has pledged 
to elevate its sustainability pursuits beyond mere compliance, charitable contributions, or superficial gestures.
To fulfill this commitment, SUN aligns its endeavours with the three core pillars embraced by the CIEL Group:
• Championing comprehensive growth
• Activating measures against climate challenges
• Nurturing a dynamic workforce
Beyond mere reduction of environmental impact, SUN sets forth ambitious objectives designed to instigate profound and 
far-reaching effects on the environment, as well as on its stakeholders. The Sunlife Children Cancer Trust, established 
in 2008 in response to the diagnosis of an employee’s child, stands as an early manifestation of this aspiration,  
providing adequate healthcare and treatment to children battling cancer.
Several enduring initiatives have been initiated to empower our communities. Notable examples include coral farming 
and the cultivation of endemic trees, both aimed at restoring ecosystems to their former vitality. Similarly, the Smart 
Climate Agriculture project exemplifies one of numerous endeavours encouraging local communities to embrace farming 
as a pivotal source of sustenance and income, thereby fostering resilience.
To promulgate enduring transformation, SUN ingrains sustainable practices across all dimensions of its operations, 
ranging from strategic deliberations to daily conduct and interactions with clients. As active participants in the UN Global 
Compact and signatories of the CEO Water Mandate, our practices adhere to the highest global benchmarks, including 
the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).
SUN’s dedicated efforts have been recently acknowledged through numerous accolades, notably the 2023 award for  
Best Sustainable Hotel, conferred jointly by the Mauritian Ministry of Tourism and the Ministry of Environment. La Pirogue, 
Long Beach, and Sugar Beach have all earned distinction as EarthCheck Silver and Travellife Gold Certified properties.
Acknowledging that sustainability constitutes an ongoing voyage, SUN remains steadfast in its commitment to contribute 
to the establishment of a more ecologically sound and inclusive world.
This report has been approved by the Board upon recommendation of the Corporate Governance, Ethics, Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee.

    

Jean-Pierre Dalais  Mushtaq N. Oosman
Chairman   Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee/ 
     Member of the Corporate Governance,  
     Ethics, Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Clothilde de Comarmond, ACG
Group Company Secretary,  
For and on behalf of CIEL Corporate Services Ltd 

15 September 2023 
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Principal Activity and History
The Company was incorporated as a limited company on 10 February 1983 under the name Sun Resorts Limited 
and changed its name to Sun Limited as evidenced by certificate issued by the Registrar of Companies dated 
25 September 2015. SUN is a public company listed on the official market of the SEM and on the SEM Sustainability Index 
(“SEMSI”). It is public interest entity as defined by the Financial Reporting Act 2004 and is registered as a Reporting 
Issuer with the FSC. 
SUN is the holding company of an established hotel group in the Indian Ocean (“SUN Group”), owning and/or managing 
six resorts in Mauritius (5* Luxury Four Seasons Resort Mauritius at Anahita, 5* Luxury Shangri-La Le Touessrok, 
Mauritius, 5* Long Beach, 5* Sugar Beach, 4* La Pirogue, and 4* Ambre). The Company also holds marketing offices in 
London, Paris and Frankfurt and representations in Spain, Russia, Middle East and China. SUN also owns two in-house 
tour operators, namely Soléa, in France and World Leisure Holidays (Pty) Ltd, in South Africa.

Directors’ Service Contracts
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance Officer hold service contracts with SUN without expiry date. 

Contract of Significance
To the best of SUN’s knowledge, there was no contract of significance subsisting during the year to which SUN or  
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

Shareholding Profile

Ownership by Size of Shareholding
Ordinary Shares

Shareholder
Count

Number of
Shares

Percentage
Held

1 - 500 8,118 1,187,768 0.6812
501 - 1,000 1,394 989,195 0.5673
1,001 - 5,000 1,450 3,227,588 1.8511
5,001 - 10,000 326 2,260,718 1.2966
10,001 - 50,000 329 6,958,789 3.9910
50,001 - 100,000 51 3,472,749 1.9917
100,001 - 250,000 41 6,534,284 3.7475
250,001 - 500,000 14 4,688,550 2.6889
Over 500,001 17 145,044,385 83.1848

Total 11,740 174,364,026 100

Ownership by Category of Shareholding Ordinary Shares

Category Shareholder
Count

Number of
Shares

Percentage
Held

Individuals 11,125 15,619,574 8.9580
Insurance and Assurance companies 14 8,607,607 4.9366
Investments and Trust companies 72 4,285,320 2.4577
Pensions and Provident funds 73 19,342,347 11.0931
Other Corporate Bodies 456 126,509,178 72.5546
Total 11,740 174,364,026 100

The above number of shareholders is indicative due to consolidation of multi portfolios for reporting purposes. The total 
number of active shareholders as at 30 June 2023 was 11,760.

Directors of Subsidiaries as at 30 June 2023
Directors of subsidiaries as at 30 June 2023 are listed in Appendix A.

Audit Fees and Donations as at 30 June 2023
Audit fees and donations paid by the Company and its subsidiaries are listed under Appendix B.

Major Transactions under the Mauritius Companies Act 2001
Neither SUN nor its subsidiaries entered into any major transaction during the financial year under review.

Related Party Transactions
Transactions with any related parties are disclosed in the financial statements. 

Share Registry & Transfer Office
SUN’s Share Registry and Transfer Office is administered by MCB Registry & Securities Ltd. If you have any queries 
regarding your shares, wish to change your name or address, or have questions about lost certificates, share transfers 
or dividends, you may contact either your Investment Dealer or the Share Registry and Transfer Office, whose contact 
details are as follows:
MCB Registry & Securities Ltd, Ground Floor, Raymond Lamusse Building 9-11 Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis,  
Tel: +230 202 5640
On Behalf of the Board

    

Jean-Pierre Dalais  Mushtaq N. Oosman
Chairman   Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee/ 
     Member of the Corporate Governance,  
     Ethics, Nomination and Remuneration Committee

15 September 2023
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Annexure A - Directorships of Subsidiaries - 30 June 2023

OTHER STATUTORY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D)
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AGGARWAL Kapil ü ü

AMELOT Marc ü

BISSESUR JITENDRA ü ü

COQUET Gregory A
DALAIS Guillaume ü

DALAIS Jean-Pierre ü ü ü

DALAIS P. Arnaud ü

DALAIS Thierry ü

DALAIS Francois A
DE CHASTEAUNEUF Jérôme ü ü ü

DURR Elaine Mercia ü

ECHEVIN Hélène ü

EYNAUD Francois ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü A ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü

GERMAIN Stephanie ü

HOAREAU Daniella AD
JEENARAIN Rameswarsingh ü

JULIE Bernardette Suzanne ü

KHADAROO Saleem ü ü ü ü

KOA WING Jane ü ü ü ü

MAYER Harold ü

MENEZ Vincent Paul Marie A
OOSMAN Mushtaq ü

RAMLAGUN Neelmanee ü

RICHÉ Olivier R
SAVOYE Jean-Louis ü

VAQUIER Pierre ü

VEERASAMY Naderasen ü

WONG YUN SHING Tommy ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü A ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü

A- Appointed director during the financial year  
R - Resigned as director during the finncial year 
AD - Alternate Director



74  |  Sun Limited Annual Report  |  75

Appendix B - Audit Fees, Fees for other services provided by auditor and 
Donations for FY 2023
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 ‘0
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 ‘0

00

Audit Fees 2,000 1,140 1,450 1,140 - - 540 - 1,140 - 68 661 - 1,450 - - 197 - - - - 200 - 91 - 90 - - - 160 1,140 343
Fees for other services* 46 52 71 52 12 - 18 4 52 - - 86 3 83 - - - - 3 - - 30 4 - 8 11 - 8 20 11 52 -

Donations
Charitable** - - - 52 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Political - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
* Fees rendered for other services relate to tax computation

** Includes CSR donations which have been channeled by CIEL and its subsidiraies to CIEL Foundation, registered as a special 
purpose vehicle accredited to receive CSR contributions.

OTHER STATUTORY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D)
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN 
RESPECT OF THE PREPARATION OF  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable 
laws and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) for each financial year, which present fairly the financial position, financial performance and  
cash flows of the Group and the Company.
The directors confirm that, in preparing the Financial Statements, they have to:
• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• State that IFRS have been adhered to, subject to any material departures being disclosed and explained in the 

Financial Statements;
• Prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and 

the Company will continue in business; and
• Ensure compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance (“Code”) and provide reasons in case of non- compliance 

with the Code.
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Group and Company to enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with 
the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, IFRS and the Financial Reporting Act 2004.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors hereby confirm that they have complied with the above requirements. 

Approved by the Board of directors on 15 September 2023.

On behalf of the Board,

    

Jean-Pierre Dalais  Mushtaq N. Oosman
Chairman   Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee/ 
     Member of the Corporate Governance,  
     Ethics, Nomination and Remuneration Committee

15 September 2023

CERTIFICATE FROM THE COMPANY SECRETARY
In our capacity as Company Secretary of Sun Limited (“the Company’’), we hereby confirm that, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, the Company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies as at 30 June 2023, all such returns as 
are required for a company in terms of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, and that such returns are true, correct and  
up to date.

Clothilde de Comarmond, ACG
Per CIEL Corporate Services Ltd  
Group Company Secretary 

15 September 2023
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Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Our Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Sun Limited 
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) and of the Company standing alone as at 30 June 2023, and of 
their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and in compliance with the Mauritian Companies Act 2001.

What we have audited

Sun Limited’s consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 85 to 151 comprise:
• the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2023;
• the statements of profit or loss for the year then ended;
• the statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements” section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (the “IESBA Code”).  
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Continued)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Fair value of land and buildings (see note 4 to the financial 
statements) - Consolidated financial statements.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had land and buildings carried at 
fair value of MUR 17.2 billion (2022: MUR 16.5 billion), included 
as part of its property, plant and equipment in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The fair value gain recorded in 
the current financial period amounted to MUR 970.7 million 
(2022: MUR 2.1 billion).

It is the Group’s policy that land and buildings are stated at 
fair value based on periodic valuations, conducted by an 
independent external valuer, less subsequent depreciation and 
impairment of buildings.

The fair value was determined in line with IFRS 13 to which 
certain valuation methods are subscribed to determine the fair 
value. The fair values are computed by the external valuer using 
factual information and professional judgement concerning 
market conditions and factors impacting the individual 
properties.

The fair value of land and buildings was considered as a 
key audit matter due to its significance on the consolidated 
statement of financial position and due to the fact that it is 
inherently subjective as it involves significant estimates and 
judgement which might materially affect the carrying value of 
the revalued assets.

We obtained the valuation reports from management.

We assessed the competence, qualifications, experience, 
and independence of the external independent valuer.

With the support of our internal valuation specialists, our 
audit procedures included the following:
• We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation 

methodology used by the external valuer for 
determining the fair value of land and buildings of 
the Group by comparing it to similar valuations in 
the market.

• We discussed and challenged key inputs and 
assumptions used by the external valuers.

• We assessed the reasonableness of the fair values 
attributed to the different properties of the Group 
and the significant assumptions used by the external 
independent valuer in this exercise by benchmarking 
against relevant available industry data related to the 
increase in construction costs and inflation.

We have also assessed whether appropriate disclosures 
were made by management in the financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill (see note 7 to the financial statements) 
- Consolidated financial statements.

The Group has goodwill for which indicators of impairment exist 
as at 30 June 2023. The Directors determined that there was no 
impairment on the carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill as 
at 30 June 2023 (2022: MUR Nil).

The Directors assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill 
as at 30 June 2023 using the discounted cash flow model to 
determine the recoverable amount of the cash generating units 
(CGU) to which the goodwill relates.

The assessment of the recoverable of the cash generating 
units requires the use of a number of key assumptions and 
judgements, including the estimated future cash flows, 
long-term growth rates, profitability levels and discount rates 
applied.

This was an area of focus in light of the amounts involved and the 
level of judgement and estimation required from management.

We obtained management’s workings of the recoverable 
amount of the CGU.

With the support of our internal valuation specialists, 
our audit procedures included the following:
• We tested the assumptions used in the cash flow 

model by comparing these assumptions to our 
independently derived expectations, which are based 
on the historical performance of the business, as well 
as the expectations for the market in which the CGU 
operates. The budgeted figures used in the cash flow 
model were compared to historical performance of 
the GCU in order to assess the reasonableness of the 
forecasted cash flows. 

• Terminal growth rate has been assessed for 
reasonableness based on market expected long-term 
growth rates.

• In order to determine the reasonableness of the 
discount rate, the rate used in the cash flow models 
(on a sample basis) were compared to a range of 
discount rates independently calculated by us, based 
on the market in which the CGU operate and taking 
into account the nature of the CGU. We also verified 
the mathematical accuracy of the model.

We have also assessed whether appropriate disclosures 
were made by management in the financial statements.
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Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Continued)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Fair value of interest in subsidiaries (see note 8 to the financial 
statements) - Separate financial statements.

As at 30 June 2023, the Company held unquoted investments 
comprising of investments in subsidiaries amounting to 
MUR 20.6 billion (2022: MUR 18.1 billion) which are carried at 
fair value in the separate financial statements.

The fair values of the unquoted investments are determined by 
applying valuation methodologies which include the discounted 
cash flow approach and the net asset value approach.

The fair value was determined in line with IFRS 13 to which 
certain valuation methods are subscribed to determine the fair 
value. The fair values are computed by the external valuer using 
factual information and professional judgement concerning 
market conditions and factors impacting the individual 
companies. 

The fair value of investments in subsidiaries was a key area 
of audit focus owing to their magnitude, the estimation 
uncertainties in the assumptions, and the degree of judgement 
required from management.

We obtained the fair value workings from management.

We assessed the competence, qualifications, experience, 
and independence of the external independent valuer.

With the support of our internal valuation specialists, our 
audit procedures included the following:
• We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation 

methodologies and models used.
• We assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions 

underlying the cash flow models used to determine 
the recoverable amount of the investments, by 
comparing these assumptions to our independently 
derived expectations, based on independent external 
market data and forecasts.

We have also assessed whether appropriate disclosures 
were made by management in the financial statements.

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the statement of compliance, 
the corporate governance report, the other statutory disclosures, the statement of directors’ responsibilities and the company 
secretary’s certificate but does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and 
separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and Company’s financial reporting process.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and Company’s 
internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and/or the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

Mauritian Companies Act 2001

The Mauritian Companies Act 2001 requires that in carrying out our audit we consider and report to you on the following matters.  
We confirm that:

(a) we have no relationship with or interests in the Company or any of its subsidiaries other than in our capacity as auditor and 
tax advisor of the Company and some of its subsidiaries;

(b) we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required; and

(c) in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as appears from our examination of 
those records.

Mauritian Financial Reporting Act 2004

Our responsibility under the Mauritian Financial Reporting Act 2004 is to report on the compliance with the Code of Corporate 
Governance (“Code”) disclosed in the annual report and assess the explanations given for non-compliance with any requirement 
of the Code. From our assessment of the disclosures made on corporate governance in the annual report, the Company has, 
pursuant to section 75 of the Mauritian Financial Reporting Act 2004, complied with the requirements of the Code.

Other Matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 205 of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Olivier Rey, licensed by FRC

15 September 2023

The notes set out on pages 91 to 151 form an integral part of the financial statements. Auditors’ report on pages 80 to 84.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 4  18,070,344  17,183,844  14,791  8,209 
Right-of-use assets 5  1,595,986  1,625,698  -  - 
Operating equipment 6  21,225  15,923  -  - 
Intangible assets 7  238,196  237,087  8,012  7,792 
Interest in subsidiaries 8  -  -  20,604,903  18,057,235 
Interest in associate 9  258,089  285,207  285,207  285,207 
Interest in joint venture 10  89,540  63,693  -  - 
Deferred tax assets 19  68,454  101,906  31,101  33,058 
Employee benefit asset 20  172  34,913  -  5,014 
Other investments 11  166,287  165,502  -  - 
Other financial assets 12  13,995  16,920  306,995  1,750,237 

 20,522,288  19,730,693  21,251,009  20,146,752 
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 13  139,700  103,563  -  - 
Trade and other receivables 14  747,599  591,713  169,019  574,132 
Current tax asset 24  3,433  558  -  - 
Cash and short-term deposits 33(ii)  1,822,217  1,582,833  802,740  769,565 

 2,712,949  2,278,667  971,759  1,343,697 
TOTAL ASSETS  23,235,237  22,009,360  22,222,768  21,490,449 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves (attributable to owners of the parent)
Stated capital 15  1,945,451  1,945,451  1,945,451  1,945,451 
Share premium 15  3,138,833  3,138,833  3,138,833  3,138,833 
Convertible bonds 16  3,086,192  2,812,392  -  - 
Reserves 17  6,740,032  6,046,738  11,235,463  8,624,303 
(Accumulated losses)/Retained profits  (2,612,196)  (3,496,449)  2,907,743  2,954,997 

 12,298,312  10,446,965  19,227,490  16,663,584 
Treasury shares 15  (1,454,314)  (1,451,389)  (1,454,314)  (1,451,389)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  10,843,998  8,995,576  17,773,176  15,212,195 
Non-controlling interests  926,097  844,748  -  - 
TOTAL EQUITY  11,770,095  9,840,324  17,773,176  15,212,195 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans and other borrowings 18  4,433,102  5,555,645  2,160,515  3,052,965 
Lease liabilities 5  1,664,250  1,664,674  -  - 
Deferred tax liability 19  1,516,553  1,252,489  -  - 
Provisions 22  20,940  33,738  7,573  15,373 
Contract liabilities 23  82,349  85,844  -  - 
Employee benefit liability 20  288,446  219,672  25,066  4,212 

 8,005,640  8,812,062  2,193,154  3,072,550 
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans and other borrowings 18  884,183  1,336,320  425,685  692,545 
Lease liabilities 5  48,783  117,734  -  26,782 
Dividend payable 32  348,728  -  348,728  - 
Trade and other payables 21  2,076,351  1,889,483  1,463,854  2,479,753 
Current tax liability 24  101,457  13,437  18,171  6,624 

 3,459,502  3,356,974  2,256,438  3,205,704 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  11,465,142  12,169,036  4,449,592  6,278,254 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  23,235,237  22,009,360  22,222,768  21,490,449 

Approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 15 September 2023

Jean-Pierre Dalais Mushtaq N. Oosman
Chairman Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Revenue 25  8,104,710  4,840,319  402,383  264,195 
Other income 27  27,870  324,576  -  1,638 
Total revenue  8,132,580  5,164,895  402,383  265,833 
Operating expenses 26  (5,684,877)  (3,952,626)  (198,503)  (120,114)
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation and impairment reversals  2,447,703  1,212,269  203,880  145,719 
Impairment reversals of financial and non-financial assets 29  9,708  10,816  37,750  113,268 
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation  2,457,411  1,223,085  241,630  258,987 
Depreciation and amortisation 28  (527,167)  (561,719)  (8,840)  (34,154)
Operating profit  1,930,244  661,366  232,790  224,833 
Finance costs 30  (454,321)  (487,709)  (132,168)  (196,098)
Finance income 30  279,365  58,274  235,636  270,190 
Share of result of joint venture 10  24,700  19,515  -  - 
Impairment of investment in associate 9(a)  -  -  -  (107,438)
Profit before tax  1,779,988  251,446  336,258  191,487 
Income tax (charge)/credit 24(b)  (261,452)  (51,366)  (17,122)  5,822 
Profit for the year  1,518,536  200,080  319,136  197,309 

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 1,467,491 185,704 319,136 197,309 
Non-controlling interests 51,045 14,376    -      -   

1,518,536 200,080 319,136 197,309 

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity 
holders of the Company:
Basic and diluted earnings per share (Rs.) 31 8.42 1.06 

The notes set out on pages 91 to 151 form an integral part of the financial statements. Auditors’ report on pages 80 to 84.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Profit for the year 1,518,536 200,080 319,136 197,309 

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Revaluation of land and buildings 4  970,709  2,101,852  -  - 
Revaluation of interest in subsidiaries 8  -  -  2,611,160  (882,235)
Revaluation of other investments 11  785  (244)  -  - 
Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligations 20  (69,458)  49,799  (21,280)  25,216 
Income tax relating to these items 19  (135,850)  (329,895)  3,618  (4,287)

 766,186  1,821,512  2,593,498  (861,306)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of  
foreign operations  (931)  (5,910)  -  - 
Share of other comprehensive income of joint venture 10  6,187  (5,099)  -  - 
(Losses)/gains on cash flow hedges  (185,704)  440,505  -  - 

 (180,448)  429,496  -  - 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  585,738  2,251,008  2,593,498  (861,306)
Total comprehensive income for the year  2,104,274  2,451,088  2,912,634  (663,997)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 2,022,673 2,283,451 2,912,634 (663,997)
Non-controlling interests 81,601 167,637    -      -   

2,104,274 2,451,088 2,912,634 (663,997)

The notes set out on pages 91 to 151 form an integral part of the financial statements. Auditors’ report on pages 80 to 84.
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THE GROUP Attributable to owners of the Company

Note
Stated
capital

Share
premium

Convertible
bonds

Revaluation
reserve

Foreign 

currency
translation

reserve

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
Accumulated

losses
Treasury

shares Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July 2021 1,945,451 3,138,833 2,264,792 3,954,997 569,602 (533,313) (3,646,945) (1,451,389) 6,242,028 677,011 6,919,039 

Other 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year - - - 1,647,823 (11,009) 418,441 42,492 - 2,097,747 153,261 2,251,008 

Profit for the 
year - - - - - - 185,704 - 185,704 14,376 200,080 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year - - - 1,647,823 (11,009) 418,441 228,196 - 2,283,451 167,637 2,451,088 

Change in 
ownership 
interest that do 
not result in a 
loss of control - - - 197 - - (297) - (100) 100 - 

Convertible 
bonds 16 - - 547,600 - - - (77,403) - 470,197 - 470,197 

Total 
transactions 
with owners of 
the Company - - 547,600 197 - - (77,700) - 470,097 100 470,197 

At 30 June 2022 1,945,451 3,138,833 2,812,392 5,603,017 558,593 (114,872) (3,496,449) (1,451,389) 8,995,576 844,748 9,840,324 

Other 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year - - - 777,194 5,256 (170,285) (56,983) - 555,182 30,556 585,738 

Profit for the 
year - - - - - - 1,467,491 - 1,467,491 51,045 1,518,536 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year - - - 777,194 5,256 (170,285) 1,410,508 - 2,022,673 81,601 2,104,274 

Purchase of 
treasury shares 15 - - - - - - - (2,925) (2,925) - (2,925)

Dividends 32 - - - - - - (348,728) - (348,728) (252) (348,980)

Convertible 
bonds 16 - - 273,800 - - - (96,398) - 177,402 - 177,402 

Movement in 
reserves arising 
on winding up of 
subsidiaries - - - - 81,129 - (81,129) - - - - 

Total 
transactions 
with owners of 
the Company - - 273,800 - 81,129 - (526,255) (2,925) (174,251) (252) (174,503)

At 30 June 2023 1,945,451 3,138,833 3,086,192 6,380,211 644,978 (285,157) (2,612,196) (1,454,314) 10,843,998 926,097 11,770,095

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

The notes set out on pages 91 to 151 form an integral part of the financial statements. Auditors’ report on pages 80 to 84.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 (CONT’D)

THE COMPANY

Note
Stated
capital

Share
premium

Investment
revaluation

reserve
Retained

profits
Treasury

shares Total
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July 2021  1,945,451  3,138,833  9,506,538  2,736,759  (1,451,389)  15,876,192 

Other comprehensive income for 
the year  -  -  (882,235)  20,929  -  (861,306)
Profit for the year  -  -  -  197,309  -  197,309 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year  -  -  (882,235)  218,238  -  (663,997)
At 30 June 2022  1,945,451  3,138,833  8,624,303  2,954,997  (1,451,389)  15,212,195 
Other comprehensive income for 
the year  -  -  2,611,160  (17,662)  -  2,593,498 
Profit for the year  -  -  -  319,136  -  319,136 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year  -  -  2,611,160  301,474  -  2,912,634 

Purchase of treasury shares  -  -  -  -    (2,925)  (2,925)
Dividends 32  -  -  -  (348,728)  -  (348,728)
Total transactions with owners of 
the Company  -  -  -  (348,728)  (2,925)  (351,653)
At 30 June 2023  1,945,451  3,138,833  11,235,463  2,907,743  (1,454,314)  17,773,176 

The notes set out on pages 91 to 151 form an integral part of the financial statements. Auditors’ report on pages 80 to 84.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax from continuing operations  1,779,988  251,446  336,258  191,487 
Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortisation 28  527,167  561,719  8,840  34,154 
Write off of intangible assets 7  -  209  -    - 
Write off of property, plant and equipment 4  602  2,701  -    - 
Write off of right-of-use assets 5  -  (201)  -    - 
Operating equipment usage 6  4,899  3,901  -    - 
Finance costs 30  454,321  487,709  132,168  196,098 
Finance income 30  (279,365)  (58,274)  (235,636)  (270,190)
Movement in provisions  (12,798)  10,749  (7,800)  (7,616)
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  404  (1,788)  -    169 
Share of results of joint venture 10  (24,700)  (19,515)  -    - 
Impairment reversals of assets 29  (9,708)  (10,816)  (37,750)  (113,268)
Impairment of investment in associate 9  -  -  -    107,438 
Loss/(gain) on lease re-assessment 27  257  (73,226)  -    - 
Write off of investment in subsidiaries 8  -  -  -    20 
Amortised cost on borrowings 33(iii)  139  17,376  -    8,777 
Investment income 25  -  -  (27,118)  (107,438)
Unrealised exchange differences  173,425  148,634  108,547  89,506 
Land lease concession 27  -  13,802  -    - 
Movement in employee benefit liability  34,057  (32,194)  4,588  431 

 868,700  1,050,786  (54,161)  (61,919)
OPERATING CASH FLOWS BEFORE WORKING 
CAPITAL CHANGES  2,648,688  1,302,232  282,097  129,568 
Movement in working capital 33(i)  (66,807)  474,092  977,799  548,885 
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS  2,581,881  1,776,324  1,259,896  678,453 
Income taxes paid 24  (14,701)  (1,576)  -    -   
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  2,567,180  1,774,748  1,259,896  678,453 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Finance income 30  38,601  8,382  -  - 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (362,665)  (250,648)  (9,040)  (608)
Additions to right-of-use assets  (3,497)  -  -    - 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  2,412  -    152 
Purchase of intangible assets 7  (9,513)  (1,300)  (6,602)  - 
Purchase of operating equipment 6  (18,693)  (11,857)  -    - 
Dividend received from joint venture 10  5,040  -  -    - 
Loan (granted)/repaid  -  (917)  745,860  408,221 

NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (350,727)  (253,928)  730,218  407,765 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings 33  917,680  830,000  275,000  780,000 
Repayment of borrowings 33  (2,711,508)  (2,243,793)  (2,132,355)  (1,690,118)
Net proceeds from convertible bonds 16  275,000  550,000  -    - 
Lease payments 33  (195,275)  (107,755)  -    - 
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests  (252)  -  -    - 
Interest paid  (310,420)  (423,495)  (146,845)  (242,287)

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (2,024,775)  (1,395,043)  (2,004,200)  (1,152,405)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS  191,678  125,777  (14,086)  (66,187)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  1,580,714  1,547,858  769,565  894,553 
Net foreign exchange difference  49,825  (92,921)  47,261  (58,801)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 30 JUNE 33(ii)  1,822,217  1,580,714  802,740  769,565 

The notes set out on pages 91 to 151 form an integral part of the financial statements. Auditors’ report on pages 80 to 84.

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Sun Limited (the “Company”) is a public company incorporated in Mauritius and listed on the Official Market of the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius. Its registered office is situated at 5th Floor, Ebène Skies, Rue de L’Institut, Ebène, Republic of Mauritius.

The Group’s main activity is in the tourism sector of the leisure industry. It currently owns and/or manages seven properties 
in the Republic of Mauritius: Shangri-La’s Le Touessrok Resort & Spa, Four Seasons Resort Mauritius at Anahita, Long Beach, 
Sugar Beach, La Pirogue, Ambre and Ile aux cerfs. The Company operates as an investment holding company.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other notes. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group consisting of 
Sun Limited and its subsidiaries. The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except for the following new and amended IFRSs adopted in the year commencing 1 July 2022.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Compliance with IFRS

The financial statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(b) Historical cost convention

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities 
(including derivative financial instruments), certain classes of property, plant and equipment measured at revalued amount, 
and plan assets measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in Mauritian Rupees and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand (Rs’000) except where otherwise indicated. Where necessary, the comparative figures 
have been amended to conform with change in presentation in the current year.

(c) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has considered the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual reporting period 
commencing 1 July 2022:

• Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of property, 
plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its 
intended use. Instead, a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or loss.

• Amendments to IAS 37, ‘provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ specify which costs a company 
includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.

• Annual improvements make minor amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’, IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, 
IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’ and the Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16, ‘Leases’.

The amendments listed above are not expected to significantly affect the Group in the current or future periods.

(d) New standards and interpretations and amendments to existing standards not yet effective and not yet adopted by 
the Group

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are 
not mandatory for 30 June 2023 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group:

• Narrow scope amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and IAS 8: The amendments aim to improve accounting policy 
disclosures and to help users of the financial statements to distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and 
changes in accounting policies. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

• Amendment to IAS 12 – deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction: These amendments 
require companies to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal amounts of 
taxable and deductible temporary differences. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

• Amendment to IFRS 16 – Leases on sale and leaseback: These amendments include requirements for sale and leaseback 
transactions in IFRS 16 to explain how an entity accounts for a sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction. 
Sale and leaseback transactions where some or all the lease payments are variable lease payments that do not depend 
on an index or rate are most likely to be impacted. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

• Amendment to IAS 1 – Non current liabilities with covenants: These amendments clarify how conditions with which an 
entity must comply within twelve months after the reporting period affect the classification of a liability. Effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

These standards, amendments or interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current or 
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of Sun Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2023.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intra-Group balances, transactions, income and 
expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-Group transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Appropriate adjustments are made to the consolidated financial statements where a 
member of the Group uses accounting policies other than those adopted by the Group. 

2.3 Foreign currency

The individual financial statements of the Group’s entities are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates. For the purpose of the financial statements, the results and financial position 
of each entity are expressed in Mauritian Rupees, which is the functional currency of the Group and Company, and the 
presentation currency for the financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of 
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 
at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

• Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, 
which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those 
foreign currency borrowings;

• Exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

• Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is 
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are 
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the 
monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations 
are translated into Mauritian Rupee using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense 
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during 
that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 

Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed 
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over 
a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an 
associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that 
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, 
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities 
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated 
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.3 Foreign currency (cont’d)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing 
at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity.

3. GOING CONCERN
At 30 June 2023, the Group had accumulated losses of Rs 2.61 billion (2022: Rs 3.50 billion) and the Company had 
accumulated profits of Rs 2.91 billion (2022: Rs 2.95 billion). The Group and the Company had net current liabilities of Rs 
0.75 billion (2022: Rs 1.08 billion) and Rs 1.28 billion (2022: Rs 1.86 billion) respectively at 30 June 2023. 
With cash and cash equivalents at year end of Rs 1.82 billion and undrawn overdraft facilities, management considers 
the Group to have sufficient financial resources in order to meet any short-term external obligations especially in the low 
seasons period.
Accordingly, the Directors are of the view that the Group and Company will be able to meet their financial obligations in the 
next financial year. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group and the Company’s 
Financial Statements.

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Accounting policies

Property, plant and equipment, except for freehold land and buildings and site improvements are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated impairment losses, if any. Freehold land is stated at revalued amounts 
and buildings are stated at revalued amounts less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that 
which would be determined using fair values at each financial year end. It is the Group’s policy to revalue its freehold land 
and buildings at least every three years. The basis used is market value derived using the Sales Comparison Approach 
and the Depreciated Replacement Cost Approach and independent valuers are used for such exercises. Any revaluation 
surplus is credited to other comprehensive income, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit for the same 
asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the surplus is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the deficit 
previously charged. A decrease in an asset’s carrying amount arising on revaluation is charged to profit or loss to the extent 
that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the property revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.
Depreciation on revalued buildings is charged to profit or loss. On the subsequent disposal or retirement of a revalued 
property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the property revaluation reserve is transferred directly to the 
retained earnings.
Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. 
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their 
intended use. Freehold land and capital work in progress are not depreciated.
It is the Group’s policy to maintain its buildings in a continued state of sound repair, such that their value is not significantly 
diminished by the passage of time or usage. Accordingly, in estimating the residual values, the Group has assessed the 
value of the building at the end of their useful life based on today’s rate and this exercise is done by an independent 
qualified valuer. Therefore, buildings are depreciated on a straight line basis to their estimated residual values over their 
estimated useful lives.
Leasehold land improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their useful life and the lease period. On other property, 
plant and equipment, depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis to write off their depreciable amounts (cost less 
residual value) over their estimated useful lives.
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Accounting policies (cont’d)

The annual rates are as follows:

Buildings, improvements to leasehold land and sites 2% to 5%
Plant and Machinery 10% to 20%
Hotel furniture and soft furnishings 10% to 25%
Motor vehicles and boats 10% to 25%
Computers and telecommunication equipment 10% to 33%
Operating equipment 20% to 33%

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item (or part of an item) of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item (or part of the item, 
as applicable) and is recognised in profit or loss.

Work in progress is valued at the cost of the project. Costs include an appropriate portion of fixed and variable 
overhead expenses.

Impairment testing, including recognition and measurement of an impairment charge

See “Annual Impairment Testing” in note 7 for our policies relating to impairment testing and the related recognition 
and measurement of impairment charges. The impairment policies for property, plant and equipment are similar to the 
impairment policies for intangible assets with finite useful lives.

Significant judgements

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives. The actual lives of the assets are assessed annually 
and may vary depending on a number of factors. In reassessing assets’ lives, factors such as technological innovation, 
product life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken into account. The Directors therefore make estimates based on 
historical experience and use best judgement to assess the useful lives of assets.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The Group accounts for land and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognised in other 
comprehensive income. The Group engaged an independent valuation specialist to determine the fair value as at 
30 June 2023.

In determining the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, the Group used estimates which has been 
disclosed in note 7.

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

(a) THE GROUP Land and 
buildings,
Improve-
ments to 

leasehold 
land and 

sites

Capital
work in

progress
Plant and

machinery

Hotel
furniture
and soft

furnishings

Motor
vehicles

and
boats

Comput-
ers and 

telecom-
munication 
equipment Total

COST OR VALUATION Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000
At 1 July 2021  15,182,688  21,405  1,742,789  2,087,904  73,063  207,113  19,314,962 
Additions  29,571  133,014  32,430  7,716  969  16,900  220,600 
Transfers  123,434  (146,961)  655  22,171  -  701  - 
Disposals  -  -  (400)  (3,374)  (431)  -  (4,205)
Revaluation adjustment  1,397,366  -  -  -  -  -  1,397,366 
Assets written off  -  (45)  (85)  (3,578)  -  -  (3,708)
Retranslation difference  (8)  -  (199)  (394)  -  (732)  (1,333)
At 30 June 2022  16,733,051  7,413  1,775,190  2,110,445  73,601  223,982 20,923,682 
Additions  23,795  135,673  97,055  82,601  6,105  17,436  362,665 
Transfers  (684)  (7,332)  7,977  6  -  33  - 
Disposals  -  -  -  (833)  -  (50)  (883)
Revaluation adjustment  726,734  -  -  -  -  -  726,734 
Assets written off  -  -  (9)  (9,728)  -  (2,935)  (12,672)
Retranslation difference  -  -  160  (181)  -  (501)  (522)
At 30 June 2023  17,482,896  135,754  1,880,373  2,182,310  79,706  237,965 21,999,004 
ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2021  720,378  -  1,354,411  1,687,142  44,918  186,477  3,993,326 
Charge for the year  253,843  -  85,541  100,796  8,756  10,949  459,885 
Disposals  -  -  (97)  (3,374)  (110)  -  (3,581)
Revaluation adjustment  (704,486)  -  -  -  -  -  (704,486)
Impairment charges (note 
29)  (3,179)  -  -  -  -  -  (3,179)
Assets written off  -  -  (23)  (984)  -  -  (1,007)
Retranslation difference  -  -  (151)  (341)  -  (628)  (1,120)
At 30 June 2022  266,556  -  1,439,681  1,783,239  53,564  196,798  3,739,838 
Charge for the year  259,570  -  83,910  85,486  6,402  10,541  445,909 
Disposals  -  -  -  (474)  -  (5)  (479)
Revaluation adjustment  (243,975)  -  -  -  -  -  (243,975)
Assets written off  -  -  (9)  (9,126)  -  (2,935)  (12,070)
Retranslation difference  -  -  122  (221)  -  (464)  (563)
At 30 June 2023  282,151  -  1,523,704  1,858,904  59,966  203,935  3,928,660 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 30 June 2023  17,200,745  135,754  356,669  323,406  19,740  34,030  18,070,344 
At 30 June 2022  16,466,495  7,413  335,509  327,206  20,037  27,184  17,183,844 
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)
(b) THE COMPANY

Plant and
machinery

Furniture
and soft

furnishings
Motor

vehicles

Computers 
and telecom-

munication 
equipment Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
COST
At 1 July 2021  14,021  35,428  14,278  19,917  83,644 
Additions  -  -  -  608  608 
Disposals  -  -  (431)  -  (431)
At 30 June 2022  14,021  35,428  13,847  20,525  83,821 
Additions  -  187  2,610  6,243  9,040 
At 30 June 2023  14,021  35,615  16,457  26,768  92,861 
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2021  13,048  34,013  7,092  18,360  72,513 
Charge for the year  151  310  2,187  561  3,209 
Disposals  -  -  (110)  -  (110)
At 30 June 2022  13,199  34,323  9,169  18,921  75,612 
Charge for the year  73  288  1,325  772  2,458 
At 30 June 2023  13,272  34,611  10,494  19,693  78,070 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 30 June 2023  749  1,004  5,963  7,075  14,791 
At 30 June 2022  822  1,105  4,678  1,604  8,209 

(c) If land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the carrying amounts would have been as follows:

THE GROUP

2023 2022
Rs'000 Rs'000

Net book value  9,520,546  9,757,005 

(d) The Group's policy is to revalue its freehold land and buildings at least every three years. During the COVID-19 pandemic, 
revaluation exercises were being carried out every year to determine if there were any significant changes to the fair 
values of the property, plant and equipment and last revaluation dated at 30 June 2022. The Group has again carried out 
a revaluation exercise at 30 June 2023 in order to align with the year of revaluation of its parent company, CIEL Limited. 
The Chartered Valuers, Elevante Property Services Ltd revalued the freehold land and buildings and revaluation adjustment 
was accounted for those properties where there is no indication of impairment of the cash generating units.

Freehold land was valued taking into consideration comparable sales evidences. Sales prices of comparable land in 
close proximity were adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most significant input into this 
valuation approach is price per square metre. The basis of valuation in estimating the market value has been undertaken 
in accordance with the principles set out by the International Valuation Standards Committee as per the International 
Valuation Application 1 (IVA 1) which deals with Valuation for Financial Reporting and which is to be used in the context 
of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The buildings, structures and site improvement have been valued on a depreciated replacement cost basis taking into 
consideration their replacement cost, with adjustments being made for age and condition. This method of valuation is 
based on the theory of substitution and is used in situations where it is difficult to estimate inputs to be used to calculate 
value due to volatile market factors. The most significant input into this method of valuation is the replacement cost per 
square metre. 

(e) Management assessed the recoverable amount of assets for which indicators of impairment exists as at 30 June 2023 and 
details of assessment have been disclosed under note 29.

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)
(f) Hierarchy level

Details of the Group’s freehold land and buildings and site improvements and information about the fair value hierarchy 
are as follows:

THE GROUP

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

2023
Freehold land  -  3,653,500  - 
Buildings and improvement to leasehold land  -  -  12,767,357 
Site improvements  -  -  779,888 

 -  3,653,500  13,547,245 
2022
Freehold land  -  3,544,983  - 
Buildings and improvement to leasehold land  -  -  12,324,180 
Site improvements  -  -  597,332 

 -  3,544,983  12,921,512 

There were no transfers from one level to another during the year.

(g) Bank borrowings are secured on fixed and floating charges on property, plant and equipment of the Group and 
the Company. Further details are disclosed in note 18(g).

(h) The following summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in recurring level 3 
fair value measurements:

Valuation technique and 
key inputs Sensitivity used

Effect on fair value 
Increase/(decrease)

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

Buildings and improvement 
to leasehold land

Depreciated replacement 
cost approach

1% increase/(decrease) in current 
cost of replacing property  127,674  123,242 

Site improvements
Depreciated replacement 
cost approach

1% increase/(decrease) in current 
cost of replacing property  7,799  5,973 

5. LEASES
Accounting policies

(i) The Group as a lessee

On inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether it contains a lease. A contract contains a lease when it conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The right to use the 
asset and the obligation under the lease to make payments are recognised in the Group statement of financial position as 
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

Lease contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates payments in the contract to the 
lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices and applies the lease accounting model only 
to lease components.

The right-of-use asset recognised at lease commencement includes the amount of lease liability recognised and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated useful life or lease term whichever is lower. Right-of-use assets are also 
adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities and are subject to impairment testing. 
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5. LEASES (CONT’D)
Accounting policies (cont’d)

(i) The Group as a lessee (cont’d)

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease 
payments include fixed payments (including ‘in-substance fixed’ payments) and variable lease payments that depend on 
an index or a rate, less any lease incentives receivable. ‘In-substance fixed’ payments are payments that may, in form, 
contain variability but that, in substance, are unavoidable. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group 
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. All other variable lease payments are not included in the lease liability measurement and are charged to 
profit or loss.

The lease term includes periods subject to extension options which the Group is reasonably certain to exercise and 
excludes the effect of early termination options where the Group is not reasonably certain that it will exercise the option. 
Minimum lease payments include the cost of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain it will purchase the 
underlying asset after the lease term.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is re-measured if there is a modification, 
a change in the lease term, a change in the ‘in-substance fixed’ lease payments or as a result of a rent review or change in 
the relevant index or rate.

The Group has opted not to apply the lease accounting model to intangible assets, leases of low-value assets or leases 
which have a term of less than 12 months. Costs associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

(ii) The Company as a sublessor

For subleases classified as finance lease, the Company derecognises the right-of-use asset and recognises a finance 
lease receivable (net investment in the lease). The non-current portion of the finance lease receivable is presented within 
“Other financial assets” under note 12 and the current portion is presented under “Trade and other receivables” under 
note 14.

Any difference between the right-of-use assets and the net investment in the finance sublease is recognised in profit or loss. 
At the commencement date, net investment in the finance lease is measured at an amount equal to the present value of the 
lease payments for the underlying right-of-use assets during the lease term. The Company recognises a finance income over 
the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant period rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the lease.

(iii) Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction is where the Group sells an asset and immediately reacquires the use of the asset by 
entering into a lease with the buyer. A sale occurs when control of the underlying asset passes to the buyer. A lease liability 
is recognised, the associated property, plant and equipment asset is derecognised, and a right of use asset is recognised at 
the proportion of the carrying value relating to the right retained. Any gain on the sale is deferred and recognised as income 
over the lease term. Any loss on the sale is immediately recognised as an impairment loss when the sale occurs.

Significant judgements

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an 
option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate 
the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew 
or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either 
the renewal or termination, including: whether there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend); whether any 
leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value; historical lease durations; the importance of 
the underlying asset to the Group’s operations; and the costs and business disruption required to replace the leased asset. 
The lease term is reassessed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects the 
assessment of reasonable certainty.

The Group is also required to determine its incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. Judgement is 
applied in determining the components of the IBR used for each lease including risk-free rates, the Group’s credit risk 
and any lease-specific adjustments. IBRs are determined bi-annually and depend on the term, country and start date of 
the lease. The IBR is determined based on a series of inputs including: the risk-free rate based on government bond rates; 
a country-specific risk adjustment; and a credit risk adjustment based on the average credit spend of entities with similar 
ratings to the Group.

5. LEASES (CONT’D)
(a) THE GROUP

This note provides information where the Group is a lessee.
Amounts recognised in the Statements of Financial Position

(i) Right-of-use assets Leasehold 
Land

and buildings Others Total
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July 2021  1,498,175  20,140  1,518,315 
Additions  2,087  5,254  7,341 
Assets written off  (3,421)  (1,571)  (4,992)
Depreciation  (55,547)  (9,630)  (65,177)
Lease re-assessment  170,211  -    170,211 
At 30 June 2022  1,611,505  14,193  1,625,698 
Additions  2,767  6,255  9,022 
Depreciation  (56,215)  (8,205)  (64,420)
Lease re-assessment  25,686  -    25,686 
At 30 June 2023  1,583,743  12,243  1,595,986 

(ii) Lease liabilities Leasehold 
Land

and buildings Others Total
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July 2021  1,767,708  22,770  1,790,478 
Additions  2,087  5,254  7,341 
Assets written off  (3,587)  (1,606)  (5,193)
Interest expense (note 30)  110,631  1,128  111,759 
Payments  (203,937)  (11,256)  (215,193)
Lease re-assessment  96,985  -    96,985 
Reversal of amount waived  13,802  -    13,802 
Exchange differences  (17,571)  -    (17,571)
At 30 June 2022  1,766,118  16,290  1,782,408 
Additions  -    5,525  5,525 
Interest expense (note 30)  107,772  705  108,477 
Payments  (212,676)  (9,717)  (222,393)
Lease re-assessment  25,943  -    25,943 
Exchange differences  13,073  -    13,073 
At 30 June 2023  1,700,230  12,803  1,713,033 

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

Current liabilities  48,783  117,734 
Non-current liabilities  1,664,250  1,664,674 

 1,713,033  1,782,408 

Lease liabilities relate to:
• Leased vehicles and equipment with an average duration varying between 4 and 5 years and for which the Group may 

have the option to purchase the asset for a nominal amount at the termination of the lease period;
• Leases of rooms under the Invest Hotel Scheme which run for a period between 52 and 59 years; and
• Other leasehold land and buildings which run for a period between 25 to 60 years.
The Group’s leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets and carry average interest rate ranging from 2.20% 
to 7.05% (2022: 2.20% to 7.05%) per annum.
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5. LEASES (CONT’D)
(a) THE GROUP (CONT’D)

(ii) Lease liabilities (cont’d)

Effective 1 July 2021, the Government amended the State Lands Act to change the timing of payment of annual rental 
for hospitality operators from 1 July of each year (payable in advance) to 30 June of each year (payable in arrear). 
This amendment resulted in a decrease in the present value of future cashflows recognised under lease liabilities (IFRS 16). 
Lease liabilities were subsequently adjusted and the impact of the re-assessment was credited to profit or loss as a gain 
under other income during the year ended 30 June 2022 (note 27).

Lease re-assessment for the year relates primarily to the escalation in the rental rate of leasehold land which is carried on 
every three-year anniversary based on CPI. The lease liability was subsequently remeasured to reflect this change and 
adjustment brought to the right-of-use asset.

Minimum lease payments and present value of minimum lease payments are as follows:

Minimum lease payments
Present value of minimum 

lease payments
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Repayable:
Within one year 155,227 224,359 48,783 117,734 
After one year but before two years 138,158 147,197 33,390 42,904 
After two years but before three years 136,707 134,418 33,474 32,033 
After three years but before five years 272,107 265,478 70,452 65,227 
After five years  4,223,722  4,248,261  1,526,934  1,524,510 

 4,770,694  4,795,354  1,664,250  1,664,674 
 4,925,921  5,019,713  1,713,033  1,782,408 

Less: Future finance charges (3,212,888) (3,237,305)  -    -   
 1,713,033  1,782,408  1,713,033  1,782,408 

(iii) The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases: 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

(Loss)/gain on lease reassessment (note 27)  (257)  73,226 
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (note 28)  (64,420)  (65,177)
Interest expense (included in finance costs) (note 31)  (108,477)  (111,759)
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets and short term leases  (76,979)  (20,424)

(b) THE COMPANY

(i) Right-of-use assets

At 1 July 2019, the lease of Ambre Resort by Sun Limited from Armand Apavou & Co Ltd was recognised as a right-
of-use asset. Sun Limited subsequently subleased the Ambre Resort to its subsidiary company, Ambre Resort Ltd up to 
September 2022, which resulted in a derecognition of the right-of-use asset in 2020.

(ii) Lease liabilities Leasehold building

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 01 July  26,782  129,647 
Interest expense  336  4,573 
Payments*  (27,118)  (107,438)
At 30 June  -    26,782 

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

Current liabilities  -    26,782 

Payment* is considered as a non-cash transaction in the statements of cash flows.

5. LEASES (CONT’D)
(b) THE COMPANY (CONT’D)
(ii) Lease liabilities (cont’d)

Minimum lease payments and present value of minimum lease payments are as follows:

Minimum lease payments
Present value of minimum 

lease payments
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Repayable:
Within one year  -    27,118  -    26,782 
Less: Future finance charges  -   (336)  -    -   

 -    26,782  -    26,782 

(iii) The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases: 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

Interest expense (included in finance costs)  (336)  (4,573)
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets that are not shown above as short-term leases  (1,163)  (2,969)

6. OPERATING EQUIPMENT
Accounting policies
Operating equipment is shown at cost less amounts written off for usage, breakages and losses. Operating equipment 
arising from renovation projects are capitalised and amortised over a period of 3 to 5 years depending on the nature 
of assets. All other operational replacement are expensed in the profit or loss at the time of replacement.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July 15,923 9,061  -    -   
Additions 18,693 11,857  -    -   
Transfer from inventories      - 2,271  -    -   
Charge for the year (note 28) (8,492) (3,365)  -    -   
Usage (4,899) (3,901)  -    -   
At 30 June  21,225  15,923  -    -   

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Accounting policies

Upon initial recognition, intangible assets are measured at cost unless acquired through a business combination, in which 
case they are measured at fair value. Intangible assets are amortised with finite useful lives when the asset is ready for its 
intended use. Subsequently, the asset is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 4 to 8 years. Any impairment in value 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Pre-operational costs, marketing launch costs and expenses incurred during renovation and extension works and hotel 
redevelopments are written off to profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated in Mauritian Rupee at the closing rate.  Exchange differences arising are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the gains and losses 
on disposal.
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)
Accounting policies (cont’d)

Impairment testing

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment whenever an event or change in circumstances indicates 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Indefinite-life intangible assets and goodwill are tested for impairment 
annually as at 30 June, or more frequently if there are indicators of impairment.

If the recoverable amount of an individual intangible asset cannot be estimated because it does not generate independent 
cash inflows, the entire cash-generating unit (CGU) to which it belongs is tested for impairment.

Goodwill is allocated to CGUs (or groups of CGUs) based on the level at which management monitors goodwill, which cannot 
be higher than an operating segment. The allocation of goodwill is made to CGUs (or groups of CGUs) that are expected to 
benefit from the synergies and future growth of the business combination from which the goodwill arose.

Recognition and measurement of an impairment charge

An intangible asset or goodwill is impaired if the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount. The recoverable 
amount of a CGU or asset is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and value in use.

If the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, its carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment charge is recognised immediately.

A previously recognised impairment loss, except in respect of goodwill, is reversed if the estimate of the recoverable 
amount of a previously impaired asset or CGU has increased such that the impairment recognised in a previous year 
has reversed. The reversal is recognised by increasing the asset’s or CGU’s carrying amount to the new estimate of its 
recoverable amount. The carrying amount of the asset or CGU subsequent to the reversal cannot be greater than its 
carrying amount had an impairment loss been recognised in previous years.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment of goodwill and assets

Estimations have been used in determining the recoverable amount of goodwill and long-lived assets. The determination of 
the recoverable amount for the purpose of impairment testing requires the use of significant estimates, such as:
• future cash flows;
• terminal growth rates; and
• discount rates

The value in use for impairment tests is estimated by discounting estimated future cash flows to their present value. 
The discounted future cash flows are estimated for periods of up to ten years, depending on the CGU, and a terminal value. 
The future cash flows are based on our estimates and expected future operating results of the CGU after considering 
economic conditions and a general outlook for the CGU’s industry. Our discount rates consider market rates of return, 
debt to equity ratios, and certain risk premiums, among other things. The terminal value is the value attributed to the 
CGU’s operations beyond the projected time period of the cash flows using a perpetuity rate based on expected economic 
conditions and a general outlook for the industry.

When deriving expected future cash flows, certain assumptions are made which may include assumptions pertaining to 
discount and terminal growth rates. These assumptions may differ or change quickly depending on economic conditions 
or other events. It is therefore possible that future changes in assumptions may negatively affect future valuations of CGUs 
and goodwill, which could result in impairment losses.

The growth in revenue is based on management’s best estimates of the occupancy rates and the average daily room 
rates of the Group for the year, taking into consideration historical entity specific data and future sales strategies. 
Room departmental profits are based on historical entity specific data and the anticipated improvement in cost 
optimisation strategies.

The rate used to discount the cash flows is the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) and reflects the risks specific 
to each GCU, taking into consideration the time value of money, individual risks of the underlying assets that have not been 
incorporated in the cash flow estimates, the specific circumstances of the CGU and the estimated evolution of the cost of 
debt and cost of equity.

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)
Significant judgements

Judgements were made in determining CGUs and the allocation of goodwill to CGUs or groups of CGUs for the purpose of 
impairment testing.

ANNUAL IMPAIRMENT TESTING

For purposes of testing goodwill and assets for impairment, our CGUs, or groups of CGUs, correspond to the operating 
segments as disclosed in note 41.

Below is an overview of the methods and key assumptions used at the end of the reporting period, to determine recoverable 
amounts for CGUs or groups of CGUs.

2023 2022

Sunlife 
 resorts*

Resorts 
managed 

by external 
operators**

Sun  
managed  

resorts*

Resorts  
managed  

by external 
operators**

Carrying value of Goodwill Rs'000  -    223,689  -    223,689 
Carrying value of property,   
plant and equipment Rs'000  8,927,525  8,875,664  8,396,191  8,514,657 

Recoverable amount method  Value in use and 
market value 

 Value in use  Value in use and 
market value 

 Value in use 

Period of projected cash flows Years 10 10 10 10
Terminal capitalisation rate % 9.75% 9.00 - 9.25% 9.50% 9.0%
Discount rates % 13.57% 12.82% - 13.07% 12.00% 11.5%

*Sunlife resorts refer to Wolmar Sun Hotels Limited, Long Beach Resort Ltd, City and Beach Hotels (Mauritius) Limited and 
Loisirs des Iles Ltée. Wolmar Sun Hotels Limited, Long Beach Resort Ltd and City and Beach Hotels (Mauritius) Limited were 
valued based on projected cash flows and Loisirs des Iles Ltée was valued based on sales comparison approach.
**Resorts managed by external operators refer to Anahita Hotel Limited and SRL Touessrok Hotel Ltd, of which Sun Limited 
owns 100% and 74% respectively. These resorts were valued based on present value of projected cash flows.

For those assets and goodwill where the carrying values of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, exceeded their recoverable 
amounts, an impairment charge was accounted for and disclosed under note 29.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs would equal their carrying amounts if the key assumption, i.e. discount rate, was to 
change as follows:

2023 2022
From To From To

Change in discount rate
Anahita Hotel Limited 12.82% 17.95% 11.50% 16.16%
City and Beach Hotels (Mauritius) Limited 13.57% 28.82% 12.00% 26.57%
Long Beach Resort Ltd 13.57% 17.58% 12.00% 22.91%
Wolmar Sun Hotels Limited 13.57% 27.02% 12.00% 24.23%
SRL Touessrok Hotel Ltd 13.07% 13.98% 11.50% 15.60%

Refer to note 8 for the sensitivity analysis on the key estimates used.
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)

(a) THE GROUP
Goodwill

Computer
software Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
COST
At 1 July 2021  225,016  182,262  407,278 
Additions  -    1,300  1,300 
Write off  -    (209)  (209)
Retranslation difference  -    (542)  (542)
At 30 June 2022  225,016  182,811  407,827 
Additions  -    9,513  9,513 
Retranslation difference  -    (543)  (543)
At 30 June 2023  225,016  191,781  416,797 
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 July 2021  -    137,884  137,884 
Charge for the year  -    33,292  33,292 
Retranslation difference  -    (436)  (436)
At 30 June 2022  -    170,740  170,740 
Charge for the year  -    8,346  8,346 
Retranslation difference  -    (485)  (485)
At 30 June 2023  -    178,601  178,601 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 30 June 2023  225,016  13,180  238,196 
At 30 June 2022  225,016  12,071  237,087 

(b) Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following CGUs:

THE GROUP

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

Hotel property CGU - Anahita Hotel Limited  223,689  223,689 
Tour operator CGU  1,327  1,327 

 225,016  225,016 

(c) THE COMPANY Computer software
2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000
COST
At 1 July  117,703  117,703 
Additions  6,602  -   
At 30 June  124,305  117,703 
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 July  109,911  78,966 
Charge for the year  6,382  30,945 
At 30 June  116,293  109,911 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 30 June  8,012  7,792 

8. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES
Accounting policies

In the Company’s separate financial statements, interest in subsidiaries are classified at fair value through other 
comprehensive income and are carried at fair value. The investment in subsidiaries are not quoted in an active market 
and are determined using valuation techniques such as net asset value or adjusted discounted cash flows, whichever 
is the most appropriate. Adjusted discounted cash flows takes into consideration adjustments for debts, cash and cash 
equivalents, loan to/from subsidiaries and other relevant assets and liabilities.

Significant judgements

The Company exercises judgement and estimates on the quantity and quality of pricing sources used. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

THE COMPANY 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

At valuation
At 1 July  18,057,235  18,761,367 
Additions  -    178,123 
Write off during the year  -    (20)
Fair value adjustments accounted as other comprehensive income  2,611,160  (882,235)
Fair value adjustments accounted in profit and loss  (63,492)  -   
At 30 June  20,604,903  18,057,235 

The interest in subsidiaries are measured at fair value by an independent valuation specialist and are classified under 
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Company has fair valued its investment in subsidiaries as follows:

• Investment in companies holding the resorts - based on an income approach using discounted cash flow method 
which Management believes to be the best valuation technique for these resorts. The discounted cash flows approach 
includes some assumptions that are not supportable by observable market prices or rates.

• Investment in other companies - being on the net assets approach, as the net assets are deemed to approximate the 
fair value.

The table below depicts the sensitivity analysis of the key estimates used in deriving the fair value of the investment 
in subsidiaries:

Decrease 
of 0.5% in 

discount rate

Increase 
of 0.5% in 

terminal 
growth rate

Increase 
of 1% in 

occupancy 
rateFair value movement of investment in subsidiaries:

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
2023  1,262,685  643,760  622,849 
2022  1,010,004  619,724  423,724 
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8. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)
(a) Unquoted Investments, at valuation

2023

Stated
capital

Proportion of
ownership interest

and voting rights held

Proportion of ownership
interests held by

non-controlling interests
Country of

incorporation
and operation Business Activity

Period
end

Direct Indirect
Ordinary

shares
30 June

2023
Ordinary

shares
Preference

shares
Ordinary

shares
Preference

shares

Rs’000 % % % % %

Ambre Resort Ltd Mauritius Resort  30 June  10  -    -    100.00  -    -   

Anahita Hotel Limited Mauritius Resort  30 June  1,060,443  100.00  -    -    -    -   

City and Beach Hotels 
(Mauritius) Limited Mauritius Resort  30 June  15,532  99.82  99.99  -    0.18  0.01 

Loisirs des Iles Ltée  Mauritius  Golf & Restaurant  30 June  60,800  99.96  100.00  -    0.04  -   

Long Beach IHS Ltd Mauritius
Property 

Developer  30 June  **  100.00  -    -    -    -   

Long Beach Resort Ltd Mauritius Resort  30 June  10  -    -    100.00  -    -   

CTL Retail Ltd Mauritius Non-trading  30 June  10,001  -    -    100.00  -    -   

SRL Kanuhura Ltd(2) BVI / Maldives Non-trading  31 December  1,403  -    -    100.00  -    -   

SRL Maldives Ltd Seychelles Hotel Investment  30 June  1,262,250  -    -    100.00  -    -   

SRL Management Ltd(2) Seychelles Management  30 June  589,050  -    -    100.00  -    -   

8. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)
(a) Unquoted Investments, at valuation (cont’d)

2023

Stated
capital

Proportion of
ownership interest

and voting rights held

Proportion of ownership 
interests held by non-
controlling interests

Country of
incorporation
and operation Business Activity

Period
end

30 June
2023

Direct Indirect
Ordinary

shares
Ordinary

shares
Preference

shares
Ordinary

shares
Preference

shares

Rs’000 % % % % %
SRL Marketing Ltd UK Marketing Office  30 June  64  -    -    100.00  -    -   
SRL Property Ltd Mauritius Non-trading  30 June  **  100.00  -    -    -    -   
SRL Touessrok Hotel Ltd Mauritius Hotel  30 June  3,327,500  74.00  -    -    26.00  -   
Sun Training Institute Ltd Mauritius Training  30 June  100  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Hotel Holdings Ltd Mauritius Investment  30 June  10  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Sun International 
Management Ltd Mauritius Investment  30 June  36  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Leisure Hotels Limited Mauritius Property  30 June  25  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Sun Leisure Investments 
Limited(1) Mauritius Non-trading  30 June  14,264  99.89  -    -    0.11  -   
Sun Logistics Ltd(3) Mauritius Logistics  30 June  10  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Resorts (Seychelles) 
Limited(2) Seychelles Non-trading  30 June  44  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Resorts CSR Fund Ltd Mauritius Charitable Fund  30 June  1  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Resorts France Sarl France Marketing Office  30 June  4,219  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sunlife Hotel Management 
Ltd (Previously known 
as Sun Resorts Hotel 
Management Ltd) Mauritius

Hotel 
Management  30 June  10  100.00  -    -    -    -   

Sun Resorts International 
Limited Mauritius Investment  30 June  1,522,624  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Sun Styled Boutiques Ltd Mauritius Retail  30 June  600  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Sun Support Ltd Mauritius Investment  30 June  10  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Supply Chain Experts Ltd Mauritius Procurement  30 June  10  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Washright Services 
Limited Mauritius Laundry  30 June  10,000  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Wolmar Sun Hotels Limited Mauritius Resort  30 June  25  100.00  -    -    -    -   
World Leisure Holidays 
(Pty) Ltd South Africa Tour Operator  30 June  1,363  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Hotels & Resorts 
GMBH Germany Marketing Office  30 June  993  -    -    100.00  -    -   
SRL Touessrok IHS Villas 
Ltd(1) Mauritius Non-trading  30 June  **  -    -    100.00  -    -   
GreenSun Management 
Ltd(1) Mauritius Non-trading  30 June  10  100.00  -    -    -    -   

(1) These companies were non-trading as at 30 June 2021, 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023.
(2) These companies were wound up during the year ended 30 June 2023.
(3) Sun Logistics Ltd was amalgamated with Loisirs des Iles Ltée effective 1 February 2023. This amalgamation did not result in material adjustment in the 
Group.
**: Represents investment amounting to Rs 100 which is not shown due to rounding off to the nearest thousand.
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8. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)
(a) Unquoted Investments, at valuation (cont’d)

2022

Stated
capital

Proportion of
ownership interest

and voting rights held

Proportion of ownership 
interests held by non-
controlling interests

Country of
incorporation
and operation Business Activity

Period
end

30 June
2022

Direct Indirect 
Ordinary 

shares
Ordinary

shares
Preference

shares
Ordinary

shares
Preference

shares

Rs’000 % % % % %
Ambre Resort Ltd Mauritius Resort  30 June  10  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Anahita Hotel Limited Mauritius Resort  30 June  1,060,443  100.00  -    -    -    -   
City and Beach Hotels 
(Mauritius) Limited Mauritius Resort  30 June  15,532  99.82  99.99  -    0.18  0.01 
Loisirs des Iles Ltée  Mauritius  Golf & Restaurant  30 June  60,800  99.96  100.00  -    0.04  -   

Long Beach IHS Ltd Mauritius
Property 

Developer  30 June  **  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Long Beach Resort Ltd Mauritius Resort  30 June  10  -    -    100.00  -    -   
CTL Retail Ltd(4) Mauritius Retail  30 June  10,001  -    -    100.00  -    -   

SRL Kanuhura Ltd(3) BVI / Maldives Resort
 31 

December  1,403  -    -    100.00  -    -   
SRL Maldives Ltd Seychelles Hotel Investment  30 June  1,262,250  -    -    100.00  -    -   
SRL Management Ltd Seychelles Management  30 June  589,050  -    -    100.00  -    -   
SRL Marketing Ltd UK Marketing Office  30 June  64  -    -    100.00  -    -   
SRL Property Ltd* Mauritius Non-trading  30 June  **  100.00  -    -    -    -   
SRL Touessrok Hotel Ltd Mauritius Hotel  30 June  3,327,500  74.00  -    -    26.00  -   
Sun Centralised Services 
Ltd(2) Mauritius Non-trading  30 June  10  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Training Institute Ltd Mauritius Training  30 June  100  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Hotel Holdings Ltd Mauritius Investment  30 June  10  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Sun International 
Management Ltd Mauritius Investment  30 June  36  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Leisure Hotels Limited Mauritius Property  30 June  25  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Sun Leisure Investments 
Limited(1) Mauritius Non-trading  30 June  14,264  99.89  -    -    0.11  -   
Sun Logistics Ltd Mauritius Logistics  30 June  10  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Resorts (Seychelles) 
Limited(1) Seychelles Non-trading  30 June  44  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Resorts CSR Fund Ltd Mauritius Charitable Fund  30 June  1  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Resorts France Sarl France Marketing Office  30 June  4,219  -    -    100.00  -    -   
Sun Resorts Hotel 
Management Ltd Mauritius

Hotel 
Management  30 June  10  100.00  -    -    -    -   

Sun Resorts International 
Limited Mauritius Investment  30 June  1,522,624  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Sun Styled Boutiques Ltd Mauritius Retail  30 June  600  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Sun Support Ltd Mauritius Investment  30 June  10  100.00  -    -    -    -   
Supply Chain Experts Ltd Mauritius Procurement  30 June  10  -    -    100.00  -    -   

8. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)
(a) Unquoted Investments, at valuation (cont’d)

2022

Stated
capital

Proportion of
ownership interest

and voting rights held

Proportion of ownership 
interests held by non-
controlling interests

Country of
incorporation
and operation Business Activity

Period
end

Direct Indirect 
Ordinary 

shares
30 June

2022
Ordinary

shares
Preference

shares
Ordinary

shares
Preference

shares

Rs’000 % % % % %

Washright Services 
Limited Mauritius Laundry  30 June  10,000  100.00  -    -    -    -   

Wolmar Sun Hotels 
Limited Mauritius Resort  30 June  25  100.00  -    -    -    -   

World Leisure Holidays 
(Pty) Ltd South Africa Tour Operator  30 June  1,363  -    -    100.00  -    -   

Sun Hotels & Resorts 
GMBH Germany Marketing Office  30 June  993  -    -    100.00  -    -   

GreenSun 
Management Ltd(1) Mauritius Non-trading  30 June  10  100.00  -    -    -    -   

(1) These companies were non-trading as at 30 June 2020, 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022.
(2) This company was wound up during the year ended 30 June 2022.
(3) The assets of SRL Kanuhura Ltd were disposed on 3 May 2021 and the company is in the process of being wound up at 30 June 2022.
(4)  Effective 30 June 2022, the Management has taken the decision to close out the retail outlet, CTL Retail Ltd, in order to focus on the hotel retail 

operations and the brand-led transformation strategy. 
**: Represents investment amounting to Rs 100 which is not shown due to rounding off to the nearest thousand.

(b) Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Details of the subsidiary that has non-controlling interest that is material to the entity:

Profit allocated to  
non-controlling interest

during the year
Accumulated non-controlling

interest atName
Principal place 

of business
Proportion of interest  

held by NCI

2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
SRL Touessrok 
Hotel Ltd Mauritius 26%  50,552  14,205  922,621  848,373 
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8. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)
(c) Summarised financial information on subsidiary with material non-controlling interests

(i) Summarised statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Name
Current

assets

Non-
current
assets

Current
liabilities

Non-
current

liabilities Revenue

Profit from 
continuing
operations

Other
comprehensive

income for  
the year

Total
comprehensive

income for  
the year

Dividend 
paid to non-

controlling
interest

SRL Touessrok 
Hotel Ltd Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

30 June 2023 360,760 5,083,078 316,919 1,578,377 1,447,921 194,430 116,998 311,428 -   

30 June 2022 151,315 4,970,692 366,784 1,492,249 925,194 54,634 587,720 642,354 -   

(ii) Summarised cash flow information:

Operating
activities

Investing
activities

Financing
activities

Net 
increase in 

cash and 
cash

equivalentsName
SRL Touessrok Hotel Ltd Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
30 June 2023  374,618  (31,140)  (152,351)  191,127 
30 June 2022  350,621  (15,997)  (234,985)  99,639 

The summarised financial information above is prior to intra-group eliminations.

9. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE
Accounting policies

Separate financial statements

In the separate financial statements, investments in associated companies are carried at cost. The carrying amount is 
reduced to recognise any impairment in the value of individual investments.

Consolidated financial statements

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, or joint control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method except when classified as held-for-sale.  Investments 
in associates are initially recognised at cost as adjusted by post acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net assets 
of the associate less any impairment in the value of individual investments.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition and the Group's share of the net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets 
and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost 
of acquisition, after assessment, is included as income in the determination of the Group's share of the associate's profit 
or loss.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the Group discontinues recognising further losses, 
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligation or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Where necessary, appropriate adjustments are made to the financial statements of associate to bring the accounting 
policies used in line with those adopted by the Group.

If the ownership in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

Dilution gains or losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in profit or loss.

9. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE (CONT’D)
Accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July  285,207  392,645  285,207  392,645 
Dividend income  (27,118)  (107,438)  -  - 
Impairment charges (note 9(e))  -  -  -  (107,438)
At 30 June  258,089  285,207  285,207  285,207 

(b) Details of associate at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Period end Nature of business
Principal place 

of business

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting 

rights heldName

2023 & 2022 Direct Indirect
EastCoast Hotel Investment Ltd 31 December Investment holding Mauritius 30% -

Due to the lack of information available on the financial results of the associate, a recoverable amount approach has been 
adopted to determine the value of the investment at year end. The assessment has been carried out by determining the 
total recoverable amount of EastCoast Hotel Investment Ltd based on the value-in-use calculations. These calculations 
are determined by discounting future contractual dividend income from its associate at a discount rate of 10.70% 
(2022: 10.42%) until financial year 2025. The discount rate which represents the current market assessment of the risk 
specific to the associate taking into consideration the time value of money and the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC) is a key assumption.

If the discount rate applied to the cash flow projections had been 1% higher than management's estimates, the Group's and 
Company's recoverable amount would have decreased by Rs 4.4m (2022: Rs 3.6m).
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10. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE
Accounting policies

The Group has an interest in a joint venture which is a jointly controlled entity, whereby the venturers have a contractual 
arrangement that establishes joint control over the economic activities of the entity. The Group recognises its interest in the 
joint venture using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the interest in joint venture is carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus post 
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture. Goodwill relating to the joint venture is included 
in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. The statement of 
profit or loss reflects the share of the results of operations of the joint venture.

Where there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any 
changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting 
from transactions between the Group and the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint venture. 
The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company.

(a) THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  63,693  49,277  -  - 
Dividend income  (5,040)  -  -  - 
Share of results after income tax  24,700  19,515  -  - 
Share of other comprehensive income  6,187  (5,099)  -  - 
At 30 June  89,540  63,693  -  - 

(b) Details of joint venture at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name
Period

end
Nature of
business

Principal
place of
business

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting 

rights held
Direct Indirect

Solea Vacances SA 30 June Tour Operators France - 50%

(c) Summarised financial information Solea Vacances SA
2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000
Statement of financial position
Current assets  465,375  316,680 
Non-current assets  13,456  4,936 
Current liabilities  343,704  235,324 
Non-current liabilities  -    -   
Cash and cash equivalents  107,557  17,239 
Current financial liabilities  343,704  235,324 

Solea Vacances SA
2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Revenue  2,187,376  1,223,148 
Profit for the year  49,400  39,030 
Depreciation and amortisation  (1,950)  (858)
Net finance income  83  510 
Income tax charge  (9,165)  - 

10. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE (CONT’D)
(d) Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount recognised in the financial statements:

Solea Vacances SA
2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000
Net assets  67,563  43,146 
Goodwill  21,977  20,547 
Interest in joint venture  89,540  63,693 

11. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Accounting policies
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) comprise equity securities which are not 
held for trading, and which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category. These 
are strategic investments and the Group considers this classification to be more relevant. On disposal of these equity 
investments, any related balance within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to retained earnings.
The fair value of securities not quoted in an active market is determined using the net asset value.
Sources of estimation uncertainty
Fair value of securities not quoted in an active market
The Group would exercise judgement and estimates on the quantity and quality of pricing sources used. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Refer also to note 39.7.

AT VALUATION THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Fair value through other comprehensive income
Listed equity investments
At 1 July  -  3  -  3 
Impairment charges  -  (3)  -  (3)
At 30 June  -  -  -  - 
Unlisted equity investments
At 1 July  165,502  170,376  -  5,547 
Transfer from other financial assets  -  917  -  - 
Impairment charges  -  (5,547)  -  (5,547)
Fair value adjustments  785  (244)  -  - 
At 30 June  166,287  165,502  -  - 
Total  166,287  165,502  -  - 

At 30 June 2022, the unquoted investments of Rs 5.5m, which were included under unlisted equity, were fully impaired by 
the Directors as the fair values cannot be reliably measured. All unquoted investments are classified under level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy.

The investments are denominated in Mauritian Rupee.

The fair value of investments would be estimated to be Rs 16.6m (2022: Rs 16.6m) lower/higher following a 10% change in 
the net asset values. 
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12. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Loans under Executive Share Scheme  13,995  16,920  13,995  16,920 
Loans to subsidiaries (note 35(i))  -  -  293,000  1,733,317 

 13,995  16,920  306,995  1,750,237 

(a) Loans under Executive Share Scheme
Loans under Executive Share Scheme relates to the previous scheme granted to key executives where cash was advanced 
to certain individuals to acquire shares in the Company at market value at grant date. The term of the scheme was such that 
when the shares are disposed, the proceed is to be used to settle the loan advanced.
The loan carries interest of 3% which is payable half yearly in December and June. The interest for the year has been waived 
by the Board.
The scheme was discontinued on 30 June 2016 and replaced by the Phantom Share Option Scheme (see note 21(b)).

(b) Finance lease receivables
Finance lease receivables for the Company related to leasehold land subleased to Ambre Resort up to September 2022.

THE COMPANY

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

Receivable: Within one year  -    20,160 
Effect of discounting  -    (249)
Total finance lease receivables  -    19,911 
Included in the financial statements as:
Current assets (note 14)  -    19,911 
Total finance lease receivable from subsidiary company  -    19,911 

(c) Loans to subsidiaries

The loans to subsidiaries are unsecured with no fixed term of repayment and are interest bearing at 6.75% per annum 
(2022: 6.25%).

13. INVENTORIES
Accounting policy
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and 
variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories by the method most appropriate to the particular class of inventory, 
with the majority being valued on an average cost basis. Net realisable value is determined based on the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less any estimated costs associated with the sale.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Food and beverages  70,521  55,692  -    -   
Operating supplies  26,880  20,378  -    -   
Spare parts  7,120  3,812  -    -   
Fabric and linen  10,435  7,878  -    -   
Retail products  24,744  15,803  -    -   

 139,700  103,563  -    -   

(a) The inventories' pledged as security for the debts of the Group have been disclosed under note 18 (g). Write downs of 
inventories for the current year amount to Rs Nil (2022: Rs Nil).

(b) Cost of inventories expensed in food and beverages amounts to Rs 809.8m for the Group (2022: Rs 475.8m). 

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Accounting policies and significant judgements

Refer to note 39 on accounting policies and significant judgements on financial assets

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Trade receivables 413,547  345,180        -        -
Less: provision for impairment (note (iv)) (16,145) (21,996)        -        -
Trade receivables - net 397,402 323,184        -        -
Prepayments 140,899 181,198        -        -
Other receivables 98,238 76,697 7,902 12,931 
VAT recoverable        -        - 2,461 2,733 
Finance lease receivables (note 12(b))        -        -        - 19,911 
Derivative financial assets (note 14(e)) 54,552        - 50,994        -
Amounts due by related parties, net of provision for 
impairment (note 35(i)) 56,508 10,634 107,662 538,557 

747,599 591,713 169,019 574,132 

(a) The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair value.

(b) (i) The average credit period on sales of services is 40 days. The Group has fully provided for all receivables where 
recovery is expected to be remote.

(ii) The Group and the Company do not hold any collateral over these balances but have an insurance cover for some major 
trade tour operators to mitigate the risks of irrecoverable debts. Before giving credit to any tour operators, the Group 
allows for a period of trading which is exclusively on a cash basis. Thereafter, a credit limit may be created in favour 
of the customer based on his past dealings and payment pattern. Furthermore, the Group uses, as far as possible, 
the database available through its credit insurer to check and monitor regularly the creditworthiness of the customer.

(iii) Ageing of past due trade debtors

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Within 31 - 60 days 100,469 55,298  -    -   
Within 61 - 90 days 22,711 44,468  -    -   
Over 90 days 25,779 38,434  -    -   
Total  148,959  138,200  -    -   

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group and the Company consider any change in the credit quality 
of the trade receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. The concentration 
of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being diverse and unrelated.

(iv) Movement in provision for impairment THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  21,996  38,848  -  - 
Movement in impairment loss recognised on 
trade receivables:

- Provision for receivable impairment  (56)  (4,695)  -  - 
- Impairment loss reversed  (42)  (2,464)  -  - 

Receivable written off during the year as uncollectible  (5,753)  (9,693)  -  - 
At 30 June  16,145  21,996  -  - 
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)
(v) The provision for impairment on amount receivables from related parties for the Company has been disclosed under 

note 35(i).

Other than trade receivables and receivables from related parties, the other classes within trade and other receivables do 
not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying value of each class of receivable 
mentioned above.

(c) Trade receivables - days past due

Current
Within 31 - 60 

days
Within 61 - 

90 days Over 90 days Total
(i) The Group

30 June 2023
Expected credit loss rate (%) 2.0% 5.2% 1.2% 21.2%
Gross carrying amount (Rs’000)  264,588  100,469  22,711  25,779 
Loss allowance (Rs’000)  5,211  5,191  267  5,476  16,145 
30 June 2022
Expected credit loss rate (%) 1.9% 7.3% 1.4% 34.7%
Gross carrying amount (Rs’000)  206,980  55,298  44,468  38,434 
Loss allowance (Rs’000)  4,018  4,039  601  13,338  21,996 

(d) The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates are reviewed annually or when there is a 
significant increase in external factors, potentially impacting credit risk and are updated where management’s expectations 
of credit losses change. As at 30 June 2023, management has continued to adopt a conservation approach by maintaining 
a high provision on trade receivables that are due for more than 180 days.

(e) The Group utilises foreign currency forward and swap contracts in the management of its exchange rate exposures. The 
Group had the following forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Notional amount Carrying amount
Selling 

currency
Buying 

currency Assets Liabilities
Amount ‘000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(i) The Group
30 June 2023
EUR to MUR  42,800  2,168,411  45,962  - 
USD to MUR  700  31,535  -  (15)
GBP to MUR  20,100  1,160,338  8,590  - 
ZAR to MUR  64,000  154,685  -  (1,120)

 54,552  (1,135)
(ii) The Company

30 June 2023
EUR to MUR  41,300  2,093,106  44,997  - 
USD to MUR  700  31,535  -  (15)
GBP to MUR  16,500  951,508  5,997  - 
ZAR to MUR  64,000  154,685  -  (1,120)

 50,994  (1,135)

15. STATED CAPITAL
Accounting policies

(a) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as deduction, net of tax, from proceeds.

(b) Treasury shares

When the Company purchases its equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly 
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders 
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. When such shares are reissued, any net consideration received, is included in 
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

Number
of shares

Ordinary
shares

Share
premium

Treasury
shares Total

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July 2022  194,545,072  1,945,451  3,138,833  (1,451,389)  3,632,895 
Movement during the year  -  -  -  (2,925)  (2,925)
At 30 June 2023  194,545,072  1,945,451  3,138,833  (1,454,314)  3,629,970 

In the issued and fully paid ordinary shares above, the Company held 20,181,046 treasury shares (2022: 20,118,546), 
for which the Company has the right to reissue these shares at a later date. Fully paid up ordinary shares have a par value 
of Rs 10 each, carry one voting right and a right to dividend.
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16. CONVERTIBLE BONDS
Accounting policy

A policy choice is available for the treatment of the convertible bonds, that is, the Group can either treat the convertible 
bonds as equity or compound financial instrument with an embedded derivative. The Directors have opted to treat the 
convertible bonds as equity where both the principal and interest components have been classified as equity on initial 
recognition based on the subscription proceeds received, net of transaction costs, and is not subsequently remeasured.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  2,812,392  2,264,792  -    -   
Additions  275,000  550,000  -    -   
Front-end fee transferred from prepayment  (1,200)  (2,400)  -    -   
At 30 June  3,086,192  2,812,392  -    -   
Interest accrued accounted under Statements of changes in 
equity at 30 June  96,398  77,403  -    -   

During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the Group, through two of its wholly owned subsidiaries namely Long Beach 
Resort Ltd and Anahita Hotel Limited, contracted with the Mauritius Investment Corporation Ltd ("MIC"), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Bank of Mauritius to issue redeemable convertible bonds for a total amount of Rs 3.1 billion comprising 
310 bonds of Rs 10 million each.

One of the main objectives of the MIC was to provide financial support to companies impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic 
and in particular to the tourism sector which had the worst impact due to the full border closure. The MIC support is in the 
form of redeemable convertible bonds to companies which required urgent working capital to sustain its viability.

Key terms and conditions of the funding arrangements are as follows:

• The bonds shall be issued in four equal tranches.

• The maturity date is 9 years from first disbursement of the first tranche of the subscription proceeds being on 
14 December 2029.

• The conversion has been pre-determined prior to the subscription.

• All outstanding bonds will be converted into ordinary shares at a pre-agreed formula and price on maturity date.

• The interest rates ranges between 3.00% to 3.25% p.a. over the duration of the bonds (from issue date to the earlier 
of the redemption date or the conversion date). On maturity date, any unpaid capital and interest is converted into 
ordinary shares in accordance with the predetermined conversion price.

• The conversion price is subject to certain adjustments such as capitalisation of profit or reserves, capital distribution, 
rights issues, share split, amongst others.

• Redemption of the bonds shall be at the option of the issuer. The issuer may redeem some or all the bonds, any time 
prior to the maturity date. The option price shall be determined as follows:

 - if redemption happens before the 4th anniversary of the first subscription, the redemption price shall be the  
nominal amount,"

 - if redemption happens after the 4th anniversary of the first subscription, the redemption amount shall be 100.5% 
of the nominal amount."

17. RESERVES

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Property revaluation (note (a))  6,360,303  5,583,894  -    -   
Investment revaluation (note (b))  19,908  19,123  11,235,463  8,624,303 
Cash flow hedge reserve (note (c))  (285,157)  (114,872)  -    -   
Foreign currency translation (note (d))  644,978  558,593  -    -   

 6,740,032  6,046,738  11,235,463  8,624,303 

(a) Property revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land and buildings. When revalued land or buildings are sold, 
the portion of the property revaluation reserve that relates to that asset, is considered as effectively realised, and is 
transferred to retained earnings.

(b) The investment revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on the revaluation of financial assets 
at fair value through comprehensive income.

(c) Cash flow hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of the cash flow 
hedging instruments relating to highly probable hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.

(d) Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group's foreign operations from their functional 
currencies to the presentation currency are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
foreign currency translation reserve. Exchange differences previously accumulated in the foreign currency translation 
reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operations.  

18. LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans (note (a))  3,360,822  3,259,025  530,515  1,058,665 
Bonds (note (b))  1,072,280  2,296,620  -  1,294,300 
Loan from subsidiaries (note (d) and note 35(i))  -      - 1,630,000 700,000 

 4,433,102  5,555,645  2,160,515  3,052,965 
Current liabilities
Bank loans (note (a)) 500,755 922,641 83,119 670,990 
Bonds (note (b)) 336,024  364,480  336,024  -   
Bank overdrafts (note (c) and note 33)      - 2,119  -    -   

836,779 1,289,240 419,143 670,990 
Accrued interests 47,404 47,080 6,542 21,555 

884,183 1,336,320 425,685 692,545 
Total loans and other borrowings  5,317,285  6,891,965  2,586,200  3,745,510 

The maturity of the loans and other borrowings ranges between years 2023 - 2032.
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18. LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONT’D)

(a) Bank loans THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Repayable:
Within one year 500,755 922,641 83,119 670,990 
After one year but before two years 652,013 662,855 82,985 312,156 
After two years but before three years 700,854 672,316 85,246 232,245 
After three years but before five years 1,246,233 1,154,189 202,417 255,301 
After five years 761,722 769,665 159,867 258,963 
Non-current liabilities  3,360,822  3,259,025  530,515  1,058,665 
Total  3,861,577  4,181,666  613,634  1,729,655 

Included in the above loans are:
US Dollar loans  -   192,630  -   182,667 
Euro loans  3,057,506  2,792,643  514,012  1,131,601 
Great Britain Pound loans  141,122  133,461  -    -   
Mauritian Rupee loans  662,949  1,062,932  99,622  415,387 
Total  3,861,577  4,181,666  613,634  1,729,655 

The average interest rate on loans as at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
% % % %

Average interest rate 5.16 3.81 4.87 3.64

(b) Bonds

The maturity of the bonds ranges between 2023 to 2030. The bonds are arranged at floating and fixed interest rates and 
the average interest as at the end of reporting period was 3.74% per annum (2022: 4.28%).

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Repayable:
Within one year  336,024  364,480  336,024  -   
After one year but before two years  414,290  1,294,300  -    1,294,300 
After two years but before three years  -    387,260  -    -   
After three years but before five years  414,290  387,260  -    -   
After five years  243,700  227,800  -    -   
Non-current liabilities  1,072,280  2,296,620  -    1,294,300 
Total  1,408,304  2,661,100  336,024  1,294,300 

18. LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONT’D)
(c) Bank overdrafts

The average interest rate of bank overdrafts was as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
% % % %

Average interest rate  6.08  4.16  6.08  4.16 

(d) The loan from subsidiaries are unsecured, repayable after more than 12 months, denominated in Mauritian Rupee and carry 
interest at a rate between 3.25% to 3.30% per annum.

(e) The carrying amounts of borrowings are not materially different from the fair value. The borrowings are accounted for 
under amortised cost and there is a commitment for repayment.

(f) The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates, as well as the currency 
profile, have been detailed in note 39.6.

(g) The carrying amount of assets pledged as security for current and non-current borrowings are:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Current Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000
Fixed and floating charges
Cash and cash equivalents  1,509,317  1,280,133  802,740  769,565 
Trade and other receivables  319,174  258,914  58,896  12,930 
Inventories  109,139  85,182  -  - 
Total current assets pledged as security  1,937,630  1,624,229  861,636  782,495 

Non-current
First Mortgage
Freehold land and buildings  17,109,100  16,357,844  -  - 
Fixed and floating charges
Property, plant and equipment  344,941  324,065  745  818 
Intangible assets  11,841  10,930  8,012  7,792 
Investment in subsidiaries  -  -  20,604,903  18,057,235 
Investment in associates  285,207  285,207  285,207  285,207 

 641,989  620,202  20,898,867  18,351,052 
Total non-current assets pledged as security  17,751,089  16,978,046  20,898,867  18,351,052 
Total assets pledged as security  19,688,719  18,602,275  21,760,503  19,133,547 
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19. DEFERRED TAX
Accounting policy

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled 
or the asset realised, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.

Significant judgements

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred 
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax 
planning strategies. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be different. Judgements made in the recoverability of the 
deferred tax asset are aligned to those made in the going concern note 3 where considerations of the future profitability of 
the group have been made.

(a) The following amounts are shown in the statements of financial position:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Deferred tax assets  68,454  101,906  31,101  33,058 
Deferred tax liabilities  (1,516,553)  (1,252,489)  -  - 

 (1,448,099)  (1,150,583)  31,101  33,058 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry-forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit 
through future taxable profits is probable. Deferred tax assets not recognised was Rs 91.3m (2022: Rs 139.7m) for the 
Group due to uncertainty of future profit streams. The tax losses due to operations expire on a rolling basis over 5 years 
whereas capital allowances can be utilised indefinitely.

(b) The movement on the deferred tax is as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July  1,150,583  774,238  (33,058)  (31,523)
Recognised in profit or loss (note 24(b))  161,138  45,629  5,575  (5,822)
Recognised in other comprehensive income  135,850  329,895  (3,618)  4,287 
Exchange difference  528  821  -  - 
At 30 June  1,448,099  1,150,583  (31,101)  (33,058)

19. DEFERRED TAX (CONT’D)
(c) The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

(i) THE GROUP

At  
1 July

Recognised 
in profit 

or loss

Recognised 
in other

 comprehensive
 income 

Exchange 
difference

At
30 June

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
2023
Temporary differences:

Accelerated capital allowances  785,822  12,936  -  (5)  798,753 
Employee benefit liability  (30,242)  (5,381)  (11,253)  -  (46,876)
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment  898,501  -  147,103  -  1,045,604 
Other provisions  (16,075)  5,034  -  533  (10,508)
Contract liabilities  (10,323)  216  -  -  (10,107)
Right-of-use assets  (59,173)  3,512  -  -  (55,661)

Unused tax losses and credits  (417,927)  144,821  -  -  (273,106)
 1,150,583  161,138  135,850  528  1,448,099 

2022
Temporary differences:

Accelerated capital allowances  768,308  17,512  -  2  785,822 
Employee benefit liability  (42,436)  3,710  8,484  -  (30,242)
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment  577,090  -  321,411  -  898,501 
Other provisions  (11,475)  (6,214)  -  1,614  (16,075)
Contract liabilities  (10,539)  216  -  -  (10,323)
Right-of-use assets  (63,516)  4,343  -  -  (59,173)

Unused tax losses and credits  (443,194)  26,062  -  (795)  (417,927)
 774,238  45,629  329,895  821  1,150,583 

(ii) THE COMPANY

At
1 July

Recognised
in profit

or loss

Recognised
in other

comprehensive
income

At
30 June

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
2023
Temporary differences:

Accelerated capital allowances  (33,195)  6,355  -  (26,840)
Employee benefit liability  137  (780)  (3,618)  (4,261)

 (33,058)  5,575  (3,618)  (31,101)
2022
Temporary differences:

Accelerated capital allowances  (27,446)  (5,749)  -  (33,195)
Employee benefit liability  (4,077)  (73)  4,287  137 

 (31,523)  (5,822)  4,287  (33,058)
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITY
Accounting policies

(a) Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE)

The Group sponsors a CARE pension plan for its employees which also includes a No Worse Off Guarantee (“NWOG”) for 
some former members of predecessor defined benefit plans.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered 
service entitling them to the contributions.

The cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried 
out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the 
changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the 
statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which 
they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and 
will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying 
the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are 
categorised as follows:
• Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments 

and settlements);
• Net interest expense or income; and
• Remeasurement.

The Group presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss in the line item “Employee Benefits”. 
Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs. The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the 
statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus 
resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from 
the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans. A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier 
of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related 
restructuring costs.

(b) Other retirement benefits

The present value of other retirement benefits in respect of the Workers’ Rights Act 2019 is recognised in the statement 
of financial position as a non-current liability. Actuarial gains or losses are recognised using the same policy as described 
in note 20(a) above. For employees who are not covered (or who are insufficiently covered by the above pension plans), 
the net present value of gratuity on retirement payable under the Workers’ Rights Act 2019 is calculated by a qualified 
actuary and provided for. The obligations arising under this item are not funded.

(c) State plan

Contributions to the National Savings Fund are charged to profit or loss in the period in which they fall due.

(d) Share based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Company’s Phantom Share Option Scheme. 

(e) Severance Commitment

Benefits arising from the termination of employment are paid if an employee is laid off by the Group before normal 
retirement age. The Group pays severance commitments if it is under an obligation to terminate the employment of current 
employees in accordance with a detailed formal plan that cannot be revoked or if it is under an obligation to pay compensation 
in the event of employment being terminated voluntarily by the employee. Payments that are due for settlement in more 
than twelve months after the date of the financial statements are discounted to calculate their present value.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and related provisions requires the use of actuarial valuations. The actuarial 
valuation involves the use of significant estimates in respect of inter alia, discount rate, expected returns on plan 
assets, future salary increases, mortality rate and future pension increases. Due to long term nature of these plans, such 
estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. Any changes in the assumptions regarding the estimates will impact the 
carrying amount of the pension obligation. The net employee liability/(asset) at 30 June 2023 is Rs 288.2m for the Group 
(2022: Rs 184.8m) and Rs 25.1m for the Company (2022: Rs (0.8)m).

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (CONT’D)

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Pension plan (note (a))  (172)  (34,913)  13,947  (5,014)
Other retirement benefits (note (b))  288,446  219,672  11,119  4,212 

 288,274  184,759  25,066  (802)

Analysed as follows:
Employee benefit asset (172) (34,913) - (5,014)
Employee benefit liability 288,446 219,672 25,066 4,212 
At 30 June  288,274  184,759  25,066  (802)

(a) Pension plan

(i) The Group pension scheme consists of a Career Average Revalued Earnings section ("CARE") and a No Worse Off Guarantee 
("NWOG") section. The CARE section provides all members of the fund with pensions secured by contributions to a Personal 
Accrued Pension accounts while the NWOG section covers only those members who were transferred from a former Defined 
Benefit ("DB") plan, guaranteeing them that at retirement their benefits are at least equivalent to those under the previous DB 
plans. Hence, the scheme is an hybrid plan with characteristics of both Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution.
The assets of the plan are independently administered by MUA Pension Ltd. 
The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations were carried 
out at 30 June 2023 by Aon Solutions Ltd. The present value of the defined benefit obligations and the related current 
service cost and past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

(ii) Reconciliation of net defined benefit liability:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July (34,913) 45,150 (5,014) 17,419 
Amount recognised in profit or loss (note 26) 46,120 27,257 6,281 6,974 
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income 40,276 (35,973) 19,889 (22,483)
Contributions from employer (51,655) (71,347) (7,209) (6,924)
At 30 June (172) (34,913) 13,947 (5,014)

Amounts recognised in the statements of financial position:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Present value of funded obligations  808,312  786,772  250,721  242,504 
Fair value of plan assets  (808,484)  (821,685)  (236,774)  (247,518)
At 30 June  (172)  (34,913)  13,947  (5,014)

(iii) Reconciliation of present value of the defined benefit obligations:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July  786,772  731,992  242,504  239,319 
Current service cost 49,396  26,918 5,629  6,300 
Contributions from employees 10,106  6,099 2,124  1,052 
Interest cost 38,212  35,668 11,915  11,698 
Past service cost      -  - 1,106  - 
Liability experience losses 12,762  18,115 9,846  - 
Liability (gains)/losses due to change in financial 
assumptions (49,139)  1,408 (12,795)  (5,007)
Benefits paid (39,797)  (33,428) (11,318)  (10,907)
Transfer from subsidiary company  -  -  1,710  49 
At 30 June  808,312  786,772  250,721  242,504 
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (CONT’D)
(a) Pension plan (cont’d)

(iv) Reconciliation of fair value of the plan assets:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  821,685  686,842  247,518  221,900 
Interest income  41,488  35,329  12,369  11,024 
(Losses)/gains on plan assets excluding interest  (76,653)  55,496  (22,838)  17,476 
Contributions from employer  51,655  71,347  7,209  6,924 
Contributions from employees  10,106  6,099  2,124  1,052 
Benefits paid  (39,797)  (33,428)  (11,318)  (10,907)
Transfer from subsidiary company  -  -  1,710  49 
At 30 June  808,484  821,685  236,774  247,518 

(v) Components of amount recognised in profit or loss:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Current service cost  49,396  26,918  5,629  6,300 
Past service cost  -  -  1,106  - 
Net interest on net defined benefit asset  (3,276)  339  (454)  674 
Total included in employee benefits  46,120  27,257  6,281  6,974 

(vi) Components of amount recognised in other comprehensive income:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Losses/(gains) on plan assets excluding interest  76,653  (55,496)  22,838  (17,476)
Liability experience losses  12,762  18,115  9,846  - 
Liability (gains)/losses due to change in financial 
assumptions  (49,139)  1,408  (12,795)  (5,007)
Total  40,276  (35,973)  19,889  (22,483)

(vii) The major categories of plan assets at fair value are as follows:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Local quoted equity instruments 185,951  98,602 54,458 89,106 
Overseas quoted equity instruments 210,207  369,758 61,561 27,227 
Overseas quoted debt instruments 80,848  123,253 23,677 9,901 
Local quoted debt instruments 32,339  115,036 9,471 96,532 
Local unquoted debt instruments 121,273  -   35,517      -
Cash and others 177,866  115,036 52,090 24,752 
Total  808,484  821,685  236,774  247,518 

At 30 June 2023, approximately 2% (2022: 2%) of the fund was invested in the shares of Sun Limited.

(viii) The history of experience adjustments is as follows:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(Surplus)/deficit arising on pension plan  (172)  (34,913)  13,947  (5,014)
Experience losses on plan liabilities  (12,762)  (18,115)  (9,846)  - 
Experience (losses)/gains on plan assets  (76,653)  55,496  (22,838)  17,476 

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (CONT’D)
(a) Pension plan (cont’d)

(ix) Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligation
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Increase in defined benefit obligations due 
to 1% decrease in discount rate  125,100  131,543  30,663  34,425 
Decrease in defined benefit obligations due 
to 1% increase in discount rate  99,949  104,383  25,345  28,109 

The above sensitivity analysis has been carried out by recalculating the present value of obligation at the end of the financial 
year after increasing and decreasing the discount rate while leaving all other assumptions unchanged. Any similar variation 
in the other assumptions would have shown smaller variations in the defined benefit obligation.

The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that 
the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

(x) The defined benefit pension plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate 
risk and market (investment) risk.

Investment risk (where the plan is funded): The plan liability is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference 
to government bond yields; if the return on plan assets is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit and if it is higher, it will 
create a plan surplus.

Interest risk: A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this may be partially offset 
by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments and a decrease in inflationary pressures on salary and 
pension increases.

Longevity risk (where the plan is funded and an annuity is paid over life expectancy): The plan liability is calculated by 
reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An increase in 
the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan liability.

Salary risk: The plan liability is calculated by reference to the future projected salaries of plan participants. As such, 
an increase in the salary of the plan participants above the assumed rate will increase the plan liability whereas an increase 
below the assumed rate will decrease the liability.

(xi) Future Cashflows

• The funding requirements are based on the pension fund's actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding 
policies of the plan. The funding policy is to pay contributions to an external legal entity as and when due. 

• The Group expects to make a contribution of Rs 53.2m (2022: Rs 73.4m) and the Company of Rs 7.5m (2022: Rs 7.1m) 
to the defined benefit plans during the next financial year.

• The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 16.1 years (2022: 15.6 years) for the Group and 
12 years (2022: 13 years) for the Company.

(b) Other retirement benefits

The Group has recognised a net defined benefit liability in respect of any additional residual retirement gratuities or full 
retirement gratuities that are expected to be paid out of the Company’s cash flow to its employees under the Workers 
Rights Act (WRA) 2019.

(i) Reconciliation of other retirement benefits:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  219,672  221,602  4,212  6,564 
Amount recognised in profit or loss (note 26)  44,896  27,808  5,516  381 
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income  29,182  (13,826)  1,391  (2,733)
Benefits paid  (5,304)  (15,912)  -    -   
As at 30 June  288,446  219,672  11,119  4,212 
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (CONT’D)
(b) Other retirement benefits (Cont’d)
(ii) Reconciliation of present value of the other retirement benefits:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July  219,672  221,602  4,212  6,564 
Current service cost  22,039  17,153  687  485 
Interest cost  11,254  10,655  322  318 
Past service cost  11,603  -  4,507  (422)
Liability experience losses/(gains)  47,474  (16,489)  3,654  (2,733)
Liability (gains)/losses due to change 
in financial assumptions  (18,292)  2,663  (2,263)  - 
Benefits paid  (5,304)  (15,912)  -  - 
At 30 June  288,446  219,672  11,119  4,212 

(iii) Components of amount recognised in profit or loss:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Current service cost  22,039  17,153  687  485 
Past service cost  11,603  -  4,507  (422)
Interest on defined benefit liability  11,254  10,655  322  318 
Total  44,896  27,808  5,516  381 

(iv) Components of amount recognised in other comprehensive income:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Liability experience losses/(gains)  47,474  (16,489)  3,654  (2,733)
Liability (gains)/losses due to change in 
financial assumptions  (18,292)  2,663  (2,263)  - 

 29,182  (13,826)  1,391  (2,733)

(v) Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligations:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Increase in defined benefit obligations
due to 1% decrease in discount rate  29,250  30,320  862  454 
Decrease in defined benefit obligations 
due to 1% increase in discount rate  34,765  25,187  753  393 

The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that 
the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations is 10.7 years (2022: 15 years) for the Group and 7 years 
(2022: 11 years) for the Company.

(c) Actuarial assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting 
purposes were:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Discount rate - %  6.0  5.0  6.0  5.0 
Future salary increases - %  3.0  2.9  3.3  2.9 
Future pension increases - %  1.0  -    1.0  -   
Average retirement age (ARA) - Years  65.0  65.0  65.0  65.0 
Average life expectancy for under the pension plan:
 : Male at ARA - 60 Years  19.5  19.5  19.5  19.5 
 : Female at ARA - 60 Years  24.2  24.2  24.2  24.2 

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Trade payables 429,951  389,602 14,918  4,228 
Capital creditors 12,626  25,319 -  -   
Client advances 405,070  513,635 -  -   
Derivative financial liabilities (note 14(e)) 1,135  -   1,135  -   
Accruals and provisions  1,017,340  790,208 198,914  132,660 
Interest payable on convertible bonds  188,634  92,236 -  -   
Contract liabilities (note 23)  4,659  4,659 -  -   
Amounts due to related parties (note 35(i))  16,936  73,824 1,248,887  2,342,865 

 2,076,351  1,889,483  1,463,854  2,479,753 

(a) The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 45 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in 
place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time frame.

(b) Share based payments
Accounting policy
Share-based payment comprises cash-settled liability awards which are measured at fair value at each balance sheet date 
until settlement and are classified under ‘Trade and other payables’ based on vesting conditions. The profit/(loss) of the 
period equals the addition to and/or the reversal of the provision during the reporting date.
Included in other creditors and accruals are share based payments liabilities of Rs 10.9m (2022: Rs Nil) for the Group and 
Company relating to the Phantom Share Option Scheme for executives of the Company and its subsidiaries. In accordance 
with the terms of the plan, executives are granted an option over a number of phantom shares at a base option price which 
is equal to the market value of the share at the date of the grant of the option. On exercise date, the holder of the options is 
entitled to a cash or share bonus, which subject to the rules of the plan, is equivalent to the increase of the Group’s share 
price between the grant date and the exercise date. Bonus may be paid either in cash or shares at discretion of the Board. 
However, the bonus will be primarily be in cash as the coversion of part of the bonus is only retained by the Board as an 
option. Thus, it is unlikely that any shares if issued, will have a dilutive effect. 
Under the plan, participants are granted options which only vest if certain performance standards are met. The option 
is exercisable:
(a) After three years, but before expiry of four years from the Award date, for a maximum of 70% of the Phantom Share 

option issued and
(b) After four years, but before the expiry of five years from Award Date, for the remaining share options that have not 

been exercised.
The rights must be exercised on the vesting date and will expire if not exercised on that date.
The number of phantom shares granted is calculated based on a percentage of their annual basic salary and after 
recommendation by the Corporate Governance, Ethics and the Remuneration and Nomination committee.
• improvement in share price
• improvement in profit after tax
Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan:

Number of options
2023 2022

As at 1 July  136,542  522,047 
Granted during the year  1,216,539  -   
Forfeited during the year  (125,088)  (104,765)
Expired during the year  (136,542)  (280,740)
As at 30 June  1,091,451  136,542 
Vested and exercisable at 30 June  95,580  91,647 

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates:

Expiry date
Grant Date
Fair value

Number of options
Grant Date 2023 2022
1 July 2019 30 June 2024  35.00  200,456  136,542 
1 July 2020 30 June 2025  15.00  485,279  -   
1 July 2021 30 June 2026  19.00  405,716  -   
As at 30 June  1,091,451  136,542 
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONT’D)
(b) Share based payments (cont’d)

The fair value of the cash settled share based payment arrangements was determined using the Black-Scholes model using 
the following inputs as at 30 June 2023:
Share price at measurement date Rs 30.00
Expected volatility 32.89%
Dividend yield 6.67%
Risk-free interest rate 6.71%

None of the options granted has been exercised as at 30 June 2023.

(c) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair value.

22. PROVISIONS
Accounting policy

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event which it is probable will result 
in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

As disclosed below, the Company has recognised a provision in respect of claims on purchase of Anahita Four Seasons 
and disputes with employees. The crystalisation of such claims is inherently uncertain and as such management has fully 
provided for the claims.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Le St Geran Hotel (note (b))  -    12,373  -    12,373 
Anahita Hotel Ltd (note (c))  5,000 3,000  5,000  3,000 
Disputes with employees (note (d))  13,367  18,365  -    -   
Other legal provision (note (e))  2,573 -  2,573  -   

 20,940  33,738  7,573  15,373 
Included in the financial statements as:
Non-current liabilities 20,940 33,738 7,573 15,373 

 20,940  33,738  7,573  15,373 

(a) Movement in provision:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  33,738  22,989  15,373  22,989 
Provisions for the year  7,573  18,365  4,573  -   
Payment during the year  (7,998) (7,616)  -   (7,616)
Unutilised amount reversed  (12,373)  -    (12,373)  -   
At 30 June  20,940  33,738  7,573  15,373 

(b) The provision relates to claims on additional duty in respect of the sale of Le St Geran Hotel by Sun Leisure Investments Ltd. 
Amount was reversed this year following verdict of Privy Council.

(c) This represents additional provision for legal charges for the appeal to the Assessment Review Committee in respect of 
the additional duty being claimed by the Registrar General on the purchase of Four Seasons Resort (Anahita Hotel Ltd) by 
Sun Limited. 

(d) The provision is in respect of claims lodged by former employees who were dismissed for gross misconduct.
(e) During the year, a declaration of dispute was issued by the Company to the property owner of one of the hotels in respect 

of the sub-lease agreement. A dispute for resolution was filed to the Supreme Court in this respect and a provision for legal 
fees was accounted at 30 June 2023.

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

THE GROUP

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

Invest Hotel Scheme (note (a))  59,446  60,718 
Golf membership fees (note (b))  27,562  29,785 

 87,008  90,503 

Non-current liabilities  82,349  85,844 
Current liabilities (note 21)  4,659  4,659 

 87,008  90,503 

(a) Invest Hotel Scheme

The IHS transactions relate to the sale of 90 rooms at Long Beach, take the form of a sale and lease back and are accounted 
as a finance lease in the Group Financial Statements. As such, excess sales proceeds over the carrying amount has been 
deferred in the Group Financial Statements over the period of the lease term.

The profit generated on the sale and leaseback transactions between Long Beach IHS to investors have been deferred over 
the period until the end of the Government lease (i.e.) 2070.

Significant judgements

Considering the terms and conditions of the sale and leaseback of the IHS rooms, the leaseback transaction is considered 
to be a lease liability. Accordingly, the profit on sale of the IHS rooms is deferred and amortised to profit or loss over the 
lease period.

THE GROUP

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  60,718  61,990 
Release to profit or loss  (1,272) (1,272)
At 30 June  59,446  60,718 

Non-current liabilities  58,174  59,446 
Current liabilities  1,272  1,272 

 59,446  60,718 

(b) Golf Membership fees

THE GROUP

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  29,785  33,172 
Receipts from new members  1,164  -   
Release to profit or loss (3,387) (3,387)
At 30 June  27,562  29,785 

Non-current liabilities  24,175  26,398 
Current liabilities  3,387  3,387 

 27,562  29,785 

This relates to Golf membership fees not recognised as revenue but deferred and amortised over an estimated player’s 
career of 15 years.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

132  |  Sun Limited Annual Report  |  133

24. TAXATION
Accounting policy

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in profit or 
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Group’s and the Company’s liability for current tax are calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Income Tax

Income tax is calculated at the rate of 0% to 33% (2022: 0% to 33%) for the Group and 17% (2022: 17%) for the Company 
on the profit for the period as adjusted for income tax purposes.  

(a) Current tax liability THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July  12,879  8,652  6,624  6,624 
Translation difference (468) 66 -  -   
Payment during the year (14,701) (1,576) -  -   
(Under)/overprovision in previous year 1,166 (740) -  -   
Provision for the year  99,148  6,477 11,547  -   
At 30 June  98,024  12,879  18,171  6,624 

Analysed as follows:
Current liabilities 101,457 13,437 18,171 6,624 
Current tax assets (3,433) (558) - - 
At 30 June  98,024  12,879  18,171  6,624 

(b) Tax charge THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Income tax: Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Provision for the year  99,148  6,477  11,547  -   
Under/(over) provision in previous year  1,166  (740)  -    -   
Current income tax expense  100,314  5,737  11,547  -   
Deferred tax movement (note 19)  161,138  45,629  5,575  (5,822)
Income tax charge/(credit)  261,452  51,366  17,122  (5,822)

(c) Reconciliation of accounting profit to tax expense THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

% % % %
Normal rate of taxation applicable to Mauritian companies  17.00  17.00  17.00  17.00 
Tax effect of:
 - Expenses that are not deductible in determining 

taxable profit  0.99  4.52  4.46  2.27 
 - Over/(under) provision in previous year  0.01  (2.89)  -    (3.02)
 - Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset 

was recognised  (2.64)  1.87  (6.07)  -   
 - Income not subject to tax  (0.44)  0.90  (10.29)  (18.77)
 - Impairment of financial assets  -    (0.98)  -    (0.51)
 - Other adjustments  (0.23)  -    -    -   

Effective rate of tax  14.69  20.42  5.10  (3.03)

25. REVENUE
Accounting policy

Revenue corresponds to the value of goods and services sold by the Group in the ordinary course of business. The Group 
recognises revenue when it transfers the control of the promised goods and services to the customer, which may be over 
time or at a point in time. Revenue is recognized in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services.

The Group applies the guidance provided in IFRS 15 to determine whether it acts as the principal or an agent in its 
contractual hotel management relationships. It is considered as acting as the principal if it controls the promised service 
before that service is transferred to a customer. In such a case, revenues and related expenses are reported separately in 
profit or loss. Otherwise, the Group is considered as acting as an agent and only the remuneration corresponding to the 
agency fee is recognised in revenue.

Other fees relate to services representing distinct performance obligations which are generally satisfied over time, when the 
hotel owners simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided. The Group elects the practical expedient to 
recognise revenue based on amounts invoiced to the customer, when this method of measuring progress best depicts the 
performance provided.

In cases where the Group has received considerations for services not yet provided, this is treated as a contract liability 
until the performance obligation is met.

Invoicing is based on contractual prices, which represent the stand-alone selling prices of specified promised goods 
or services. Variable considerations depending on the occurrence of uncertain future events are estimated using the most 
likely amount method, based on all reasonably available information, and are, if need be, capped at the minimum amount 
considered as highly probable. At each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of variable considerations and 
assesses whether a constraint should apply.

Hotel revenues

It corresponds to all the revenues received from guests by owned and leased hotels. The services rendered (including 
room rentals, food and beverage sales and other ancillary services) are distinct performance obligations, for which prices 
invoiced to the guests are representative of their stand-alone selling prices. These obligations are fulfilled over time when 
they relate to room rentals, along the stay in the hotel, and at a point in time for other goods or services, when they have 
been delivered or rendered.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Rooms  4,938,726  2,874,904  -  - 
Food and beverages  2,446,612  1,478,124  -  - 
Management fees  -  -  225,515  156,757 
Others  719,372  487,291  -  - 
Total revenue from contracts with customers  8,104,710  4,840,319  225,515  156,757 
Investment income  -  -  176,868  107,438 
Total revenue  8,104,710  4,840,319  402,383  264,195 
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time  2,446,612  1,478,124  -  - 
Services transferred over time  5,658,098  3,362,195  225,515  156,757 
Total revenue from contracts with customers  8,104,710  4,840,319  225,515  156,757 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

134  |  Sun Limited Annual Report  |  135

26. OPERATING EXPENSES
Accounting policy
Other expenses relate to indirect costs of operations accounted on the accruals basis.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Direct costs  1,545,336  961,007  -  - 

Wages and salaries  1,908,048  1,442,497  127,600  75,528 
Social security costs  139,860  124,436  16,435  11,439 
Pension costs (note 20 (a)(ii))  46,120  27,257  6,281  6,974 
Other post-retirement benefits (note 20 (b))  44,896  27,808  5,516  381 
Employee benefits  2,138,924  1,621,998  155,832  94,322 

Rental and lease expenses  396,070  231,371  1,163  2,969 
Utilities  322,867  240,552  266  387 
Marketing expenses  298,354  183,032  -  - 
Repairs and maintenance  160,257  137,563  669  423 
Management fees and services  165,017  88,097  -  - 
Office expenses  36,245  19,940  7,396  6,608 
Travelling expenses  21,414  9,987  1,699  686 
Information and telecommunication expenses  84,873  78,235  5,086  4,725 
Insurance  69,714  52,060 1,009 960 
Professional, legal and consultancy fees  55,745  41,185  10,491  4,556 
Contract services  119,793  86,531  6,044  - 
Credit card commissions  120,948  65,279  -  - 
Business occupation and other taxes  71,174  41,280  1,627  2,116 
Others miscellaneous costs  78,146  94,509 7,221 2,362 
Other expenses  2,000,617  1,369,621  42,671  25,792 

Operating expenses  5,684,877  3,952,626  198,503  120,114 

27. OTHER INCOME
Accounting policy

Government grants

Government grants are recognised if it is reasonably certain that the related conditions will be satisfied and the grants will 
actually be received. Grants for the purchase of non-current assets (asset-related grants) are deducted from the historical 
cost of the assets in question and reduce future depreciation. Grants in respect of wages obtained under the wage assistance 
scheme are accounted for in the statement of profit or loss in the period to which the wages relate. 

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Government wage assistance scheme, net of taxes  -    253,396  -    1,300 
Foreign exchange gains 8,004 447  -    338 
Land lease concession (note 5)  -    (13,802)  -    - 
(Loss)/gain on lease re-assessment (note 5)  (257)  73,226  -    - 
Gain on winding up of subsidiaries  19,305  -    -    - 
Sundry income 818  11,309  -    - 

27,870 324,576  -   1,638 

In 2022, the Government provided funding towards the salary costs of employees who have been furloughed through the 
Government wage assistance scheme. The Group has assessed that the funding meets the definition of a Government grant 
under IAS 20. The related salary costs which are compensated by the scheme are included within employee benefits. 

28. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 4)  445,909  459,885  2,458  3,209 
Depreciation of rights-of-use assets (note 5(a))  64,420  65,177  -  - 
Depreciation of operating equipment (note 6)  8,492  3,365  -  - 
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 7)  8,346  33,292  6,382  30,945 

 527,167  561,719  8,840  34,154 

29. IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
(a) Impairment reversals/(charges) on financial and non-financial assets

Accounting policy

At each financial year end, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.  Where it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in 
prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(b)
Cash generating 
unit/ Company

Reportable 
segment THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2023 2022 2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Impairment reversals/(charges) 
on non-financial assets:
 - Property, plant and 

equipment (note 4) Long Beach resort Mauritius  -  3,179  -  - 
 - Inventories Retail operations Mauritius  9,652  8,492  -  - 
 - Investment in subsidiaries 

(note 8)  -  -  (63,492)  - 
Impairment reversals/(charges) 
on financial assets:
 - Other investments (note 11)  -  (5,550)  -  (5,550)
 - Trade receivables (note 14)  56  4,695  -  - 
 - Amount receivables from related parties (note 35)  -  -  101,242  118,818 

 9,708  10,816  37,750  113,268 

Long Beach Resort

During the year ended 30 June 2022, following a valuation exercise carried out by an independent valuer based on the 
depreciated replacement cost basis, a reversal of impairment losses of Rs 3.2m was recognised. 
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30. NET FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME
Accounting policy

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost 
of the assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
FINANCE COSTS
Interest costs on bank and other loans  (310,744)  (327,197)  (131,832)  (185,125)
Interest charges on lease liabilities  (108,477)  (111,759)  (336)  (4,573)
Cash flow hedge release to Profit or Loss on  
repayment of loans  (35,100)  (44,836)  -  - 
Net foreign exchanges losses  -  (3,917)  -  (6,400)

 (454,321)  (487,709)  (132,168)  (196,098)
FINANCE INCOME
Interest received on:
- Bank deposits  38,601  8,382  -  - 
- Loan to subsidaries  -  -  88,026  133,843 
Net foreign exchanges gains  240,764  49,892  147,610  136,347 

 279,365  58,274  235,636  270,190 

31. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
THE GROUP

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company  1,467,491  185,704 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (thousand)  174,364  174,427 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (Rs)
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company  8.42  1.06 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity owners of 
the Company by the number of shares in issue excluding treasury shares. After the reporting period, no ordinary shares 
(2022: Nil) have been issued for cash; however, the earnings per share amount was not adjusted for such transaction 
occurring after the reporting period because such transactions do not affect the amount of capital used to produce profit 
or loss for the period.

The convertible bonds were found to be anti-dilutive and have therefore not had an impact on Diluted Earnings Per Share.

33. CASH FLOW INFORMATION

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

(i) Movement in working capital Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Inventories  (26,485)  (320)  -  - 
Trade and other receivables  (148,304)  (216,026)  537,438  (42,738)
Trade and other payables  111,477  695,097  440,361  591,623 
Contract liabilities  (3,495)  (4,659)  -  - 
Movement in working capital  (66,807)  474,092  977,799  548,885 

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statements of cash flows can be reconciled 
to the related items in the statements of financial position as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Cash and short-term deposits  1,822,217  1,582,833  802,740  769,565 
Bank overdrafts (note 18)  -  (2,119)  -  - 

 1,822,217  1,580,714  802,740  769,565 

Included in cash and cash equivalents is an amount of Rs 60m relating to restricted cash (2022: Rs 60m).

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment 
loss was immaterial.

32. DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in 
which the dividends are declared.

THE GROUP  
AND THE COMPANY

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

Amount recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Final dividend payable for year ended 30 June 2023 of Rs 2.00 per share (2022: Nil)  348,728  - 
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33. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONT’D)
(iii) Net debt reconciliation

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
Cash/Bank 

overdraft
Loans and other 

borrowings
Leases 

liabilities Total
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

THE GROUP
Net debt as at 1 July 2021 1,547,858 (8,635,371) (1,790,478) (8,877,991)
Net cash inflows 32,856 1,413,793 107,755 1,554,404 
Amortised cost on borrowings    - (17,376)    - (17,376)
Other non cash movement    -    - (117,256) (117,256)
Foreign exchange adjustments    - 396,188 17,571 413,759 
Net debt as at 1 July 2022 1,580,714 (6,842,766) (1,782,408) (7,044,460)
Net cash inflows 241,503 1,793,828 195,275 2,230,606 
Amortised cost on borrowings    - (139)    - (139)
Other non cash movement    -    - (112,827) (112,827)
Foreign exchange adjustments    - (220,804) (13,073) (233,877)
Net debt as at 30 June 2023 1,822,217 (5,269,881) (1,713,033) (5,160,697)

THE COMPANY
Net debt as at 1 July 2021 894,553 (4,724,538) (129,647) (3,959,632)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows (124,988) 910,118    - 785,130 
Amortised cost on borrowings    - (8,777)    - (8,777)
Other non-cash movements    -    - 102,865 102,865 
Foreign exchange adjustments    - 99,242    - 99,242 
Net debt as at 1 July 2022 769,565 (3,723,955) (26,782) (2,981,172)
Net cash inflows 33,175 1,202,355    - 1,235,530 
Other non-cash movements    -    - 26,782 26,782 
Foreign exchange adjustments    - (58,058)    - (58,058)
Net debt as at 30 June 2023 802,740 (2,579,658)    - (1,776,918)

*Loans and other borrowings exclude accrued interests 

(iv) In 2022, the purchase of property, plant and equipment included in the Statements of cash flows included an amount 
of Rs 30m relating to payment of retention money for Sugar Beach renovation in FY21.

(v) Loan (granted)/repaid under net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities for the Company includes an amount 
of Rs 694m as non-cash transaction with subsidiaries (2022: Rs Nil).

(vi) Proceeds from borrowings under net cash flows used in financing activities for the Company includes an amount of 
Rs 655m as non-cash transaction with a subsidiary (2022: Rs Nil).

34. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Authorised and contracted for  139,836  64,767  5,983  - 

The capital commitments relate mainly to project and maintenance capex (2022: renovation Anahita Hotel Limited).

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The transactions of the Group and the Company with related parties during the period are as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
(a) Sales of goods and services

Subsidiaries and associates of parent 26,632 48,281  -  - 
Subsidiaries  -  -  225,515  156,757 

26,632 48,281 225,515 156,757 
(b) Interest income

Subsidiaries  -  -  88,026  133,843 
(c) Dividend income

Subsidiary  -  -  149,750  - 
Associate  -  -  27,118  107,438 

(d) Purchases of goods and services
Subsidiaries and associates of parent  39,975  32,501  3,383  3,318 

(e) Legal and secretarial service fees
Subsidiaries and associates of parent  23,795  10,041  2,974  1,255 

(f) The Company has an agreement for the provision of advisory, legal and secretarial services by CIEL Corporate 
Services Ltd.

(g) Compensation THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Key management personnel Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
- Short-term benefits  72,003  38,761  65,985  32,180 
- Post-employment benefits  6,735  4,970  5,475  4,530 

 78,738  43,731  71,460  36,710 
(h) Lease from other related party

Right-of-use assets  166,645  176,496  -  - 
Lease liabilities  196,040  202,858  -  - 
Rental payment  18,000  15,825  -  - 
Rental amount waived  -  3,375  -  - 
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

(i) Outstanding balances THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Receivables from related parties: Non current
Loan to subsidiaries (note 12)  -  -  293,000  1,733,317 

 -  -  293,000  1,733,317 
Finance lease receivables:
Subsidiary company  -  -  -  19,911 
- Loans to related parties are unsecured, with no fixed terms of repayment and carries interest at 6.75% (2022: 6.25%) 
per annum. 
Receivables from related parties - Current
Subsidiaries and associates of parent  56,508  10,634  444  426 
Subsidiaries  -  -  107,218  538,131 
Total amounts due from related parties (note 14)  56,508  10,634  107,662  538,557 

The current amounts receivable from related parties are unsecured, interest free and will be settled in cash. They have 
no fixed repayment term. No guarantees have been given or received.  

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Impairment reversals/(charges) on receivables from 
related parties:
- Ambre Resort Ltd  -  -  (74,218)  (115,643)
- SRL Kanuhura Ltd  -  -  11,213  234,149 
- Sunlife Hotel Management Ltd (Previously  
   known as Sun Resorts Hotel Management Ltd)  -  -  194,407  (8,992)
- Others  -  -  (30,160)  3,754 

 -  -  101,242  113,268 

The additional impairment charges during the year represent the deficits between the carrying amounts of the amount 
receivables from related parties and their net assets values at reporting date. The impairment reversals are due to 
amount recovered during the year.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Loans and other borrowings
Loan from subsidiary (note 18)  -  -  1,630,000  700,000 
Loans from minority shareholder of subsidiary  -  9,964  -  - 

 -  9,964  1,630,000  700,000 
Payables to related parties - current
Subsidiaries and associates of parent  3,301  60,003  3,024  10,451 
Subsidiaries  -  -  1,245,863  2,332,414 
Minority shareholder of subsidiary  13,635  6,583  -  - 
Other related parties  -  7,238  -  - 

 16,936  73,824  1,248,887  2,342,865 

The above transactions have been made in the normal course of business. 

The loan from subsidiaries are unsecured, repayable after more than 12 months, denominated in Mauritian Rupee and 
carry interest at a rate between 3.25% to 3.30% per annum.

The amounts payable to related parties are unsecured, interest free and will be settled in cash.

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)
(j) Loans and interest receivable from key management personnel under the Executive Share Option Scheme

Refer to note 12(a)

(k) Pension contributions to pension plan - Please refer to note 20.

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had no other contingent liabilities in respect of bank and other guarantees and other matters arising in the 
ordinary course of business as at 30 June 2023.

37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The following events occurred between the balance sheet date and the date on which the financial statements are approved 
by the Board of Directors:

(i) A wholly owned subsidiary of Sun Limited has declared a first interim dividend of Rs 400m on 28 August 2023 to be 
distributed in September 2023.

(ii) SRL Maldives Limited, a company registered in Seychelles, has been struck off effective 28 August 2023.

The above events are non-adjusting events at balance sheet date.

38. ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY
The company considers CIEL Limited, a company incorporated in Mauritius, as its parent and ultimate parent company.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Accounting policies

Financial Assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified either at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI); or fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets is based on the business model 
in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. Derivatives embedded in contracts 
where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument 
as a whole is assessed for classification.

The financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, intercompany loans on the financial 
assets and investment in securities.

Categories of 
Financial assets

Initial recognition Subsequent recognition

Amortised 
Cost (Debt 
Instrument)

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets 
both of the following conditions and is not elected to be 
designated as FVTPL:
• It is held within a business model whose objective is to 

hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, and
• Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to 

cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and 
interest’ (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

These assets are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
(EIR) method. The amortised cost is reduced 
by any impairment losses. Interest income, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairments are recognised in profit or 
loss as they are incurred. Gains or losses 
are recognised in profit or loss when the 
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 
This category is the most relevant to the 
Group. It includes loans and receivables.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)
Accounting policies (cont’d)

Financial Assets (cont’d)

The financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, intercompany loans on the financial 
assets and investment in securities.

Categories of 
Financial assets

Initial recognition Subsequent recognition

Fair Value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets 
both of the following conditions and is not elected to be 
designated as  FVTPL:
• It is held within a business model whose objective is 

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling financial assets, and

• Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not 
held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in 
other comprehensive income. This election is made on an 
investment-by-investment basis.

Debt instruments are subsequently 
measured at fair value. Interest income 
calculated using the effective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairments are recognised in profit 
or loss. Other net gains and losses are 
recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains 
and losses accumulated in OCI are recycled 
to profit or loss.
Equity investments are measured at fair 
value. Dividends are recognised as income 
in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly 
represents a recovery of part of the cost 
of the investment. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in OCI and are never 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Fair Value 
through profit 
or loss

All financial assets not classified as amortised cost or 
FVOCI as described above are classified as FVTPL and 
held at fair value. This includes all derivative financial 
assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably 
elect to designate a financial asset that otherwise 
meets the requirements to be measured at amortised 
cost or FVOCI as FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise. This election is made on an individual 
instrument basis.

These assets are subsequently measured at 
fair value. Net gains and losses, including 
any interest or dividend income, are 
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s 
and/or the Company’s right to receive the 
return is established, unless such instrument 
is designated in a hedging relationship. 

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the Group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards relating to the assets to a third party.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all trade receivables with third parties. 

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not 
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at the end of the reporting 
period. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 180 days past due. However, in certain 
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the 
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements 
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual 
cash flows. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in note 14.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issue of financial liabilities are deducted from the fair value of the financial liabilities, as appropriate, 
on initial recognition.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and other borrowings, contract liabilities and lease 
liabilities including bank overdrafts.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Borrowings and finance lease obligations

After initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings and finance lease obligations are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities 
are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included 
as finance costs in the Statement of profit or loss.

This category includes interest bearing borrowings and finance lease obligations including bank overdrafts.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
the Statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of financial position if 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the statements of financial position comprise of cash at banks and in hand. For the 
purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

39.1Capital management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of interest-bearing loans and borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents and 
equity attributable to equity owners of the parent, comprising retained earnings, stated capital, redeemable convertible 
bonds from MIC and reserves as disclosed in notes 15 to 17 respectively.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

39.1 Capital management (cont’d)

Gearing ratio

The Group has a target gearing ratio up to a maximum of 50% determined as the proportion of net debt to capital employed. 

The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows: THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Debt (Note (i))  6,982,914  8,627,293  2,579,658  3,750,737 
Cash and short term deposits  (1,822,217)  (1,582,833)  (802,740)  (769,565)
Net debt  5,160,697  7,044,460  1,776,918  2,981,172 
Net debt excluding IFRS 16 Leases  3,447,664  5,262,052  1,776,918  2,954,390 
Capital employed ((Note (ii))  16,930,792  16,884,784  19,550,094  18,193,367 
Capital employed excluding IFRS 16 Leases  15,217,759  15,102,376  19,550,094  18,166,585 
Gearing ratio (Note (iii)) 22.7% 34.8% 9.1% 16.3%

(i) Debt is defined as loans, leases, debentures and overdrafts excluding accrued interests

(ii) Capital employed includes all capital, reserves and the net debt of the Group.

(iii) The calculation of gearing ratio excludes IFRS 16 Leases

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital risk management during the year.

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements.

39.2 Categories of financial instruments
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Financial assets Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Amortised Cost

Cash and short term deposits  1,822,217  1,582,833  802,740  769,565 
Trade and other receivables  507,623  410,559  118,014  574,132 
Other financial assets  13,995  16,920  306,995  1,750,237 

 2,343,835  2,010,312  1,227,749  3,093,934 
Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

Other investments  166,287  165,502  -  - 
Interest in subsidiaries  -  -  20,604,903  18,057,235 

 166,287  165,502  20,604,903  18,057,235 
Financial liabilities
Amortised Cost

Loans and other borrowings  5,317,285  6,891,965  2,586,200  3,745,510 
Lease liabilities  1,713,033  1,782,408  -  26,782 
Trade and other payables  1,669,372  1,338,602  1,462,719  2,479,753 

 8,699,690  10,012,975  4,048,919  6,252,045 

Financial assets exclude prepayments and derivative assets. Non-financial liabilities exclude client advances and 
derivative liabilities.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

39.3 Financial risk management (cont’d)

The Group’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and 
international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group. 
These risks include market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk 
and cash flow interest rate risk.

39.4 Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest 
rates. Financial market risk is defined as the risk that business performance is affected by movements in financial market 
prices or rates. Financial market risk may therefore result in a profit or loss and is the risk that derivatives are usually 
designed to manage.

The Group enters into a variety of forwards contracts, swaps and cap to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign 
currency risk. 

39.5 Foreign currency risk management

The Group has financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in various foreign currencies. Consequently, the Group 
is exposed to the risk that the carrying amounts of these foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities may change 
due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

The currency profile of the financial assets and financial liabilities, excluding equity investments in subsidiaries and 
associates and employee benefit liability at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, are as follows: 

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
Financial Financial Financial Financial

assets liabilities assets liabilities
2023 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
US Dollar  92,081  113,819  26,935  26,942 
Euro  1,179,112  4,523,325  640,268  577,630 
South African Rand  194,322  69,150  11,655  - 
UK Pound  247,084  155,179  92,453  - 
Others  423  -  211  - 
Total foreign currencies  1,713,022  4,861,473  771,522  604,572 
Mauritian Rupee  630,813  3,838,217  456,227  3,444,347 
Total  2,343,835  8,699,690  1,227,749  4,048,919 
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

39.5 Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
Financial Financial Financial Financial

assets liabilities assets liabilities
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

2022
US Dollar  67,621  250,533  29,559  200,860 
Euro  806,186  4,508,151  460,659  1,223,297 
South African Rand  250,307  59,813  1,872  - 
UK Pound  365,225  152,738  196,850  - 
Others  282  -  240  - 
Total foreign currencies  1,489,621  4,971,235  689,180  1,424,157 
Mauritian Rupee  520,691  5,041,740  2,404,754  4,827,888 
Total  2,010,312  10,012,975  3,093,934  6,252,045 

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuations in US Dollar, Euro, South African Rand and UK Pound exchange rates.
The following table details the impact on pre tax results following a sensitivity analysis of 1% increase/(decrease) in the 
Mauritian Rupee against the relevant foreign currencies. 

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Increase/(decrease) in pre-tax results: Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
US Dollar (217) (1,829) (0) (1,713) 
Euro (33,442) (37,020) 626  (7,626) 
South African Rand 1,252  1,905  117  19  
UK Pound 919  2,125  925  1,969  
Others 4  3     -     -  

The Group’s and Company’s equity would not be materially impacted following a sensitivity analysis of 1% increase/
decrease in the Mauritian Rupee against the relevant foreign currencies. 
The above is mainly attributable to:
(i) the exposure outstanding on receivables and deposits in above currencies; and
(ii) differences on translation of receivables and payables in foreign subsidiaries.

39.6 Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrows funds at floating interest rates. The Group’s 
policy is to minimise exposure to interest rate movements without exposing the Group  to speculation or undue risk. Sun 
Limited manages its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing its  net interest costs or securing 
its interest revenues through the purchase of certain hedging  instruments such as interest rate caps, floors, swaps or 
forward rate agreements.

The current policy is to have a good mix of fixed versus variable interest rate with fixed being at least 50% of the 
interest rate. 

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk 
management section.

The interest rate profile of the Group at the end of the reporting period were as follows:

Financial assets Balances with banks
Interest rate

2023 2022
% %

South African Rand 8.44 4.94
Mauritian Rupee 3.10 0.65

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

39.6 Interest rate risk management (cont’d)

Financial liabilities

Loans Lease Liabilities Bank overdrafts Bonds
Fixed

interest 
rate 

Floating
interest 

rate 

Fixed
interest 

rate 

Floating
interest 

rate 

Fixed
interest 

rate 

Floating
interest 

rate 

Fixed
interest 

rate 

Floating
interest 

rate 
% % % % % % % %

2023
Mauritian Rupee 1.5 6.12 2.20 - 7.05 N/A N/A 4.50 - 6.75 N/A 5.53
US Dollar N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Euro 5.52 5.27 5.00 N/A N/A N/A 2.78 4.55
GBP N/A 7.50 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
2022
Mauritian Rupee 1.5 4.82 2.20 - 7.05 N/A N/A 4.16 - 5.20 6.5 3.95
US Dollar 3 1.94 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Euro N/A 3.76 5.00 N/A N/A N/A 2.63 3.7
GBP N/A 4.72 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both financial assets 
and liabilities at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount 
of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was for the whole year. A 1% increase or decrease is used and 
represents management’s assessment of the likely change in interest rate.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Profit or loss  (29,394)  (45,245)  (8,500)  (19,103)

39.7 Other price risks

The Group and the Company are exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity investments are 
held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Group and the Company do not actively trade into these investments.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

If equity prices had been 1% higher/lower:

· Profit for the year ended 2023 and 2022 would have been unaffected as the equity investments are classified at fair 
value through other comprehensive income.

· Other equity reserves would increase/decrease by Rs 1.7m (2022: Rs 1.7m) for the Group and Rs Nil (2022: Rs Nil) 
for the Company respectively as a result of the changes in equity investments classified at fair value through other 
comprehensive income.

The Group’s sensitivity to equity prices has not changed significantly from the prior year.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

39.8 Liquidity risk management 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has established an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s funding and liquidity management requirements. 
Further details are disclosed in note 3.

Sun Limited shall ensure that it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing arrangements, overdraft 
facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds available which are necessary for the achievement of its business 
objectives based on the measures put in place as disclosed in note 3. Cash and debt management is centralised through 
corporate finance and receipts from the centralised debtors’ collection department are monitored on a monthly basis 
to match the payments of creditors and other commitments. Any temporary gap in cash is covered by the overdraft and 
short-term borrowing facilities in place.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed 
repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based 
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. 

Non derivative financial instruments
THE GROUP

Average effective Less than
interest rate 1 year 1-5 years 5+ years Total

% Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
2023
Non-interest bearing  1,669,372  -  -  1,669,372 
Variable interest rate 
instruments 4.55% - 6.12%  799,029  2,184,972  676,833  3,660,834 
Fixed interest rate 
instruments 1.5% - 7.05%  492,715  2,496,723  4,654,816  7,644,254 

 2,961,116  4,681,695  5,331,649  12,974,460 
2022
Non-interest bearing  1,338,602  -  -  1,338,602 
Variable interest rate 
instruments 3.9%  1,012,657  2,959,524  1,144,987  5,117,168 
Fixed interest rate 
instruments 1.5% - 7.05%  765,151  2,534,718  4,248,261  7,548,130 

 3,116,410  5,494,242  5,393,248  14,003,900 

THE COMPANY
Average effective Less than

interest rate 1 year 1-5 years 5+ years Total
% Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

2023
Non-interest bearing  1,462,719  -  -  1,462,719 
Variable interest rate 
instruments 5.5%  411,277  441,466  168,529  1,021,272 
Fixed interest rate 
instruments 1.5% - 3.3%  114,312  256,500  1,683,303  2,054,115 

 1,988,308  697,966  1,851,832  4,538,106 
2022
Non-interest bearing  2,479,753  -  -  2,479,753 
Variable interest rate 
instruments 3.7%  682,310  1,043,898  360,293  2,086,501 
Fixed interest rate 
instruments 1.5% - 6.0%  147,120  1,090,511  813,750  2,051,381 

 3,309,183  2,134,409  1,174,043  6,617,635 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

39.9 Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Group and to the Company. The Group and the Company have adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss 
from defaults. The Group and the Company only transact with entities of good credit rating. This information is supplied 
by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the Group uses other publicly available financial 
information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its 
counterparties are continuously monitored.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents 
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

39.10Fair value of financial instruments

Except where stated elsewhere, the carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of the balances involved.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid 
markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

• the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from 
observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair 
value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that includes inputs for the assets or 
liability that are not based on observation market data (unobservable inputs).

40. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AS HEDGING INSTRUMENTS
Accounting policies

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the 
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain derivatives 
as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges), hedges on 
interest rate swap, hedges of highly probable forecast transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments 
(cash flow hedges), or hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

Hedge accounting

The Group has chosen to continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 instead of IFRS 9. The Group 
documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well 
as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions.

The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives 
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is 
recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining 
maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within twelve months. 
Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.
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40. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AS HEDGING INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)
Accounting policies (cont’d)

Hedge accounting

A hedging relationship exists where:

• at the inception of the hedge there is formal documentation of the hedge;

• the hedge is expected to be highly effective;

• the effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured;

• the hedge is highly effective throughout the reporting period; and

• for hedges of a forecasted transaction, the transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to variations in 
cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.

Where there is a hedging relationship between a hedge instrument and a related item being hedged, the hedging instrument 
is measured at fair value. The treatment of any resultant gains and losses is set out below.

Cash Flow Hedge

Where a financial instrument hedges the exposure to variability in the cash flows of highly probable transactions or firm 
commitments, the effective part of any gain or loss on remeasurement of the hedging instrument is recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income. The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or 
loss recognised in equity is transferred to profit or loss at the same time that the hedged transaction affects net profit or 
loss and included in the same line item as the hedged transaction. 

When a hedging instrument or hedge relationship is terminated but the hedged transaction is still expected to occur, 
the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy. 
If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in 
profit or loss immediately.

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective effectiveness 
assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument. The Group 
enters into hedge relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument match exactly with the terms of the 
hedged item, and so a qualitative assessment of effectiveness is performed. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of 
the hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the 
Group uses the hypothetical derivative method is to assess effectiveness.

Ineffectiveness is recognised on a cash flow hedge where the cumulative change in the designated component value of the 
hedging instrument exceeds on an absolute basis the change in value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. 
In hedges of the above foreign currency purchases this may arise if the timing of the transaction changes from what was 
originally estimated.

Significant judgements

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk, most significantly to the Euro, Pound Sterling and US Dollar, on the Group’s 
sales denominated in these currencies. The Group hedges these exposures by entering into foreign currency loans 
(“hedging instruments”) with future principal payments that will match the future sales (“hedged item”) in these currencies.

To apply hedge accounting, a condition is that the forecast transaction must be “highly probable”. The Group has applied 
judgement in assessing whether the forecasted foreign currency revenue remain “highly probable”, still expected to occur 
or is no longer expected to occur. In making this assessment, the Group has considered the most recent budgets and 
plans and concluded that cash flows occuring as from July 2023 are considered as highly probable. This led to hedging 
effectiveness and no impact to the profit or loss of the Group was recorded (2022: Rs Nil).

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk, most significantly to the Euro, UK Pound and US Dollar, on the Group’s 
sales denominated in these currencies. The Group hedges these exposures by entering into foreign currency loans 
(“hedging instruments”) with future principal payments that will match the future sales (“hedged item”) in these 
currencies. All exchange differences arising on the conversion of foreign currency loans are deferred in equity, under the 
cash flow hedge reserve to the extent that the hedge is effective. On recognition of the hedged sales, the foreign currency 
gain/loss is netted off by releasing a portion of the cash flow hedge reserve.

The Group has reviewed the hedging portfolio to confirm whether the underlying transactions remain “highly probable”.

40. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AS HEDGING INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)
At the time of reporting, management has identified:

(i) a portion of foreign currency sales which are no longer deemed to be “highly probable” but are still expected to occur. 
Hence, the corresponding cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity whilst the hedge was effective remains in equity 
until the forecasted transaction occurs.

(ii) A portion of foreign currency sales which are no longer deemed to be “highly probable” and are not expected 
to occur. Hence, the corresponding cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity whilst the hedge was effective are 
immediately removed from equity and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

(a) The cash flow hedge reserve disclosed in the statements of changes in equity relates to the following:

THE GROUP

2023 2022
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  (114,872)  (533,313)
Revaluation (losses)/gains on loan recognised in other comprehensive income  (204,953)  462,787 
Cash flow hedge reserve released to profit or loss on repayment of loan included in finance 
cost  34,668  (44,346)
At 30 June  (285,157)  (114,872)

(b) Below is a schedule indicating the periods when the hedge cash flows are expected to occur and when they are expected 
to affect profit or loss:

THE GROUP Within 1 to 3 3 to 5 More than
1 year years years 5 years

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
2023
Cash inflows  345,582  1,485,553  1,435,873  1,006,063 
Cash outflows  (345,582)  (1,485,553)  (1,435,873)  (1,006,063)
Net cash outflows  -  -  -  - 
2022
Cash inflows  803,083  1,333,405  1,347,851  922,465 
Cash outflows  (803,083)  (1,333,405)  (1,347,851)  (922,465)
Net cash outflows  -  -  -  - 

(c) The hedge of the variability of cash flows due to exchange rate fluctuations

The final repayment of the bank loans and bonds identified as the hedge instrument range from 13 January 2025 to 
23 March 2032 for the Group and on 30 May 2029 for the Company.

The fair value of the denominated bank loans and bonds is as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
As at 30 June  5,269,881  6,842,766  2,579,658  3,723,955 

These financial assets are classified under Level 3 of the Fair Value Hierarchy.

41. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group is organised into two business services, that is, hotel operations and other hospitality management services, 
with majority of the services being carried out in Mauritius. The Group is therefore not required to disclose segmental 
information as the hotel operations constitute more than 90% of its total revenue, operating profit, profit after tax and 
combined assets at 30 June 2023.
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